
 

 

Agenda - Pwyllgor yr Economi, Masnach a Materion 

Gwledig 
Lleoliad: 

Ystafell Bwyllgora 5 - Tŷ Hywel  

a fideogynadledda drwy Zoom 

Dyddiad: Dydd Iau, 21 Mawrth 2024 

Amser: 09.30

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a: 

Robert Donovan 

Clerc y Pwyllgor 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddEconomi@senedd.cymru

Hybrid 
------ 

Rhag-gyfarfod preifat  

(09.15-09.30) 

 

Cyfarfod cyhoeddus  

(09.30-14.15) 

 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau 

(09.30)   

 

2 Papurau i'w nodi 

(09.30)   

 

2.1 Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol y DU a’r UE 

 (Tudalennau 1 - 8)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol y DU a’r UE: Adroddiad cryno’r pedwerydd 

cyfarfod 

 

2.2 Ymgysylltiad a deialog rhyngweinidogol 

 (Tudalennau 9 - 10)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



 

 

Llythyr at y Gweinidog Gwladol dros yr Amgylchedd, Bwyd a Materion 

Gwledig ynghylch ymgysylltiad a deialog rhyngweinidogol 

 

2.3 Banc Datblygu Cymru 

 (Tudalennau 11 - 13)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

2024 03 13 - Llythyr gan Andrew Ling mewn perthynas â Banc Datblygu 

Cymru [Saesneg yn unig] 

 

3 Ymchwiliad i Fanc Datblygu Cymru: Panel 3 - Safbwynt byd-eang 

(09.30-10.15) (Tudalennau 14 - 24)  

Mike Wedderspoon, Cyfarwyddwr Ymgysylltu a Chyflenwi Strategol, Banc 

Buddsoddi Cenedlaethol yr Alban  

David Ritchie, Cyfarwyddwr Gweithredol Partneriaethau ac Ymgysylltu, Banc 

Buddsoddi Cenedlaethol yr Alban 

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

Briff Ymchwil 

 

Egwyl  

(10.15-10.20) 

 

4 Ymchwiliad: Yr Economi Werdd - Panel 1 - Busnes ac ynni 

adnewyddadwy 

(10.20-11.20) (Tudalennau 25 - 82)  

Felix Milbank, Dirprwy Bennaeth Polisi, Ffederasiwn Busnesau Bach Cymru  

Jessica Hooper, Cyfarwyddwr, RenewableUK Cymru 

Ben Burggraaf, Prif Swyddog Gweithredol, Diwydiant Sero Net Cymru 

Tom Hill, Rheolwr Rhaglen Ynni'r Môr, Ynni Morol Cymru 

 



 

 

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

Papur tysiolaeth - FSB Wales [Saesneg yn unig] 

Papur tystiolaeth - RenewableUK Cymru [Saesneg yn unig] 

Papur tystiolaeth- Sero Net Diwydiant [Saesneg yn unig] 

Briff Ymchwil 

 

Egwyl  

(11.20-11.30) 

 

5 Ymchwiliad: Yr Economi Werdd - Panel 2 - Modelau perchnogaeth 

amgen 

(11.30-12.15) (Tudalennau 83 - 96)  

Sarah Evans, Cyfarwyddwr Twf Busnes ac Ymgynghoriaeth, Cwmpas 

Benedict Ferguson, Cyfarwyddwr Cydweithredol, Ynni Cymundedol Cymru 

 

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

Papur tystiolaeth - Cwmpas [Saesneg yn unig] 

Papur tysiolaeth - Ynni Cymunedol Cymru [Saesneg un ynig] 

 

Egwyl  

(12.15-12.25) 

 

6 Ymchwiliad i Fanc Datblygu Cymru: Panel 4 - Persbectif byd-eang 

(12.25-12.55)   

Karen Kastner, Is-lywydd, Strategaeth, Blaenoriaethu a Chysylltiadau â 

Rhanddeiliaid, Banc Datblygu Busnes Canada 

 

 



 

 

Egwyl  

(12.55-13.15) 

 

7 Ymchwiliad: Yr Economi Werdd - Panel 3 - Arbenigwyr annibynnol 

(13.15-14.15) (Tudalennau 97 - 118)  

Derek Walker, Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru 

Dr Alison Parken, Prifysgol Caerdydd 

Dr Jack Price, Canolfan Polisi Cyhoeddus Cymru 

Ned Hammond, Pennaeth Ynni a’r Amgylchedd, Onward UK 

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

Papur tystiolaeth - Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol Cymru 

Papur tystiolaeth - Canolfan Polisi Choeddus Cymru [Saesneg yn unig] 

Papur tystiolaeth - Onward [Saesneg yn unig] 

 

8 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42(ix) i benderfynu gwahardd y 

cyhoedd o weddill y cyfarfod 

(14.15)   

 

Preifat  

(14.15-14.25) 

 

9 Trafod tystiolaeth yn dilyn y cyfarfod 

(14.15-14.25)   

 



 

 

senedd.cymru 

Mae’r Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol yn gorff ffurfiol a 
sefydlwyd dan y Cytundeb Masnach a Chydweithredu rhwng y DU 
a’r UE. Mae ganddo rôl bwysig o ran goruchwylio gweithrediad y 
Cytundeb Masnach a Chydweithredu a phob cytundeb rhwng y 
DU a’r UE yn y dyfodol.  

Cynhaliwyd pedwerydd cyfarfod y Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol yn Llundain ar 4-5 Rhagfyr 
2023. Mae'r adroddiad hwn yn rhoi crynodeb o faterion pwysig i Gymru a drafodwyd yn y cyfarfod. 
Mae'r adroddiad hwn hefyd yn myfyrio ar ddatblygiad ac esblygiad parhaus y corff a rôl a gwaith y 
Senedd ynddo. 

Cymerodd Huw Irranca-Davies AS, Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a'r 
Cyfansoddiad a Samuel Kurtz AS, aelod o Bwyllgor yr Economi, Masnach a Materion Gwledig ran 
yn y trydydd cyfarfod a chytunwyd ar yr adroddiad yn rhinwedd hynny.  

Os oes gennych ddiddordeb yng ngwaith y Senedd ar y Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol neu os 
hoffech ymgysylltu â'r Senedd cyn ei gyfarfodydd yn y dyfodol, anfonwch neges i 
Nia.Moss@senedd.cymru  

Senedd Cymru  
Senedd Cymru 

Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol y DU 
a’r UE: Adroddiad cryno’r pedwerydd 
cyfarfod 
Chwefror 2024 

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2.1

mailto:Nia.Moss@senedd.cymru


CPE DU-EU Adroddiad Cryno Rhagfyr 2023 

2 

Cynnwys 

1. Materion sy'n bwysig i'r Senedd a Chymru ................................................... 3 

‘Ailadeiladu ymddiriedaeth’: cyfnod mwy cadarnhaol yn y berthynas ................................... 3 

Symudedd yn creu cyfleoedd gwerthfawr ............................................................................... 4 

Cynnydd ar hawliau dinasyddion i’w groesawu ond mae mwy i'w wneud ............................. 5 

Ystafell ar gyfer cydweithrediad adeiladol ar bysgodfeydd ..................................................... 5 

Methiant i gydweithredu ar fasnachu allyriadau, ynni a hinsawdd yn creu risgiau ................ 5 

Mae diogelu data a thwf digidol yn feysydd allweddol o ddiddordeb cyffredin ..................... 6 

2. Ymgysylltiad y Senedd â gwaith y Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol .............. 6 

Ymgysylltu â rhanddeiliaid ....................................................................................................... 7 

Ymgysylltu â dirprwyaethau'r DU a'r UE a phwyllgorau eraill y Senedd ................................. 8 

 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 2



CPE DU-EU Adroddiad Cryno Rhagfyr 2023 
 

3 

1. Materion sy'n bwysig i'r Senedd a Chymru  

Mae’r Cytundeb Masnach a Chydweithredu rhwng y DU a’r UE yn cwmpasu meysydd pwysig sydd 
o fewn cymhwysedd datganoledig neu faterion sy’n cael effaith sylweddol arnynt. Ceir rhagor o 
wybodaeth am y rhain, sut y mae'r rhain yn effeithio ar Gymru a rôl y Cynulliad Partneriaeth 
Seneddol yng nghanllawiau a ffeithluniau Ymchwil y Senedd ar y cytundeb. 

Yn y cyfarfod, trafodwyd y prif faterion sy’n bwysig i Gymru gan gynnwys symudedd ieuenctid, 
symudedd ar gyfer y sectorau diwylliant a chwaraeon, pysgodfeydd, hawliau dinasyddion, diogelu 
data, cydweithredu ynghylch newid hinsawdd, Mecanwaith Addasu Pris Carbon ar draws Ffiniau’r 
UE a chydweithredu ynghylch ynni. Cafodd meysydd pwysig ar gyfer cydweithredu yn y dyfodol, 
megis ar ddatblygu a rheoleiddio deallusrwydd artiffisial eu trafod hefyd gan y cynrychiolwyr. 

Am y tro cyntaf, gwahoddwyd Aelodau o'r Senedd i gyfrannu i eitem lawn a siaradodd Huw 
Irranca-Davies AS am bwysigrwydd symudedd ieuenctid a chynllun Taith  Llywodraeth Cymru.  

Gwahoddwyd sefydliadau yng Nghymru i gyflwyno eu barn i ni cyn y cyfarfod. Rydym yn 
ddiolchgar i bawb a lwyddodd i wneud hynny o fewn yr amserlenni byr a roddwyd i ni. 
Adlewyrchwyd y safbwyntiau hyn mewn papur briffio a ddarparwyd i gynrychiolwyr y DU ac yn y 
cyfraniadau gan Aelodau o'r Senedd yn ystod y cyfarfodydd.  

Gallwch wylio’r trafodion yn llawn ar sianel YouTube Senedd y Deyrnas Unedig. 

‘Ailadeiladu ymddiriedaeth’: cyfnod mwy cadarnhaol yn y berthynas 

Pwysleisiodd Leo Doherty, Gweinidog Ewrop y DU, a Pedro Serrano, Llysgennad yr UE i'r DU, y 
naws gadarnhaol a chynhyrchiol mewn cysylltiadau rhwng y DU a'r UE dros y 12 mis diwethaf. 
Dywedodd y Llysgennad Serrano fod ailadeiladu ymddiriedaeth yn arwydd o’r flwyddyn hon ac mai 
mwy o gydweithredu fydd y canlyniad. 

Canmolodd y Gweinidog Doherty y trafodaethau a’r gwaith drwy fforymau’r Cytundeb Masnach a 
Chydweithredu ar yr economi ddigidol, cydweithredu ar nwyddau fferyllol, organig a mynediad i 
gyfreithwyr y DU i farchnad yr UE a dywedodd fod y DU yn agored i drafodaethau ar wella 
symudedd ieuenctid, cydweithredu ar ddiwylliant a datblygu a rheoleiddio deallusrwydd artiffisial.  

Nododd y Llysgennad Serrano fod gweithredu'r Cytundeb Ymadael yn llawn, gan gynnwys 
gweithrediad llawn Fframwaith Windsor a rhwymedigaethau hawliau dinasyddion, yn hanfodol i 
ragor o gydweithredu dan y Cytundeb Masnach a Chydweithredu. Dywedodd y Llysgennad Serrano 
fod darpariaethau tegwch yn y farchnad y Cytundeb Masnach a Chydweithredu yn parhau i fod yn 
faterion pwysig i'r UE ac y bydd yn parhau i ddilyn yn agos y diwygiadau gan y DU i gyfraith yr UE a 
ddargedwir a chydymffurfedd y DU â'r Confensiwn Ewropeaidd ar Hawliau Dynol sy'n rhagofyniad 
ar gyfer cydweithredu gorfodi'r gyfraith yn y Cytundeb Masnach a Chydweithredu. Galwodd am 

Tudalen y pecyn 3

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ukeu-and-eaec-trade-and-cooperation-agreement-ts-no82021
https://ymchwil.senedd.cymru/erthyglau-ymchwil/cymru-a-chytundeb-masnach-a-chydweithredu-y-du-a-r-ue/
https://www.taith.cymru/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hwPhIrFHXgA


CPE DU-EU Adroddiad Cryno Rhagfyr 2023 

4 

drafodaethau cynnar ac ymarferol ar bysgodfeydd ar ôl 2026 a dywedodd fod rhaid i'r gwaith ar 
gyfer gweithredu'r Cytundeb Masnach a Chydweithredu yn llawn ac yn uchelgeisiol barhau. 

Cafodd tryloywder strwythurau llywodraethu’r Cytundeb Masnach a Chydweithredu a 
phenderfyniadau a wnaed ynddynt ei godi gan aelodau'r Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol. Mae 
hyn yn fater sy'n cael sylw gan Bwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a'r Cyfansoddiad y Senedd yn ei 
adroddiad ar lywodraethiant y DU a’r UE.  

Symudedd yn creu cyfleoedd gwerthfawr 

Yn ei drydydd argymhelliad i'r Cyngor Partneriaeth, cydnabu'r Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol y 
cyfleoedd gwerthfawr y mae symudedd dinasyddion, yn enwedig symudedd ieuenctid a 
diwylliannol, yn eu creu. I gydnabod y cymorth eang ar y ddwy ochr i wella gallu pobl ifanc ac 
artistiaid i deithio, symud a gweithio ar draws ffiniau, galwodd y Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol 
ar y Cyngor Partneriaeth ac aelod-wladwriaethau’r UE i gydweithio er mwyn gwella’r cyfleoedd 
sydd ar gael. Mae'n galw ar y DU a'r UE i ganiatáu’r defnydd o gardiau adnabod ar gyfer teithiau 
ysgol wedi'u trefnu ac i hepgor gofynion fisa. Mynegodd bryder bod y DU wedi cytuno i wneud hyn 
ar gyfer rhai aelod-wladwriaethau'r UE ond nid pob un a dywedodd fod dull anwahaniaethol yn 
hanfodol. 

Dewisodd y DU beidio â bod yn rhan o Erasmus+, rhaglen symudedd ieuenctid ac addysg y DU, ar 
ôl Brexit. Atgoffodd Huw Irranca-Davies AS y Cyfarfod Llawn o gymorth Llywodraeth Cymru i'r DU 
ailymuno â rhaglen Erasmus+ a thynnu sylw'r cynrychiolwyr at raglen Taith  Llywodraeth Cymru 
sy'n cefnogi cyfranogwyr i ddod i Gymru yn ogystal â chefnogi sefydliadau a chyfranogwyr Cymru i 
fynd dramor. 

Mae'r argymhelliad yn gwneud ceisiadau penodol ar gyfer artistiaid teithiol, mater a drafodwyd 
sawl gwaith yn y Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol. Mae'r Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol yn annog 
y DU a'r UE i flaenoriaethu symudedd artistiaid teithiol yn yr adolygiad o weithrediad y Cytundeb 
Masnach a Chydweithredu a ddisgwylir cyn 2026. Mae’n galw ar y ddwy ochr i ddyblu ymdrechion 
i symleiddio trefniadau fisa a thollau ar gyfer artistiaid teithiol a'u timau ac estyn hyd y fisâu sydd 
ar gael ar gyfer teithio.  

Tynnodd Aelodau o'r Senedd sylw hefyd at y materion y mae sefydliadau chwaraeon proffesiynol a 
gwirfoddol ac athletwyr yn eu hwynebu ar ôl Brexit a galw hefyd i’r materion y mae’r sector hwn 
yn eu hwynebu gael eu cydnabod.  

Mae Pwyllgor Diwylliant y Senedd yn cynnal ymchwiliad i ddiwylliant a'r berthynas newydd â'r 
UE. Dechreuodd y Farwnes Deborah Bull, aelod o ddirprwyaeth y DU yn y Cynulliad Partneriaeth 
Seneddol, yr ymchwiliad drwy ymddangos gerbron y Pwyllgor i roi tystiolaeth ar 8 Chwefror 2024.  

Galwodd y Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol ar y Cyngor Partneriaeth i ymateb i'w argymhelliad cyn 
cyfarfod nesaf y Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol ym mis Mawrth 2024. 

Tudalen y pecyn 4

https://senedd.cymru/media/lzfbf3ww/cr-ld16176-w.pdf
https://senedd.cymru/media/lzfbf3ww/cr-ld16176-w.pdf
https://www.europarl.europa.eu/cmsdata/279312/Final%20Recommendation%20-%204th%20EU_UK%20PPA.pdf
https://www.taith.cymru/
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=41630
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=41630
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=742&MId=13695&Ver=4


CPE DU-EU Adroddiad Cryno Rhagfyr 2023 
 

5 

Cynnydd ar hawliau dinasyddion i’w groesawu ond mae mwy i'w wneud 

Croesawyd y cynnydd a wnaed wrth amddiffyn hawliau dinasyddion yr UE sy'n byw yn y DU a 
dinasyddion y DU sy'n byw yn yr UE. Fodd bynnag, galwodd y grŵp trafod ar hawliau dinasyddion 
ar Lywodraeth y DU i fabwysiadu agwedd syml a thosturiol ar weithredu dyfarniad yr Uchel Lys ar 
statws dinasyddion yr UE. 

Galwodd am hyfforddiant i'r heddlu a lluoedd ffiniau ar y ddwy ochr ar hawliau dinasyddion sy'n 
teithio neu'n preswylio am gyfnodau byr a galwodd ar y Comisiwn Ewropeaidd i gael rôl ar 
ddarparu gwybodaeth hygyrch i ddinasyddion y DU. Pwysleisiwyd pwysigrwydd cymorth i 
sefydliadau sy'n gweithio gyda dinasyddion, yn enwedig pobl sy’n agored i niwed, i gynnal eu hawl. 
Galwodd y grŵp ar y DU a'r UE i ddarparu cymorth digonol.  

Mae Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb a Chyfiawnder Cymdeithasol y Senedd yn monitro hawliau 
dinasyddion Ewropeaidd yng Nghymru.   

Ystafell ar gyfer cydweithrediad adeiladol ar bysgodfeydd 

Er ei fod yn cydnabod bod pysgodfeydd yn parhau i fod yn faes her a dadl rhwng y DU a'r UE, 
canfu’r grŵp trafod fod meysydd lle y gallai cydweithrediad adeiladol fod o fudd i'r diwydiant ar y 
ddwy ochr. Mae mynd i'r afael â materion y mae cymunedau pysgota Iwerddon a Gogledd 
Iwerddon yn eu hwynebu yn un maes lle y gallai cytuno ar ateb cyffredin helpu i feithrin 
ymddiriedaeth ar gyfer negodiadau pysgota ehangach. 

Galwodd y grŵp am ddull cydweithredol o reoli pysgodfeydd yn gynaliadwy sy'n ymgysylltu â 
chymunedau lleol. Cytunwyd y dylai fod dull amlflwydd y tu hwnt i 2026 i greu sicrwydd i 
gymunedau ar y ddwy ochr gyda mecanweithiau ar gyfer newidiadau stoc sy'n seiliedig ar 
dystiolaeth. 

Methiant i gydweithredu ar fasnachu allyriadau, ynni a hinsawdd yn creu risgiau 

Roedd yr angen am gydweithrediad agos ar ymrwymiadau hinsawdd rhyngwladol a 
chydweithrediad ynni yn alwadau cyffredin gan aelodau'r Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol. Wrth 
siarad yn y Cyfarfod Llawn, dywedodd swyddogion Llywodraeth y DU eu bod yn siomedig gyda'r 
cynnydd a wnaed i weithredu teitl ynni'r Cytundeb Masnach a Chydweithredu ac, yn benodol, 
gwnaethant alw am fwy o gynnydd ar ddatblygu trefniadau masnachu trydan effeithlon. 

Croesawyd cynnydd ar gydweithrediad ynni ym Môr y Gogledd ond galwodd aelodau'r DU a'r UE i 
hyn gael ei estyn i ddyfnhau cydweithrediad yn y Môr Celtaidd a'r Iwerydd. Cododd Aelodau o'r 
Senedd gydweithrediad y Môr Celtaidd yng nghyfarfod diwethaf y Cynulliad Partneriaeth 
Seneddol. 

Tudalen y pecyn 5

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/cmsdata/279314/Report%20from%20the%20break-out%20groups%20PPA%20meeting%204-5%20Dec%20-%20FINAL%20version.pdf
https://ima-citizensrights.org.uk/news_events/citizens-rights-watchdog-gives-update-on-judicial-review-2/
https://ima-citizensrights.org.uk/news_events/citizens-rights-watchdog-gives-update-on-judicial-review-2/
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=38194
https://www.europarl.europa.eu/cmsdata/279314/Report%20from%20the%20break-out%20groups%20PPA%20meeting%204-5%20Dec%20-%20FINAL%20version.pdf
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/documents/s140895/LJC6-29-23%20Papur%207%20Adroddiad%20cryno.pdf
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/documents/s140895/LJC6-29-23%20Papur%207%20Adroddiad%20cryno.pdf


CPE DU-EU Adroddiad Cryno Rhagfyr 2023 

6 

Codwyd pryder gan aelodau ar y ddwy ochr am risgiau dulliau gwahanol posibl o fasnachu 
allyriadau a dadleoli carbon yn y DU a'r UE. Trafodwyd goblygiadau posibl cyflwyno Mecanwaith 
Addasu Pris Carbon ar draws Ffiniau’r UE heb gydweithrediad a chynllun cyfatebol yn y DU. 
Mynegodd y Farwnes Hayter bryderon am oblygiadau’r Mecanwaith Addasu Pris Carbon ar draws 
Ffiniau i ddiwydiant dur Cymru ar ran Aelodau o'r Senedd yn ystod y ddadl. Galwodd Séan Kelly 
ASE, Is-lywydd dirprwyaeth Senedd Ewrop, i'r Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol weithredu fel 
fforwm i ddileu gwrthdaro ar brisiau allyriadau ac addasu pris carbon.  

Dywedodd swyddogion Llywodraeth y DU fod y Llywodraeth yn agored i ragor o gydweithredu ar 
fasnachu allyriadau.  

Mae darpariaethau amgylchedd, hinsawdd ac ynni'r Cytundeb Masnach a Chydweithredu wedi’u 
hesbonio mewn canllaw gan Ymchwil y Senedd.  

Mae diogelu data a thwf digidol yn feysydd allweddol o ddiddordeb cyffredin  

Nododd y grŵp trafod fod economïau digidol y DU a'r UE yn llusgo ar ôl yr Unol Daleithiau a 
rhanbarthau eraill a dywedodd y dylai'r ddwy ochr gydweithredu i sicrhau y caiff dinasyddion eu 
hamddiffyn wrth alluogi arloesi a thwf. Galwodd am gydweithrediad ac ymgysylltiad 
deddfwriaethol parhaus rhwng y DU a'r UE i sicrhau y cynhelir safonau a bod y ddwy ochr yn 
sicrhau na fydd cytundebau digonolrwydd data’n mynd yn angof neu’n cael eu peryglu.  

Nodwyd bod pwysigrwydd hanfodol gweithredu i ddiogelu ein democratiaethau rhag 
camwybodaeth ac ymyriad yn faes hanfodol ar gyfer cydweithrediad agos. 

2. Ymgysylltiad y Senedd â gwaith y Cynulliad 
Partneriaeth Seneddol  

Mae gan ddeddfwrfeydd datganoledig lawer i'w gyfrannu i waith 
y Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol, fel y dengys yr adroddiad hwn. 
Cefnogir cyfraniad cadarnhaol aelodau datganoledig gan lefel y 
diddordeb ac ymgysylltiad gan randdeiliaid o Gymru.  

Ystyriodd yr adroddiad cryno ar y trydydd cyfarfod y cynnydd a wnaed yn erbyn pum 
argymhelliad. Parhaodd y cynnydd a wnaed yn y trydydd cyfarfod sy'n dangos bod ymgysylltiad y 
Senedd a'r deddfwrfeydd datganoledig yng ngwaith y corff yn ymwreiddio. Yr hyn a gafodd groeso 
arbennig yn ystod y trydydd cyfarfod oedd gwahoddiad i aelodau'r ddeddfwrfa ddatganoledig 
gyfrannu i’r drafodaeth ar eitem yn y cyfarfod llawn.  

Tudalen y pecyn 6

https://ymchwil.senedd.cymru/erthyglau-ymchwil/cymru-a-chytundeb-masnach-a-chydweithredu-y-du-a-r-ue-fframwaith-sefydliadol/
https://www.europarl.europa.eu/cmsdata/279314/Report%20from%20the%20break-out%20groups%20PPA%20meeting%204-5%20Dec%20-%20FINAL%20version.pdf
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/documents/s140895/LJC6-29-23%20Papur%207%20Adroddiad%20cryno.pdf


CPE DU-EU Adroddiad Cryno Rhagfyr 2023 
 

7 

I Gymru, roedd hyn yn ein galluogi i godi'r gwaith pwysig ar symudedd sy'n cael ei wneud yng 
Nghymru a'r heriau parhaus y mae ein busnesau, ein diwylliant a'n sefydliadau chwaraeon yn eu 
hwynebu. Roedd grwpiau trafod hefyd yn ein galluogi i godi materion yn ymwneud â hawliau 
dinasyddion a gwaith pwysig Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb a Chyfiawnder Cymdeithasol y Senedd ar 
fonitro gweithrediad y Cynllun Preswylio'n Sefydlog i Ddinasyddion yr UE yng Nghymru. Rydym 
hefyd yn codi materion sy'n peri pryder ar gyfer pysgodfeydd a moroedd Cymru.  

Serch hynny, mae ein hargymhellion ar wreiddio rôl deddfwrfeydd datganoledig yn y Cynulliad 
Partneriaeth Seneddol a'r angen am barhau i ystyried caniatáu i'r deddfwrfeydd datganoledig 
gymryd rhan yn yr holl drafodaethau yn y cyfarfod llawn mewn meysydd datganoledig yn parhau i 
fod yn ddilys.  

Er ein bod yn gwerthfawrogi'r cyfle i gyfrannu i’r eitem ar symudedd, roedd llawer o eitemau eraill 
lle y gallem fod wedi gwneud cyfraniad cadarnhaol. Er enghraifft, materion yn ymwneud ag effaith 
Mecanwaith Addasu Pris Carbon ar draws Ffiniau’r UE ar ddiwydiant dur Cymru. Rydym yn nodi ac 
yn croesawu cymorth dirprwyaeth Aelodau o Senedd Ewrop i roi hawliau siarad llawn i 
ddeddfwrfeydd datganoledig yn ystod y cyfarfod llawn.  

Rydym yn deall yr amser cyfyngedig a oedd ar gael i holl aelodau'r Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol 
i gyfrannu yn ystod dadleuon y cyfarfod llawn ond rydym yn parhau i bwyso i amser gael ei ganfod 
ar gyfer deddfwrfeydd datganoledig. Mae gan y Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol rôl hynod bwysig 
wrth gryfhau'r berthynas rhwng y DU a'r UE, a gall y deddfwrfeydd datganoledig wneud cyfraniad 
cadarnhaol at y broses o ddatblygu syniadau a rhannu arfer da. 

Mae adroddiad Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a'r Cyfansoddiad y Senedd ar 
lywodraethiant y DU a’r UE yn cydnabod yr esblygiad pwysig yn nhrefniadau gweithio'r Cynulliad 
Partneriaeth Seneddol a'i bwysigrwydd fel man lle y gellir canfod atebion gwleidyddol.  

Ymgysylltu â rhanddeiliaid 

Rydym yn ddiolchgar am barodrwydd rhanddeiliaid yng Nghymru i gyflwyno tystiolaeth, materion 
a safbwyntiau i ni cyn cyfarfod diwethaf y Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol. Mae'n amhrisiadwy 
wrth sicrhau y caiff materion sy’n bwysig i Gymru eu cyfrannu'n briodol. Un her allweddol wrth 
geisio ymgysylltu'n ffurfiol â rhanddeiliaid cyn cyfarfodydd yw bod agendâu’n cael eu rhannu’n 
hwyr iawn. Byddwn yn parhau i weithio i wella sut a phryd rydym yn ymgysylltu â rhanddeiliaid cyn 
cyfarfodydd y Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol. 

Mae Comisiwn y Senedd wedi derbyn yr argymhelliad a wnaed gan Bwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, 
Cyfiawnder a'r Cyfansoddiad y Senedd, y dylai'r Senedd weithio gyda chadeiryddion pwyllgorau 
perthnasol y Senedd ac Aelodau o'r Senedd ar ddirprwyaethau’r DU a'r UE i hwyluso ymgysylltiad 
rhanddeiliaid ar faterion y DU a'r UE. Rydym yn edrych ymlaen at gyfrannu i’r gwaith i fwrw 
ymlaen â hyn.  

Tudalen y pecyn 7

https://senedd.cymru/media/lzfbf3ww/cr-ld16176-w.pdf
https://senedd.cymru/media/lzfbf3ww/cr-ld16176-w.pdf
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/documents/s144881/LJC6-06-24%20-%20Paper%2015%20-%20Correspondence%20from%20the%20Llywydd%206%20February%202024.pdf


CPE DU-EU Adroddiad Cryno Rhagfyr 2023 

8 

Ymgysylltu â dirprwyaethau'r DU a'r UE a phwyllgorau eraill y Senedd 

Gwnaethom dynnu ein hadroddiad diwethaf at sylw pwyllgorau perthnasol y Senedd a’r Prif 
Weinidog. Rydym yn ddiolchgar am eu hymateb cadarnhaol a byddwn yn parhau i ymgysylltu â 
hwy. Rydym yn croesawu'n gynnes ymgysylltiad Pwyllgor Diwylliant y Senedd â’r Farwnes Bull fel 
rhan o’i ymchwiliad i ddiwylliant a'r berthynas newydd â'r UE yn seiliedig ar waith pwysig ar y 
mater hwn drwy'r Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol.  

Mae pwyllgorau'r Senedd wedi parhau i ymgysylltu â phwyllgorau cyfatebol y DU a'r UE ar faterion 
y DU a'r UE. Ymgysylltodd Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a'r Cyfansoddiad y Senedd a 
Phwyllgor yr Economi a Masnach ag aelodau dirprwyaeth Senedd Ewrop pan wnaethant ymweld â 
Brwsel ym mis Medi a mis Tachwedd 2023.  

Tudalen y pecyn 8

https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=41630
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/documents/s140988/LJC6%20Brwsel%202023%20-%20Papur%202%20-%20Themu%20Allweddol%20syn%20Deillio%20or%20Ymweliad.pdf
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=738&MId=13540&Ver=4


 

 

 

 

 

 

13 Mawrth 2024 

Annwyl Ysgrifennydd Gwladol 

Deialog ac ymgysylltu rhyngweinidogol 

Yn ystod ein sesiwn graffu gyffredinol ar 6 Mawrth ar waith Lesley Griffiths AS, y Gweinidog Materion 

Gwledig a Gogledd Cymru, a’r Trefnydd yn Senedd Cymru, dywedodd y Gweinidog na chafwyd 

cyfarfod o’r Grŵp Rhyngweinidogol dros yr Amgylchedd, Bwyd a Materion Gwledig (IMG EFRA) ers y 

cyfnod y bu’ch rhagflaenydd, Thérèse Coffey, yn Ysgrifennydd yr Amgylchedd.  Roedd yr Aelodau'n 

bryderus iawn o glywed hyn gan fod y Pwyllgor o'r farn bod deialog rhynglywodraethol yn bwysig i’r 

gwaith o ddatblygu a gweithredu polisi da. 

Pan holwyd hi am ffliw adar a’r gwaith o ddosbarthu a marchnata wyau buarth o ganlyniad i’r ffaith 

bod adar yn cael eu cadw dan do, dywedodd y Gweinidog wrthym hefyd nad oedd DEFRA wedi rhoi 

gwybod iddi ymlaen llaw o’r bwriad i lansio Ymgynghoriad ar ddileu’r cyfnod rhanddirymu o 16 

wythnos mewn deddfwriaeth safonau marchnata wyau yn Lloegr a’r Alban, a agorodd ar 9 Ionawr 

2024 ac a ddaeth i ben ar 5 Mawrth. Dywedodd y Gweinidog wrth yr Aelodau na fu unrhyw 

drafodaethau â hi ar lefel Weinidogol ynghylch y bwriad i ymgynghori cyn iddi gael llythyr yn 

gwahodd Cymru i gymryd rhan. 

Nid yw’r ymgynghoriad yn berthnasol i Gymru, ac mae’r Gweinidog wedi awgrymu y gallai 

Llywodraeth Cymru ddilyn trywydd gwahanol i Loegr a’r Alban drwy beidio â dileu’r terfyn amser, gan 

nodi tryloywder i ddefnyddwyr fel y rheswm dros hynny. 

Fel y nodwyd yn y Memorandwm Esboniadol a gyhoeddodd Llywodraeth y DU ar 19 Chwefror 2024 

mewn perthynas â rheoliadau’r UE sy’n ymwneud â marchnata wyau, mae hwn yn faes polisi 

datganoledig sy’n ddarostyngedig i’r fframwaith cyffredin ar gymorth amaethyddol. Mae'r 

Pwyllgor yr Economi,  
Masnach a Materion Gwledig 

— 

Economy, Trade, and  
Rural Affairs Committee  

Senedd Cymru 

Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 
SeneddEconomi@senedd.cymru 

senedd.cymru/SeneddEconomi 

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddEconomy@senedd.wales 

senedd.wales/SeneddEconomy  

0300 200 6565 

Y Gwir Anrh. Steve Barclay AS 

Yr Ysgrifennydd Gwladol dros yr Amgylchedd, Bwyd a Materion Gwledig 

Adran yr Amgylchedd, Bwyd a Materion Gwledig 

Tudalen y pecyn 9

Eitem 2.2

https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/13662
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65d37780e1bdec77373222bd/EM_C_24_5508_and_5510.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65d37780e1bdec77373222bd/EM_C_24_5508_and_5510.pdf


 

 

Fframweithiau Cyffredin hyn yn ei gwneud yn ofynnol i'r gwahanol weinyddiaethau yn y DU 

ymgysylltu'n rhagweithiol ynghylch meysydd lle mae posibilrwydd y bydd gwahaniaethau o ran 

datblygu polisi.  

Mae'n ymddangos bod marchnata wyau yn dod o fewn cwmpas yr Egwyddorion Mynediad i'r 

Farchnad sydd wedi'u hymgorffori yn Neddf Marchnad Fewnol y Deyrnas Unedig 2020. Fel y 

gwyddoch, o dan yr egwyddor cyd-gydnabod, mae wyau sy’n bodloni’r safonau gofynnol mewn un 

rhan o’r DU yn gallu cael eu gwerthu mewn unrhyw ran arall o’r DU hyd yn oed os yw’r safonau yno’n 

wahanol. Mae’r sefyllfa bresennol yn codi pryderon y gallai cynhyrchwyr wyau o Gymru gael eu rhoi 

dan anfantais gystadleuol os yw’r safonau ar gyfer marchnata wyau fel wyau ‘buarth’ yn amrywio ar 

draws gweinyddiaethau’r DU. 

O ystyried sylwadau’r Gweinidog am hyd a lled y ddeialog ac ymgysylltiad rhyngweinidogol, hoffai’r 

Pwyllgor ofyn am gadarnhad y bydd cyfarfodydd rhyngweinidogol rheolaidd yn ailddechrau, ac y 

bydd dulliau cyfathrebu rhwng Gweinidogion y DU a’r Gweinidogion cyfatebol yng Nghymru yn cael 

eu defnyddio er mwyn medru ymgysylltu’n adeiladol ynghylch materion sy'n effeithio ar ein 

cynhyrchwyr bwyd a'n defnyddwyr. Byddai’r Aelodau hefyd yn hoffi cael barn Llywodraeth y DU am y 

newid posibl yn y drefn o labelu wyau buarth, ac effaith hynny ar Gymru, gan gynnwys disgwyliadau 

Llywodraeth y DU o ran gweithredu Deddf Marchnad Fewnol y DU mewn perthynas â’r mater hwn. 

 

Cofion cynnes, 

 

Paul Davies AS 

Cadeirydd: Pwyllgor yr Economi, Masnach a Materion Gwledig 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 10

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/en/ukpga/2020/27/contents/enacted


Mr Andrew Ling  

[address redacted] 

 

 

 

 

13th March 2024  

Chairman – Paul Davies MS 

Welsh Parliament, 

Cardiff Bay, 

Cardiff, 

CF99 1SN 

 

RE: Development Bank of Wales – Miss Management of Perpetual V2G Systems  

 

I would like to inform the Senedd that Development Bank of Wales appointed advisors that 
took my business from me.  
 
I was falsely accused of theft from my own company, in which DBoW were investors.  
 
The issues surrounding my removal from my role, transfer of my share capital, and 
subsequent criminal investigations were all consent items under the banks investment 
agreement.  
  
In 2013 I founded a clean energy company called Perpetual V2G Systems Ltd.  
  
The company grew quickly and gained significant market traction with companies such as 
Sainsburys Supermarkets and BT Openreach.  
  
In 2017, we took a £500k investment in the form of a convertible loan note. Part of this 
fundraise was a condition for me to employ a bank-appointed expert. [Name redacted], on a 
salary of £150k per year.  
 
To note, [name redacted] and [name redacted] (DBoW) had never worked in tech start up 
companies previously.  
  
Less than 1 year later, I was accused of taking "unauthorised funds" from the company's 
bank account and sacked.  
  
This happened to be just 1 month after my refusal to sell the business to BT Group.  
 
I lost my job, my shares (approx £3.8m at that time) , my patent (£13m-£17m valuation) and 
was forced to go bankrupt in September 2018.  
  

Tudalen y pecyn 11

Eitem 2.3



The company carried out an internal investigation and did not allow any external 
investigations to take place, as per my request.  
  
My removal from the company would have been a consent item that the Bank would have 
to sign off on.  
  
I attempted to contact the bank during the investigation and was told I could not speak to 
anyone as I’d stolen £250k.  
  
In 2020 I was arrested by Dyfed Powys Police for theft.  
  
My house was searched by 7 Police staff, and I was held in custody for 8 hours.  
  
I was formally charged by the Crown Prosecution Service in 2022, and the case finally went 
to Swansea Crown Court in January this year.  
 
[Name redacted], [name redacted] and [name redacted] all gave witness statements against 
me, and gave evidence at the trial. A number of statements they had made were found to 
be lies during the trial.  
  
I was found not guilty unanimously by the jury.  
  
I have attempted to contact the bank to discuss the issues I feel they have not completed in 
accordance with their customer charter, and the Companies Act 2006.  
  
The Bank has responded and asked me to provide legal documents outlining my case against 
them and other shareholders.  
  
I have now begun legal action to reclaim the losses incurred.  
  
I am also aware of other companies that have been funded by the Development Bank 
having issues with the same "advisors" provided by the Bank.  
 
These other small business founders have been in touch with the bank, with no response or 
action.  
  
I have suffered significant financial loss due to the false accusations made against me, and 
incurred several other damages including loss of reputation and future value of my 
shareholding and business.  
 
To note, after my dismissal the business was moved from Lampeter, Carmarthenshire where 
we employed up to 17 local people to Cardiff. Where they employed only 3.  
 
After the business moved to Cardiff, both [name redacted] and [name redacted] set up new 
battery storage business, using my invention, and even got further funding from DBoW for 
these copy cat companies.  
  

Tudalen y pecyn 12



I would like the opportunity to provide evidence concerning my claims to the Senedd for 
discussion.  
 

To note, I will also be explaining my circumstances to a national news paper next week, and 

will pursue legal action against all shareholders that profited from my removal.  

 

Regards,  

 
 

 

Andrew Ling 

 

[address redacted] 

Tudalen y pecyn 13



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 14

Eitem 3



   

 
 

   
 

Green Economy Inquiry 

 
Economy, Trade, and Rural Affairs Committee 

FSB Wales 

March 2024 

About FSB 

Celebrating its 50th anniversary, FSB Wales is the authoritative voice of businesses 
in Wales. It campaigns for a better social, political, and economic environment in 
which to work and do business. With a strong grassroots structure, a Wales Policy 
Unit, and dedicated Welsh staff to deal with Welsh institutions, media and 
politicians, FSB Wales makes its members’ voices heard at the heart of the 
decision-making process. 

 

Within its devolved powers, what should be the Welsh Government’s key 
priorities to maximise the potential economic opportunities from green 
economy sectors? To what extent does its current approach reflect 
these? 

Climate change presents a significant challenge to our economic and governance 
systems. Devolution allows for Wales to carve out its own bespoke agenda to 
address much of this, harnessing decision making that will enact and influence 
overall policy outcomes related to climate change, food security and economic 
development. Economic, social, and environmental stresses cannot be addressed 
in isolation from one another, cross governmental efforts will be necessary if 
meaningful change is to be overseen. 

Un tournant du temps – high inflation, supply chain disruptions and cost 
increases from Brexit, and the war in Ukraine have directly led to higher 
commodity prices meaning government must now do more with less. A negative 
relative GDP growth trajectory of -5% of since 20161 means that radical and 
innovative mechanisms that streamline decision making and guarantee long term 
funding streams must be unlocked if Wales is not only to be seen as an attractive 
location for international investment but also taken seriously as a world leader in 
the fight to cut carbon emissions. This only reinforces the overbearing demand to 
build the green economy for self-sufficiency and security as well as to harness 
the potential economic opportunities for local communities.  

 
1 Springford, J (2022) “The cost of Brexit to June 2022”, Centre for 
European Reform, November. 

Tudalen y pecyn 25

Eitem 4

https://www.cer.eu/insights/cost-brexit-june-2022


   

 
 

   
 

The Well-Being of Future Generations Act (2015) shows the holistic 
approach already taken by Welsh Government to set a world leading precedent 
on how generational challenges should be addressed in unison with other 
directives. However, in strengthening our economy to become more versatile and 
resilient, these challenges will require a strategy that is well-equipped to deliver 
a smooth transition to a greener economy which harnesses the economic 
opportunities that ensure a business ecosystem capable of developing their full 
potential.  

Critical infrastructure and the further development of technologies will offer long 
term solutions that address security concerns, while investing in local 
communities that have a strong grounding in SME activity. At the heart of this 
must be a drive to enhance the competitiveness of Wales’s net-zero industries. 
In FSB’s ‘Accelerating Progress’ report, we highlight how small businesses are 
keenly aware of the need to act on climate change; however, many are resource-
poor in terms of time, expertise, and finances. In this regard, efficiency is key to 
ensuring that the green economy in Wales is fully optimised. Our recent reports 
on skills (‘A Skills Led Economy for Wales’) and on manufacturing 
(‘Manufacturing Momentum’) emphasise this need for matching skills and to build 
capacity and capabilities of SMEs, and supplier development. There is a need to 
make the soil fruitful for investment in Wales, and to provide long term plans and 
support institutions that provide stability and confidence for investors. 

In our own assessment of this, the focus point for Welsh government should be 
to consider.  

1. A simplified regulatory framework 
2. A streamlined financing model for Welsh infrastructure projects 
3. The establishment of an arm’s length body to coordinate investment in 

Wales, including a focus on the green economy and utilising contracting 
arrangements, tools such as the Social Partnership and Procurement Bill to 
ensure SME opportunities.  

4. A revision of enhanced skills training opportunities in green innovative 
industries. 

 
Developing the economic mission further to provide a roadmap to the industries 
we wish to foster and attract, and the role SME’s will play in both promoting a 
modern and dynamic green economy in Wales should be placed in high standing 
in a list of priorities. Through a simplified, faster, and more predictable 
framework which secures the volume needed for raw materials, and ensuring 
users can benefit from the low costs of renewables will give Wales the security it 
needs to reinvest in local community projects, local procurement opportunities 
and the advancement and dissemination of modern technologies and innovative 
practices. Anchor institutions – whether government, public and education 
bodies, or large firms and private investment – are key in ensuring the 
development of these supply chains.  

Tudalen y pecyn 26

https://www.fsb.org.uk/resource-report/a-skills-led-economy-for-wales.html
https://www.fsb.org.uk/resource-report/manufacturing-momentum.html


   

 
 

   
 

In our assessment, we’ve concluded that Welsh government should further 
explore the practicalities of an Economic Development Agency for Wales as an 
arm’s length body which can be used as a departmental tool to coordinate with 
established institutions such as Development Bank Wales (DBW) and Business 
Wales to oversee, incubate and foster economic growth across the country in 
line with climate and environmental directives. The aim is to provide a 
comprehensive ecology of support and development to build our businesses’ 
capacities and capabilities. In doing so, would create a more supportive 
environment for scaling up the Welsh business sector to both be attractive for 
investment but also for research and development alongside Wales’s 
universities.  

What are the key barriers to Wales making the most of opportunities in 
the green economy, and what steps should be taken to overcome these? 

Most enterprises in Wales are SME, constituting 99.3% of all active businesses. 
Specifically, micro-enterprises, those with fewer than 10 employees, make up 
94.7% of total enterprises. In terms of employment and turnover, SMEs 
contribute significantly, accounting for 62.9% of private sector employment and 
42.5%, respectively, in Wales1.  

Subsequently, the race to cut carbon emissions, and transition the Welsh 
economy to a more sustainable and greener alternative will require a concerted 
effort to work with SME’s effectively if the goal targets are to be met by 2050.  

The key starting point for policy makers to understand is that SMEs are time and 
capacity poor, often have no access to finance and will require clarity, support 
and advice on steps they need to take, as well as the skills they require. Building 
networks of SMEs and relationships for the long term is key to this. 

A key barrier is that relationships with business support institutions (e.g. 
Business Wales and Development Bank of Wales) – which are well-regarded – 
tend to be at the start-up of a business. However, after the first 3 years and 
when many businesses are looking to scale up and so require specialist and 
bespoke support, many feel that support is not available or unsuitable. This can 
be addressed through looking at businesses through a 10-year growth journey 
lens, with relationships built through patient capital (particularly on net-zero), 
and through better links and signposting from public and private (which often 
can provide more specialist support) providers.  

As per our 2021 Accelerating Progress Report, an example of where there is a 
lack of clarity and certainty on the costs of those businesses that have not yet 
taken steps to address their energy usage, 29 per cent of small businesses say 
energy is not a significant cost, 24 per cent say that the return on investment 
takes too long or is too uncertain, and 22 per cent highlight the lack of capital 
(savings) as a reason why they are unable to invest. While businesses are 
expected to lead the way in the transition to more sustainable energy sources, it 

Tudalen y pecyn 27

https://www.fsb.org.uk/resource-report/accelerating-progress.html


   

 
 

   
 

is important that they are given the tools to do so in a tough economic climate, 
and that the opportunities are highlighted and the incentive structure in place. 

We have seen a promising development in on-shore and off-shore wind farms 
being developed by major leading companies such as Vattenfall, Minesto and 
Copenhagen Infrastructure Partners and Bute with other projects such as the 
Swansea Tidal Lagoon potentially offering further opportunities in the near 
future. These projects have a commitment to improve community energy and 
energy security as part of their stated investment value, but a formalised 
mechanism that guarantees SME’s access to contract and procurement 
opportunities would be useful, with contractual arrangements following 
accordingly. Welsh Government should explore and use its powers in the Social 
Partnership and Procurement Act (2023) to ensure SMEs have ample opportunity 
to harness these. Within this framework and by use of a potential Economic 
Development Agency for Wales, additional direct assistance can be administered 
to SME’s who need additional guidance in making a green transition which would 
in turn help in building green skills through supply chain management and 
relationships. 

What actions should the Welsh Government take to support 
development of Wales-based supply chains in green economy sectors? 

A Welsh Government arm’s-length body which is able to directly coordinate 
procurement would help streamline and guarantee that funding is directed in the 
right place and that the concerns of businesses can be triaged depending on 
organisational size and issue. Healthy supply chains, and good supply chain 
practice in general, can yield significant benefits to smaller suppliers, customers 
(often larger businesses), the wider economy, and society. Simply, good supply 
chain practice makes business sense, bringing a genuine competitive advantage 
to both larger business customers and smaller suppliers. A lack of coordination at 
this stage has the potential to make the Welsh governments strategy of net-zero 
less efficient and more complicated.  

It is also important that the different institutions complement and support one 
another in providing an ecology of support for businesses in Wales. This would 
need to have a central point of contact and clear signposting to support (public 
and private) for SMEs – our polls show Business Wales is well known and part of 
the furniture, so could fulfil this role effectively, if provided with resources to do 
so.  

Access to finance is a perennial issue, and a long-term fiscal strategy is a 
necessary part of providing SMEs with support for transition as needed. Welsh 
financial institutions such as the Development Bank for Wales have a strong 
track record in delivering for SME’s. In a 2022 survey conducted by FSB Wales, 
respondents were asked about seeking business support from various 
organisations. Results showed that 11% accessed support from the Development 
Bank, while 22% sought assistance from Business Wales, and 3% from the 

Tudalen y pecyn 28



   

 
 

   
 

British Business Bank. The Development Bank does well in terms of recognition. 
In FSB Wales research from 2022, 65% of respondents were familiar with the 
Development Bank of Wales. This shows growing awareness - an FSB Wales 
2018 survey, where only 41% of respondents were aware of it shortly after the 
bank's establishment.  

There is value in reviewing how DBW’s fiscal and monetary policies could be 
broadened to complement a refocussed strategy on the Welsh green economy 
both to provide investment support, but also to provide support and advice to 
other institutions on bringing in investment capital to Wales. It should continue 
to ensure partnership working and harness the fiscal firepower of UK institutions 
such as the British Business Bank – an institution which also needs to be part of 
the approach to delivering in funding and capacity to assist SMEs to develop 
capability which contributes to net zero. 

What skills challenges exist in relation to transitioning to a green 
economy? What actions should be taken, and by whom, to ensure the 
skills are there to meet the growing demands of a green economy? 

We can look at this in terms of 3 linked issues that need addressing, with some 
specific needs within that overarching framework: 

1. Access to skills and support architecture around skills 
2. Identifying specific skills for the green economy and priming those skills 
3. Aligning the short term and long term. 
4. Access to skills and support architecture around skills 

Our recent skills report, ‘A Skills-Led Economy for Wales’  found several issues 
that cause issues around accessing skills for SME employers, including around 
green skills.  

OECD research finds that the UK could benefit from a 5% productivity gain if the 
level of skills mismatch was reduced to OECD best practice levels. While many 
economic development and growth levers do not sit with Welsh Government, 
this area is largely devolved, and so should provide a clear economic priority and 
be developed as a mission for Welsh Government to address on a cross-
governmental basis. As a key driver for future economic development and 
opportunities, this holds true for green skills for the future particularly. 
 
Small businesses in Wales are currently grappling with accessing sufficiently 
skilled staff while they also confront the challenge of a growing perceived 
mismatch between the skills in the education system and those that business 
needs.  

This in a Welsh economy where 99.3% of businesses are small businesses, and 
provide 62.9% of private sector employment1, the part of the economy that has 
the most potential to grow is the small business economy. So, the opportunity 
costs of not addressing these needs for the green transition would be significant.  

Tudalen y pecyn 29

https://www.fsb.org.uk/resource-report/a-skills-led-economy-for-wales.html


   

 
 

   
 

This structural dilemma arises from a combination of factors, including a lack of 
foresight in anticipating skill requirements and a failure to adequately adapt 
vocational education and training to address the evolving needs of the labour 
market. But continuing the structural mismatch is going to present any green 
skills agenda with the same problems. 

Addressing these evolving needs requires a more robust alliance between the 
spheres of education and training, and the stakeholders within the labour 
market, with a particular emphasis on SMEs. This collaborative effort is essential 
for enhancing the alignment of skills with the rapidly changing demands of the 
labour market.  

At Welsh Government level, there is a need to ensure a collaborative cross-
departmental approach that aligns skills and economic needs and ensures an 
agenda that addresses the needs of all stakeholders. A Skills led mission that 
gives Welsh Government a priority through a taskforce for skills-led SME 
approach, taking in senior officials and policy development across Economy and 
Skills and Education to ensure a joined-up approach geared toward long term 
economic development.  

There is also a need for a more interconnected policy response at a local level, 
the importance of which particularly relevant in the case of SMEs, which are 
much more likely to serve local markets and are required to draw from a local 
supply of skills. For instance, the OECD has long advocated for a local ecosystem 
approach2 to address issues related to growth, jobs and skills. This is because 
addressing these issues requires action across a range of inter-connected policy 
areas – including business support, innovation, skills, economic development, 
and industrial strategy.  

 

Building core people-management capability and improving firms ‘absorptive 
capacity’ is a necessary first step to business improvement given that many 
SMEs either lack a dedicated HR function or are time and resource poor and 
therefore lack in depth knowledge of the skills gaps and people management 
challenges and how to address them effectively.  

From this general strategic framework, the economic mission on skills follows. 
Focusing on growing the SME economy in Wales and refreshing the ‘missing 
middle’ agenda we can build the key policy interventions for a better Skills-Led 
Economy in Wales geared for SME growth, building the capacity and capabilities 
of our firms while also building our citizens to have new skills opportunities, 
equipping them for future transition in the economy.  

Tudalen y pecyn 30



   

 
 

   
 

 

 

It is also vital that short term skills gap for areas that will clearly be important 
for green transition be address. A clear example the role of construction and 
SME housing developers and retrofitting is a key area that will require both 
ensuring a substantial workforce and new skills to ensure that they are able to 
succeed. There are many examples of smaller developers – particularly in rural 
areas – must refuse or not compete for contracts as there is no local skills base. 
This issue was exacerbated by Brexit with less labour from abroad, but also with 
rising wages in urban centres (especially London) displacing workers from more 
peripheral areas. Filling this gap is essential for success.  

Providing for a skilled support network for SMEs – e.g. to provide for green audit 
that are practical and provide a clear understanding of costs – is also important 
to build the engagement with SMEs, and to provide the focus on what needs to 
be done and the relative benefits of transition.  

Identifying specific skills for the green economy and priming those skills 

In terms of identifying specific skills for future development, there is a 
continuing need for a clear steer on priorities and arising green economy 
opportunities – whether they be through Wales’ natural resources and 
comparative advantages (such as in tidal, wind and coastal, and projects such as 
in Pembrokeshire and Anglesey and across the North Coast) and aligning skills 
development accordingly. This requires input from multiple areas of expertise. 

For SMEs, many of the opportunities arising are within the supply chains, 
ensuring that there is a legacy of skills development in our communities, 
building up capacity to take those opportunities. 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 31



   

 
 

   
 

This requires: 

1. Building entrepreneurial skills into areas for high skill industries (such as 
through universities STEM courses, and hubs for green skills, such as 
marine biology) 

2. Building central hubs of learning to develop specific green skills and spin 
off businesses 

3. Ensuring that investment includes clear obligations towards building SME 
supply chains for higher and lower skill capacities and support through 
diffusion of expertise, knowledge and support on capacity and capabilities 
building in big infrastructure projects. So, areas such as contractual 
arrangements for investors and Tier 1 suppliers in receipt of public funding 
is key here, and we should look at using SP and Procurement Act to 
ensure a system that builds capacity from bottom-up and not looking at 
only contracting outside or overseas down supply chain. 

4. A proportion of the £100m earmarked for the Transition Board should be 
used to work in partnership with Tata and academic experts to assess and 
map the supply chain impacts, and also outline areas for skills and 
supplier development within Wales taking in opportunities in the transition 
to greener production process.  

5. More opportunities for peer-to-peer networking as well as promotion and 
sharing of examples of good practice via business networks could help to 
scale and spread successful ways to working. Learning from the impact of 
community networks from Accelerator programmes should be taken to 
wider business support mechanisms.  

6. Aligning different strands together to ensure that the areas for building 
these skills are marketed as attractive high skill areas – targeting 
students to stay, and others to return. This should also align with a 
general Welsh brand as a green nation and be attractive for sustainable 
tourism. 

Alongside such larger – or community – green projects, there is also the need to 
build the support system for advice and signposting to expertise through 
business support such as Business Wales, whether through its own capacity or 
through a list of providers. the private and public support services should be 
better linked to ensure that they feed into each other in a way that feels 
seamless to firms on their journey, via providing a searchable facility and list of 
accredited and trusted providers to support businesses access additional 
specialist support.  

Ensuring that a green audit (including green skills audit) is something that is 
provided for SMEs through any loan schemes through DBW, and meaningful 
action that provides information on initial costs, options for financing (e.g. 0% 
loans), and what costs savings would be. Providing a systematic holistic support 
that understands SMEs limits on time (and so capacity and capabilities) is key to 
success, and this includes match making skills with SMEs. This would look to 

Tudalen y pecyn 32



   

 
 

   
 

address our findings that SMEs are often left to navigate a complex skills system 
themselves, this particularly being felt more since the loss of capacity in this 
regard within Careers Wales. 

Better Alignment the short term and long-term priorities in any mission 
approach. 

Another reason to look at a systematic approach within a Green Economic 
Mission and to build the institutional ecosystem to support skills in SMEs in 
Wales is that it will need to manage the tension between  

(1) Identifying priority areas to ensure long term capacity and capabilities 
building, aligning to a wider economic mission in long term  

(2) Provide flexibility for a fast-changing agenda, allowing for understanding 
that serendipity in unexpected innovation developments within Wales can 
also play a role in shifting priorities 

Balancing these diverse needs requires fleshing out the delivery of the Economic 
Mission, the mechanisms for delivery, putting economic development at heart of 
skills. There is also a need to ensure that short term decisions for skills-led 
sustainable economic growth are aligned to the Mission – in other words that 
any mission has an impact and clear influence on budgetary decisions in the 
short term. It is noticeable that a refresh of the Economic Mission released in 
November appeared to be separate and/or have no influence over the draft 
budget proposals, at least in terms of skills.  

This is important, as short-term decisions now can hollow out capacity and 
capabilities in Wales for the medium term and raising them back is exceedingly 
difficult. Ensuring a system that provides for the just transition shaped to the 
needs of SMEs at present with a view on the future is key to success.  

A useful way to bring a longer-term vision in alignment with present pressures is 
to provide autonomy on decision making – properly accountable – for Arm’s 
Length Bodies and provide an ecology of different institutions tasked with clear 
remits and responsibilities, and with partnership agreements in place to further 
the economic mission and a green transition.  

In terms of skills, the Commission for Tertiary Education and Research (CTER) 
potentially provides new opportunities for better skills matching in this regard 
and has responsibility to better access for employers in its remit.  It should be 
tasked in its ways of working with ensuring alignment with the business support 
institutions, again as appropriately set out by the steer provided by Welsh 
Government through the economic mission and economic strategy underneath 
the Mission, with partnership working, contractual arrangements following those 
functions accordingly. 

It is important to retain an SME focus in these ways of working, as this is where 
there is real opportunity to endogenous growth and skills development, and so 

Tudalen y pecyn 33



   

 
 

   
 

supplier development. As such, when looking at a system that iterative when 
identifying skills, there is a need to balance between short-term bite size skills 
courses that are reactive to immediate needs, and also how this can feed into 
apprenticeships and more formal accreditations to build progression over the 
long term, both of which are key to learners and different parts of the SME 
sector.  

Another area in terms of addressing short term vs long term is from the side of 
support for businesses looking for new skills and looking to grow their business. 
Our interviews indicate that there is general satisfaction with the role of business 
support (e.g. Business Wales, DBW) in supporting startups, but many find they 
struggle for support after the first 3 years, and this is a key area of focus and 
intervention through skills (including green skills). In this case building 
relationships with buildings and planning for 5-10 years, alongside skills system 
support for SMEs, and aligning to patient capital so as to build a relationship 
over the long term, would provide an approach that not only builds the number 
of new businesses but provides the support ecology for growth, and the capacity 
and capabilities to take advantage of new opportunities, including in the green 
economy. 

What will workers and employers need for a just transition to a Net Zero 
economy to be achieved, and what actions should the Welsh 
Government take to deliver the elements of this that lie within its 
devolved powers? 

For SME employers it is vital that schemes start from understanding the 
pressures upon them, in terms of capacity (time and costs). Therefore, any aim 
to move must start form a basis of looking to provide headroom for SMEs to 
transition through alleviating costs and/or time in any schemes proposed, and 
that SMEs have fair access with schemes shaped to include their needs in a just 
transition. As noted, this also makes sense in terms of sustainable growth, 
prioritising growth from community businesses embedded in their local areas. 

As such there are numerous opportunities in this agenda, if we get the 
frameworks right. It is important that the Welsh Government accentuate the 
positives and develop a strategy and narrative that focuses on tangible benefits 
for businesses and communities, be they in terms of lower costs or supply chains 
or new business opportunities. Currently the story SMEs hear are added costs 
and obligations, or at best mitigations of risks, rather than the numerous 
opportunities. But this story requires the link of the long-term vision to concrete 
proposals that focus on providing benefits now, and a strong steer from 
government to provide credibility for investment. 

This can develop from the next steps in forming the means by which we will 
achieve any economic mission. This requires clarity on what Government will do 
(and won’t do), how it will build advantages in Wales, what tools it can use and 
develop (e.g. DBW; long term finance plan), it would focus on developing access 

Tudalen y pecyn 34



   

 
 

   
 

to finance (including 0% loans specific to green economy and sectoral needs for 
efficiency etc); noting how it will ensure businesses who are tenants in their 
premises can also be afforded the tools to gain from any efficiency. 

How will the Welsh Government need to work in partnership with others 
to realise the potential of the green economy and deliver a just 
transition? To what extent is the partnership working that is needed 
being undertaken? 

The above questions have dealt with the partnership working through arm’s-
length organisations in Wales and provide a model too for providing the 
infrastructure that better facilitates working across governments, with arm’s-
length bodies tasked with implementing a green economic strategy serving as an 
honest broker to align strategy and guard against duplication. Arm’s-length 
bodies – properly held accountable to the Senedd and Westminster as necessary 
– can provide a long-term view, independent and trusted evidence, and serve as 
central point of contact for engagement with the pubic and across different 
governments from local to UK, as well as potentially in providing confidence to 
investors. 

In terms of Welsh and UK Government working together, the experience has 
been patchy, and there are elements of competing visions leading to competing 
funds duplicating and providing more complexity within Wales. For example, SPF 
funding being centralised to UK risks projects being approved that duplicate 
Welsh Government activity, or indeed compete with them, and there is some 
cross over in British Business Bank funds in Wales and Development Bank of 
Wales funding available to businesses. Other areas where Wales struggles is in 
innovation and R&D funding.  

For SMEs, the main issue is that they should not see the joins between different 
governments when looking at finance and SPF schemes, and Business Wales has 
been a successful shop window in this regard, with very high recognition in our 
surveys, and  it needs to continue to be resourced to fit its responsibilities 
effectively and to provide the interventions that support businesses towards 
growth, and that funding needs to be secure for the long term (so beyond 
2025). UK and Welsh Governments partnership on freeports has shown that 
governments can work together toward a common goal, and British Business 
Bank working closely on some funds with the Development Bank of Wales shows 
that good practice is done, but it should be done in amore systematised way to 
ensure maximising the advantages of different levels of government and 
institutions, whether in local intelligence and networks in place, or in terms of 
fiscal resources and expertise. 

However, there are also areas where we can see how this can be resolved by 
allowing an ecosystem where various parts ‘do what they do best’. In the 
Investment Fund for Wales for example, there seems to have been good 
partnership work between DBW and the BBB, with the latter providing fiscal 

Tudalen y pecyn 35



   

 
 

   
 

firepower and DBW’s subsidiaries tasked with the allocation of funds (BBB does 
not directly fund anyone but works in partnerships). 

Similarly, it appears that – with some obvious tensions at times – Welsh 
Government and UK Government have worked effectively together on freeports. 
We would hope this would carry on being a model as they develop, alongside the 
green projects in train, with each aware of the institutional strengths the other 
(and local government) brings to the agenda’s success, and the legitimacy of 
each party. 

There are lessons to learn for SPF in terms of its performance thus far. FSB has 
always advocated that decisions on the funding allocated should be held by 
Welsh Government to align with regional economic goals, but that does not 
mean that this is an endorsement of the previous funding arrangements. Rather, 
the opportunities – wherever the levers lie – would be to make the system more 
flexible and reactive, better aimed at SMEs (so with longer time frames for 
submission, marketing and for budget cycles, as SMEs struggle to access such 
funds). A system that looks at using arm’s-length bodies can also align the 
strategy of UK as a whole and that of Welsh Government with appropriate 
weighting, or in a way that is not zero-sum. 

The Welsh Government says it will face considerable budgetary 
constraints in the short term. How should it prioritise investment to 
support development of the green economy over the shorter and longer-
term? What innovative approaches to financing could be considered to 
maximise potential investment and benefits? 

We welcome that both candidates for prospective FMs have placed a central and 
renewed emphasis on the economy. As noted, there is an urgent need to build 
from the economic mission to be a clear influence on decision making for annual 
budgets. This should align too with the Future Generations Act and may need to 
revisit the National Indicators for a prosperous Wales. 

- The use of arm’s-length bodies can provide expertise and ways of working 
that make the most of the resources available. – a regional development 
body to bring in investment and create the stable architecture for investor 
confidence; partnership across institutions and shared ways of working 
can also provide for mutual reinforcement. 

Some aspects that can be taken now that build toward the long term are less 
costly than others – for example building networks of SMEs, engagement and 
links to FE and HE, aligning skills system to decision around business support – 
so do what we do better through alignment and a holistic strategy based on a 
renewed economic mission. They are largely based around ways of working than 
additional costs, although ensuring that growing and building networks they are 
included as value in any targets and performance indicators is important. 

Tudalen y pecyn 36



   

 
 

   
 

Indeed, part of the point of the ‘mission economy’ is to provide the shape to 
better use and allocate resources, and so this structural and network, and 
relationship building towards the same goal is one that can and should be 
undertaken as it is not costly, is based on ways of working and clarifying remits 
and responsibilities and how different parts of an ecology in support of business 
work together better.  

Alongside this, a budget outlook that fits the aims of Well-Being of Future 
Generations agenda in terms of economic sustainable development, noting that 
decisions now under particular political pressure – such as drastic cuts to skills 
budget – make building to the same capacity (never mind growing further) as 
now will be increasingly difficult as these institutions and schemes are difficult to 
rebuild once lost. 

But while finance and funding are tight and the economy remains in challenging 
times, it is useful to build the relationships and support networks necessary to 
provide for SMEs ‘absorptive capacity’ and towards them building capacity and 
capabilities now, but also able to absorb better the support available when the 
financial environment is better.  

Another place to look is where are the key parts for sustainable growth and is 
the money currently allocated targeted at the right parts of the system. Prof 
Dylan Jones Evans’ recent evidence to the Finance Committee's inquiry on the 
Development Bank raised that DBW’s performance figures illustrated the need to 
target more smaller and micro firms, and that he noted that the figures for job 
creation and growth in these areas were convincing on this.  He also noted that 
referrals from Business Wales to Development Bank – and so evidence of 
alignment of priorities on micro businesses in particular – should be greater than 
it is.  

So, a focus should be on the mutually reinforcing aspects: 

- Ensuring finance and funding are targeted at the areas that can grow 
most, through SMEs supported across a 10-year journey for growth as 
appropriate and provide more support beyond the startup phase. 

- Building the skills and business support apparatus, including relationships 
with business, to maximise the efficiency of long-term financing of green 
economy by preparing the ground now.  

- We should explore how we can increase fiscal firepower while aligning 
Welsh strategies and local expertise – this can be through partnerships 
with UK institutions such as the British Business Bank; but also, through 
an arm’s length regional development body that looks to bring in external 
investment and provides a stable system for investor confidence. 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 37



 
 

RenewableUK Cymru response: Member input 

Consultation page: Green economy (senedd.wales) 

Economy, Trade, and Rural Affairs Committee 
Welsh Parliament 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff 
CF99 1SN 
Email: SeneddEconomy@senedd.wales 
19 February 2024 

 

Senedd Economy, Trade and Rural Affairs Committee: Green Economy inquiry 

Across RenewableUK and RenewableUK Cymru, we work with our members to support the building and operating 
of our future energy system, powered by clean energy. We jointly represent over 460 member companies across 
Wales and the UK to ensure an increasing amount of renewable electricity is deployed which will support the 
decarbonisation of our economy, reduce emissions, and respond to the climate emergency. Our members in Wales 
are business leaders, developers, and technology innovators. We have a broad membership with extensive 
experience from all the major onshore and offshore wind (fixed and floating) developers operating in Wales, as well 
as key ports, supply chain, grid and planning stakeholders. Our members deliver investment, jobs, community 
benefits and reduce emissions in Wales. RenewableUK Cymru welcomes the opportunity to respond to the Senedd 
committee’s inquiry on the Green Economy. This response has been informed by discussions and input from our 
RenewableUK Cymru members to bring together the views of industry – our response will be focused on the wind 
energy sector and the associated infrastructure’s role in supporting the green economy. 

The role of renewable energy generation at the heart of the green economy 

A diverse, flexible, renewable based energy system is fundamental to support the net zero ambition and energy 
transition in Wales. Deploying a mix of technologies across Wales will bring a range of benefits; reducing our reliance 
on fossil fuels and international gas prices resulting in increased energy security, lowering electricity bills, unlocking 
productivity, and reducing carbon emissions to tackle the climate emergency. Significantly, accelerating renewable 
energy generation across Wales to decarbonise our power system, industries, heating and transport while 
supporting the development of associated infrastructure and supply chains will be the crucial foundation of our 
future industrial growth and green economic prosperity.  

Accelerating renewable deployment as a foundation for powering the green economy will provide lower cost 
electricity. Renewable energy was significantly cheaper than fossil fuels during the energy crisis in 2022, shielding 
bill payers from some price rises. Even prior to the gas crisis, renewables had already saved consumers over £6.1 
billion on their bills (equivalent to £221 per household) in 2021 by displacing gas1. Renewables helped the UK avoid 
the need to buy nearly £12.5 billion of gas in 20222. As well as enhancing national prosperity, there are multiple 
local benefits to renewable energy development through jobs, GVA, local supply chain development, community 
benefit funds (onshore wind projects are already contributing more than £6.5 million a year to Welsh communities 
and could grow to £20 million a year by 20353), landowner payments supporting rural diversification; 
improvements to outdoor access and recreational facilitates; habitat restoration and management plans to 
enhance local areas; apprenticeships and skills training; business rates paid over the lifetime of a project; inward 
investment in rural and coastal areas; and the provision of the cheapest form of electricity for homes and 
businesses. 

It has been encouraging to see the setting of the Welsh Government’s target to meet 100% of Wales’ electricity 
demand from renewable energy sources by 2035 and net zero by 2050 with supporting activities through the 

 
1 Renewed Importance: How Renewables Cut Energy Bills (ukonward.com) 
2 Analysis: Why UK energy bills are soaring to record highs – and how to cut them - Carbon Brief 
3 Welsh communities poised to seize the green energy opportunity from onshore wind | RenewableUK Cymru 

Tudalen y pecyn 38

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42704
mailto:SeneddEconomy@senedd.wales
https://www.ukonward.com/reports/renewed-importance-renewables-cut-bills/
https://www.carbonbrief.org/analysis-why-uk-energy-bills-are-soaring-to-record-highs-and-how-to-cut-them/
https://www.renewableuk-cymru.com/2023/11/welsh-communities-poised-to-seize-the-green-energy-opportunity-from-onshore-wind/


 
 

Renewable Energy Deep Dive to address barriers to renewable energy deployment. However, an accelerated 
deployment of large-scale renewable energy projects across Wales and in the Irish and Celtic Sea will be key to 
achieving these targets and the pathway to achieving this remains unclear. Now is the time to focus on working in 
partnership between the Welsh Government, industry and communities – and in collaboration with the UK 
Government on reserved matters – to create a positive and aligned policy environment for renewable energy 
deployment, to establish Wales as a leader for net zero, and maximise the associated benefits for the Welsh 
economy, communities, ports, supply chain and enhanced biodiversity. Providing certainty and confidence for 
investment is absolutely crucial. It’s only with project delivery that we will see these benefits realised. With 
significant UK and global competition for renewable energy projects and supply chain capacity and capability, we 
risk losing out on the largest economic opportunity for Wales in decades if we do not provide the right market and 
policy signals.  
 
The scale of the opportunity 

The green and net zero economy concepts are both built on a foundation of renewable energy generation. To realise 
these economic opportunities, a long-term pipeline of projects and certainty for timely delivery is crucial.  

According to ECIU, there are almost 20,000 business across the UK currently within the net zero economy which are 
contributing £71billion (3.7%) in Gross Value Added (GVA) to the UK economy annually. This includes hot spots in 
North-East Wales and South Wales where £310million (4.4%) and £1616million of area GVA comes from the net 
zero economy supporting 3,397 and 16,090 FTEs respectively4. GVA per employee within the net zero economy in 
many regions contrasts to the economy-wide levels. While Wales does not experience high economy-wide 
productivity (where London and the South-East dominate above the UK average), the net zero economy in Wales is 
over three times more productive than its regional average at £181,200 GVA per employee, the highest in the UK. 
This demonstrates that the net zero economy is a highly productive sector for Wales. 

The green economy opportunity for Wales associated with the development and delivery of wind energy projects 
is significant. Wales has an extraordinary opportunity to deploy a variety of onshore and offshore wind energy 
technologies as well as wave, tidal and solar – all of which can bring economic opportunities across the geographical 
regions of Wales, if enabling actions and infrastructure are urgently put in place. To date, Wales currently has just 
under 2GW of operational wind energy projects, including 1250MW of onshore wind and 726MW of fixed offshore 
wind. 

Power generation from Wales’ diverse renewable sources will be at the heart of the future Welsh green economy, 
with the potential to deliver 9GW from wind power alone by 2035. However, this will still be below the target to 
reach the required 29TWh. This 9GW is made up of current capacity and the pipeline of projects under construction, 
consented, in planning or under development. To match the projected rise in demand, this will require more than 
quadrupling the renewable electricity generation in just over 10 years. Yet 
there is an enormous distance to cover. More than three quarters of this 
capacity has not yet been built, and from our research of public domain 
projects, more than half are in the early stages of development, and yet to 
enter the planning system.    

From RenewableUK’s Energy Pulse platform and knowledge of projects not 
yet in the public domain, the potential pipeline includes just under 2.5GW 
of onshore wind (with an additional 2.6GW not in the public domain) and 
2GW of new fixed offshore wind. As well as ~300MW of floating offshore 
wind test and demonstration projects, The Crown Estate’s 4.5GW Leasing 
Round 5 in the Celtic Sea is expected to deliver around 2.5GW of floating 
offshore wind in Welsh waters by 2035 with a potential future pipeline of 
up to an additional 12GW across the region. While offshore wind is set to 
ramp up, onshore wind still remains one of the lowest-cost and quickest to 
develop at scale, with rapid construction times of just over a year. It will be 
crucial for Wales’ decarbonisation efforts especially in the near-term – to 

 
4 Mapping-net-zero-economy-ECIU-CBI-DataCity-Jan2023.pdf (edcdn.com) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Current and in-development onshore and offshore 

wind projects over 10MW (operational and under 

construction) 

Tudalen y pecyn 39

https://ca1-eci.edcdn.com/Mapping-net-zero-economy-ECIU-CBI-DataCity-Jan2023.pdf?v=1675131416


 
 

enable us to move away from fossil fuels faster. A strong onshore pipeline will also support the development of 
consistent Welsh supply chain and skills capacity and capability in preparation for offshore projects. 
 
The deployment of renewable energy technologies has created thousands of jobs, generated millions of pounds in 
investment and contributed to communities. The UK’s renewable energy industry now employs over 40,000 people 
and could employ over 100,000 direct jobs by 2030 people if targets are maintained. Wales stands to see significant 
economic benefits as a result of onshore wind development, with an expected £4.4 billion in additional GVA and 
3,000 jobs by 20305. Floating offshore wind has the potential to deliver 3,200 jobs in Wales and South-West England 
for the first GW of deployment6,  with further forecasts predicting 29,000 floating offshore wind jobs across the UK 
by 20507. As well as significant opportunities for supply chain companies across Wales and adding value from the 
sector locally, Wales can export energy and expertise globally from all technologies. As demonstrated, renewable 
energy development across the project lifecycle directly employs a significant number of workers. To maximise the 
economic benefits to Wales, ensuring our ports and supply chains are ready for the pipeline of projects coming 
through is critical to support thousands of indirect jobs and stimulate wider economic growth. 
 
 
Key challenges and enablers 

The recently published Energy Generation in Wales 2022 report8 shows that Wales only added 43 MW of additional 
installed renewable electricity capacity in 2022, with the proportion of electricity generated in Wales from 
renewables falling from 33% in 2020 to 27% in 2022. Therefore, it is crucial that barriers to renewable development 
including consenting and planning delays, grid capacity, skills bottlenecks, and ports and supply chain readiness 
are addressed to deliver projects successfully and to give developers confidence to continue to invest in Wales. 
Providing certainty for both onshore and offshore wind projects across Wales will be key for long-term and stable 
investment and a pipeline for current and future jobs in the sector for people in Wales. 

We want to see a clean, secure and lowest-cost energy system powered by renewable energy, and supported 
by a thriving domestic supply chain and workforce. We are calling on the Welsh Government in collaboration 
with the sector and key stakeholders to support the following measures to maximise the deployment of 
renewable energy projects and seize the economic opportunities that come with it. 
 

1. Set a clear delivery plan for reaching the 100% renewable energy target by 2035 and net zero by 2050 to 

provide certainty for investment.  

 

2. Within devolved powers, focus on unlocking further consenting and planning resource, providing defined 

timescales for delivery and strategic anticipatory skills investment for critical occupations. 

 

3. Provide leadership and convening power to demonstrate a strong signal that Wales is the place to come to 

invest in the green economy.  

 

4. Collaborate through an improved intergovernmental mechanism on key strategic matters that are 

reserved to the UK Government.  

 

Further details on the above key enablers are provided in the answers to the questions below. We would welcome 

the opportunity to engage with the Senedd committee on the outcomes of this inquiry. 

 
5 onshore_wind_prospectus_fina.pdf (ymaws.com) 
6 Benefits of Floating Offshore Wind to Wales and the South-West: Supply Chain Report – ORE (catapult.org.uk) 
7 Floating Offshore Wind Centre of Excellence | ORE Catapult 
8 Energy Generation in Wales: 2022 (gov.wales) 

Tudalen y pecyn 40

https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.renewableuk.com/resource/resmgr/media/onshore_wind_prospectus_fina.pdf
https://ore.catapult.org.uk/?orecatapultreports=benefits-of-floating-offshore-wind-to-wales-and-the-south-west-supply-chain-report
https://ore.catapult.org.uk/what-we-do/innovation/fowcoe/
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2023-11/energy-generation-in-wales-2022.pdf


 
 

Questions 

1. Within its devolved powers, what should be the Welsh Government’s key priorities to maximise the 

potential economic opportunities from green economy sectors? To what extent does its current 

approach reflect these? 

In order to deliver on the opportunities set out above, there are several key priorities that the Welsh Government 
should focus on to provide certainty in the process and confidence in timescales.  
 
1. Setting a clear delivery plan for reaching the 100% renewable energy target by 2035 and net zero by 2050. 

Producing a plan with stage-gates and defined timescales will provide certainty to the sector. Using devolved 

powers to build confidence and a strong policy environment for delivery – not just ambition – whilst working in 

partnership with the sector will further create market demand, leverage sustained private investment and 

provide pathways for investment in supply chains, skills and training. Setting ambitious technology specific 

minimum targets will maximise the economic, societal and environmental benefits of a diverse energy system 

across Wales. Targets will also provide clear commitment and demand signals to industry of long-term certainty 

to invest in the deployment of renewable energy projects across all technologies. The sector stands poised to 

respond to a positive signal from Welsh Government that there is a role for private investment in onshore wind 

development in Wales. Deep dive recommendation 10 identified the opportunity for an Onshore Wind Sector 

Deal and once the sector is confident of Welsh Government’s commitment to support the deployment of 

onshore wind, we can work in partnership and begin to align the details of a Deal to the benefit of the people, 

economy and net zero ambitions of Wales.  

 

2. Within devolved powers, the Welsh Government’s focus should be on unlocking further consenting and 

planning resource, providing defined timescales for delivery and coordinating strategic anticipatory skills 

investment for critical occupations. These activities will enable accelerated delivery, sufficient engagement 

within the planning process, a consistent deployment of projects to better encourage supply chain investment 

and ensure that we have a skilled workforce ready in Wales to deliver these projects.  

 
 

a) Addressing the lack of consenting and planning resource and providing defined timescales 

Consenting and planning delays pose significant risk to our renewable energy and net zero ambitions in Wales – 

which will inevitably impact related economic opportunities. With targets to reach 70% of electricity demand from 

renewables by 2030 and 100% by 2035, timely consenting and planning will be crucial. 

We will need to more than double the best build rate of energy infrastructure we have achieved in the past fifty 

years and do that every year for the next eleven years. However, in 2023, less than 50% of Developments of National 

Significance (DNS) applications were determined on time. As well as consenting and permitting wind and other 

energy projects, associated infrastructure and supply chain upgrades and industrial decarbonisation projects will 

result in a significant amount of work for Natural Resources Wales (NRW) advisory teams, Welsh Government civil 

servants, Planning and Environment Decisions Wales (PEDW) and Local Planning Authorities (LPA). In addition to 

wind energy projects going through Town and Country Planning Act, DNS, marine licensing processes (and 

eventually the Infrastructure Consenting regime) and grid distribution schemes there will of course be statutory 

consultation requirements for larger projects in Welsh waters (>350MW), grid transmission and over 132Kv and 

cross-border projects going through UK NSIP regimes. The in-combination impacts of multiple projects on permitting 

timelines cannot be underestimated with a majority of levers sitting with Welsh Government. Decarbonising 

industry will be important over the coming decade (for example Pembrokeshire Net Zero Centre, TATA Electric Arc 

Furnace) – and we need renewable energy projects in place to power this future clean energy system – more in 

Wales equals more energy security and more economic opportunity for Wales.  

At present, we have an under-resourced process at WG, NRW, PEDW and LPA level. We are already seeing a rise in 

submissions which will increase rapidly over the next 5 years. A focus is needed on pace as well as scale – to reach 

Tudalen y pecyn 41



 
 

the 2035 targets, we need to see accelerated decision making, more decisions being made, and more decisions 

being made efficiently. Pragmatic decisions are important in this energy transition. With leasing and initial ports 

funding processes now under way, consenting and planning is recognised as one of the most considerable risks for 

ports, developers and the supply chain. Ports upgrades delivered on time are crucial for maximising the benefits of 

offshore wind projects. There is a real risk that offshore projects could be delivered without maximising the benefits 

to Wales if the ports and supply chain are not ready in time.  

The industry of course accepts the need for a robust process. There are many variables and uncertainties within 

renewable energy development however, and de-risking processes and providing certainty where possible is vital 

for delivery. Defined timescales and sufficient resources will be absolutely crucial to address the scale of the 

challenge.  
 

b) Supporting anticipatory skills investment 

To support strategic skills investment, the Welsh Government should develop a workforce strategy and action plan 

in collaboration with the renewable energy industry, training providers and education institutions to bring together 

and strategically coalesce the number of separate activities that are already taking place and identify gaps for future 

programmes. This should be delivered by cross-governmental working groups with dedicated skills resource for 

government, local authorities and statutory bodies. The accompanying actions needed to make sure the skills 

demand is met are outlined in question 4.  

 

3. Provide leadership and convening power to demonstrate a strong signal that Wales is the place to come to 

invest in the green economy and make the case for Welsh projects on a UK level. Timescales are important for 

this sector and therefore in key areas, specific activity that provide strategic intervention need to be driven and 

championed. We have already seen this in the case of Welsh Government’s early funding to de-risk ports’ 

activities. We also need to see support in building the onshore wind supply chain in preparation for offshore 

projects – members feel that a Welsh industry doesn’t currently exist as there hasn’t been enough work to build 

a domestic industry with delivery of a consistent pipeline of projects. For example, Welsh firms and workers 

who worked on Vattenfall’s Pen y Cymoedd onshore wind farm 5 years ago have had to seek work elsewhere. 

The impact of policy inaction is already being felt. One of our other members advised us that they run an 

apprenticeship programme and unfortunately, there were no apprentices taken on in Wales in 2023 and none 

planned for 2024. This is because of the demand for new renewables elsewhere in the UK, where they are 

building new projects. It's a similar story for other renewable energy developers. Wales is unfortunately being 

left behind. Furthermore, anticipatory investment in skills and apprenticeships and work to attract anchor 

companies to Wales that will enable Welsh SMEs to take an active role in the supply chain should be prioritised. 

For example, the Scottish Government have recently put forward grants to secure private sector investment in 

a new cable factory for the offshore wind sector which will leverage inward investment to Scotland9. The actions 

needed to encourage supply chain investment are outlined in question 3. 

 

4. Collaborate through an improved intergovernmental mechanism on key strategic matters that are reserved to 

the UK Government to accelerate the build out of renewable energy projects in a sustainable way. A four nations 

task force with devolved governments and regions would better coordinate the key (reserved and interfacing) 

activities that are relevant to all nations such as building grid capacity, market support, ports and supply chain 

investment, and skills and workforce development.  

 

 
9 Growing Scotland’s green economy - gov.scot (www.gov.scot) 

Tudalen y pecyn 42

https://www.gov.scot/news/growing-scotlands-green-economy/


 
 

2. What are the key barriers to Wales making the most of opportunities in the green economy, and what 

steps should be taken to overcome these? 

Key barriers for Wales to make the most of the green economy centre on lack of certainty and infrastructure. 

• A lack of a detailed plan with actions to ensure certainty and delivery. We welcome the ambition, and we 

now need an associated roadmap that combines the best of private, public and community energy. Detailed 

proposals are needed to tackle issues such as grid, aviation and peatland and marine habitat 

restoration/enhancement which have the power to halt many developments. We need detailed proposals to 

tackle some of these issues and we certainly need a roadmap for deployment of the energy and grid projects 

required to get us to net zero. However, one of the main things we need from the Welsh Government is 

stronger leadership and more co-ordination. The National Infrastructure Commission for Wales recommended 

in their recent report that a vision and action plan should be led and co-ordinated by a cross-Welsh 

Government / public sector / industry delivery group, chaired by the Minister to ensure coordination across 

Government and the public sector. They had received evidence that “various Welsh Government departments 

are acting in an uncoordinated way and that, ultimately, policy is unclear on issues such as soils, peat, 

biodiversity and protected areas”10. At present, we have multiple departments (many sitting in the same 

Climate Change directorate) that are pulling in opposite directions in terms of policy. There is a need to focus 

on what the Welsh Government wants to achieve and then ensure that civil servants are aligned on delivery. 

These projects are significant in size and they will give rise to some environmental impacts - this is expected 

of any development project – however, we won't get to net zero without these projects given the go ahead at 

scale and at pace. The planning process and Environmental Impact Assessments are set up to deal with these 

competing impacts in the public interest and to take advantage of the significant contribution these projects 

will make to offsetting carbon emissions, as well as the socio-economic benefits and biodiversity 

enhancements that will be delivered alongside these projects.  

 

• As explained above, planning and consenting delays. Innovative ways to increase resource should be explored 

such as a central resource pot to support specialist topics and a re-allocation of roles to provide clear career 

pathways in the profession. At present, we have a number of policies and guidance that have different and 

often conflicting aims and objectives which can impact the delivery of renewable energy projects, for example, 

Future Wales and Planning Policy Wales Chapter 6 in the case of onshore wind and visual impact guidance in 

the case of offshore wind.  Clear policy alignment across government would support more efficient and clearer 

decision making.  

 

• Our current insufficient grid network in Wales is a significant barrier to maximising the benefits of the green 
economy. With electricity demand set to more than double11, there is real urgency to develop the 
infrastructure and capitalise on the potential renewable energy opportunities across Wales and the Irish and 
Celtic Seas. Grid buildout needs to happen at pace in parallel with generation. We welcomed the work on 
Future Energy Grids for Wales and the Local Area Energy Plans however these should now align with the 
generation pipeline to maximise opportunities for Wales beyond meeting demand. Supporting the need for a 
North-South transmission route and futureproofing the Holistic Network Design Follow Up Exercise beyond 
the initial 4.5GW is essential to make sure Wales’ grid needs are championed with key stakeholders such as 
Ofgem and National Grid. By working in collaboration with UK stakeholders, we need to ensure that the 
Electricity Networks Commissioner’s recommendations are also delivered effectively in Wales through the 
Transmission Acceleration Action Plan.  

 

• Supply chain capability and port readiness. Immediate investment is needed for ports to increase their 
capacity and capability to support fixed and floating offshore wind projects and the pipeline of work in the 
Irish and Celtic Seas in the years to come. The recently published Celtic Sea Blueprint12 from The Crown Estate 

 
10 Preparing Wales for a Renewable Energy 2050 – report – The National Infrastructure Commission for Wales 
11 Future Energy Scenarios (FES) | ESO (nationalgrideso.com) 
12 The Crown Estate - Celtic Sea Blueprint 

Tudalen y pecyn 43

https://nationalinfrastructurecommission.wales/renewable2050/#background-and-context
https://www.nationalgrideso.com/future-energy/future-energy-scenarios-fes
https://assets.ctfassets.net/nv65su7t80y5/nDXSS9l3qvtscyxa1rIwq/ded23422bbc04bf6a8753cc3623f0016/Celtic_Seas_Blueprint_final_report_Feb2024.pdf


 
 

highlights the minimum requirements needed to deliver the first three projects in the Celtic Sea. It identified 
the gaps, such as ports readiness, availability of service vessels, and export cables to transport electricity to 
land. Addressing these gaps is important to deliver not only these wind farms but the future pipeline and 
global demand.  

We are eagerly awaiting the results of the FLOWMIS scheme and also exploring future potential long-term 
support mechanisms through the RenewableUK led Industry and UK Government Port Task and Finish group. 
The Welsh Government should continue to support regional coordination and collaboration to maximise local 
supply chain opportunities and attract inward investment to grow the domestic supply chain capability using 
stepping-stone projects. The Welsh Government should also work with the UK Government to make sure that 
UK level initiatives such as Contracts for Difference reform, Sustainable Industry Rewards and strategic 
intervention through the Industrial Growth Plan delivers for the industry and supply chain in Wales.  

 

• Skills bottleneck and job transitions. As noted in the answer to question 1 and expanded upon in question 4, 
a skills bottleneck will impact not only project delivery but also the prospects for Welsh jobs. It is important 
to note that in the move to a green and net zero economy a number of jobs will need to transition. Therefore, 
there is a real need to plan ahead to make anticipatory investment in skills development and structured 
transition programmes to not only protect jobs but maximise the economic opportunities for Wales, rather 
than bringing the majority of the workforce from elsewhere.  
 
 

3. What actions should the Welsh Government take to support development of Wales-based supply 

chains in green economy sectors? 

Across the world, it is recognised that there is an enormous need for new supply chain investment to deliver the 
increased wind, green hydrogen and other clean technology targets set out in recent years. There is now a global 
race to decarbonise, leading to significant increase in demand for renewable energy components. This demand 
poses a real risk of creating pan-national supply chain bottle necks which could affect Welsh projects. This issue 
simultaneously presents a risk and an immense opportunity for domestic supply chain development to meet 
market demand.  
 
Given the UK’s leadership in technologies such as fixed bottom and floating offshore wind, green hydrogen and 
tidal stream – coupled with its ambitious targets for future development – both Wales and the wider UK are well 
placed to attract manufacturing investment, in addition to seeing the growth of companies providing goods and 
expertise in operations and maintenance, consenting, and project development. For example, recent analysis has 
found that the UK supply chain for offshore wind alone has the potential to capture £92 billion of GVA by 
204013. However, there is considerable competition for this investment, and the domestic supply chain needs to 
remain internationally attractive in the long run. Notably, the USA and EU have announced a range of new fiscal 
measures and policies to incentivise private investment in ‘green technology’ manufacturing facilities to capitalise 
on this industrial opportunity.  
 
On a UK level there are a number of schemes, policies and investments that will impact the Welsh market. For 

example, leasing expectations around social value from The Crown Estate, impacts of the move from Supply Chain 

Plans to the Sustainable Industry Rewards within the Contracts for Difference Scheme14 from Allocation Round 7 

onwards and the development of the Industrial Growth Plan (by RenewableUK, OWIC, The Crown Estate and Crown 

Estate Scotland). Depending on the outcome of the Floating Offshore Wind Manufacturing Investment Scheme 

(FLOWMIS) process, significant investment could be on its way to South Wales ports to prepare for the floating wind 

opportunity. Making sure UK level initiatives deliver across the UK is vital for investment into Wales.  

 
13 https://www.owic.org.uk/_files/ugd/1c0521_8481391e44014ceda91900ce301adb53.pdf. 
14 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/introducing-a-contracts-for-difference-cfd-sustainable-industry-
reward 

Tudalen y pecyn 44

https://www.owic.org.uk/_files/ugd/1c0521_8481391e44014ceda91900ce301adb53.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/introducing-a-contracts-for-difference-cfd-sustainable-industry-reward
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/introducing-a-contracts-for-difference-cfd-sustainable-industry-reward


 
 

According to The Crown Estate’s Celtic Sea Blueprint15, there are a number of opportunities for South Wales and   
South-West England “from the assembly of the large floating platforms needed to house the turbines, building on 
the existing local high-skilled welding and concrete expertise and existing local suppliers. It highlighted opportunities 
for local ports across the region from the assembly, transport and storage of parts during the construction and life-
cycle of the sites. The first three windfarms alone will need: 

• More than 260 turbines spread across the three sites, each some 300 metres tall, around the same height as 
The Shard, on a floating platform about the size of a football pitch 

• More than 1000 anchors to secure the floating turbines to the seabed, with at least 300km of mooring lines 

• Nearly 900km of cables (enough to stretch four times the length of Wales / nearly enough to stretch from 
Lands End to John O Groats) to link up turbines and connect them to the electricity network”. 

In Wales, we have the potential to be at the forefront of driving development with key stone ports and a number 
of SMEs with transferable skills and experience. With a skilled manufacturing base to feed into this new industry, 
investment in the region now is critical to develop our port capabilities. We need to attract the right anchor 
companies to develop our own local supply chain capabilities and safeguard against bottlenecks in project delivery. 
Identifying our competitive advantages in Wales to prioritise first-mover investment will kick start this opportunity. 
Using data from OWIC’s Supply Chain Capability Analysis, Industrial Growth Plan and the FLOW Task Force (of which 
we welcome Welsh Government’s active participation), will support this identification and prioritisation. This work 
should be done with urgency so that the opportunity isn’t lost as it did with turbines in the past.  
 
There are a number of experienced companies in Wales such as Jones Bros working on onshore and offshore 

projects in Scotland and the North-East of England. Local companies need to see developments being consented 

years in advance to give them reassurance that there is a pipeline of projects to work on; otherwise they will seek 

work elsewhere in the UK or abroad. With certainty through a clear action plan for the delivery of the diverse 

onshore and offshore project pipeline in Wales, Welsh companies can build capacity and capability to meet the 

demand.  

Furthermore, increasing the capacity of specialists with renewable energy supply chain technical expertise within 

the Welsh Government as they do in Scotland could help coordinate collaborative approaches and advise developers 

of the Welsh supply chain offer. The Welsh Government can also assist with seizing several priority opportunities to 

further Wales’s role in this sector, by working with existing Welsh businesses to invest in carbon-neutral production 

facilities to secure material supply, including sufficient concrete supply and improving local market share for 

reinforcement steel.   

Continued resourcing and capacity building of the clusters – the Offshore Energy Alliance in North Wales and the 
Celtic Sea Cluster - will support coordination and strategic investment. Further using the Growth Deals across Wales 
including in Mid Wales to drive investment and export opportunities from renewables will be vital for building 
supply chain confidence.  
 
 

4. What skills challenges exist in relation to transitioning to a green economy? What actions should be 

taken, and by whom, to ensure the skills are there to meet the growing demands of a green economy? 

We are at a critical juncture in Wales to prepare our future workforce for the opportunities that lie ahead through 

the development of wind energy projects – which will also support other key industrial decarbonisation and net 

zero developments. Renewable energy generation underpins the green economy story across Wales. 

Decarbonisation of electricity should enable the decarbonising of heat, industry and transport, and logically priority 

should be given to growing the resources and skills in renewable energy and the electricity grid in order to enable 

progress in these areas.  To capitalise and maximise on these opportunities for jobs and economic growth for Wales, 

 
15 Supply chain for Celtic Sea floating wind farms could power 5,000 new jobs and a £1.4bn boost for the economy | 
The Crown Estate 

Tudalen y pecyn 45

https://www.thecrownestate.co.uk/news/supply-chain-for-celtic-sea-floating-wind-farms-could-power-5-000-new-jobs
https://www.thecrownestate.co.uk/news/supply-chain-for-celtic-sea-floating-wind-farms-could-power-5-000-new-jobs


 
 

urgent investment in skills development is needed to ensure Wales does not miss out on these opportunities. The 

Welsh Government has key convening powers and a capital investment role to play whilst working together with 

industry to bring forward strategic activities that coalesce activities with a shared vision and priorities for Net Zero 

skills in Wales. Unfortunately, recent cuts to the apprenticeship budget in Wales will mean that the much-needed 

increase in the scale and pace of apprenticeships will be difficult to meet. 

To stimulate the green economy in Wales, by the 2030s, our vision is for the wind energy sector to be among the 

most attractive, equitable, diverse and inclusive sectors to work within in the Welsh and wider UK economy, with 

clear pathways to employment for new talent and those moving sectors during their careers. To accelerate the 

delivery of renewable energy to meet targets, we need a strong and stable workforce in Wales. According to the 

Offshore Wind Industry Council (OWIC)’s Offshore Wind Skills Intelligence Report, to meet the UK Government’s 

British Energy Security Strategy 50GW target by 2030, we need to attract and retain around 100,000+ people in the 

offshore wind sector alone.  That represents an increase of some 70,000 on today’s estimated workforce and 

highlights the overall challenge for the UK. However, it also demonstrates the opportunity for Wales to develop 

people with the skills to support the entire renewable energy sector as well as the challenge it will face in 

competition for labour within the UK itself as well as with other sectors. Recent estimates suggest that, between 

now and 2050, the floating wind sector alone could create 37,000 jobs16 and many of these could be in Wales to 

support projects in the Celtic Sea. These offshore numbers are only a part of the requirement. To deliver on 

decarbonisation, Wales and the wider UK will need significantly more people to deliver renewable energy projects 

and maximise the opportunity and benefits for the Welsh economy.  

In terms of the level of skills/employment challenge, the main concerns were prioritised as follows: 

1. Shortage of specialist skills/labour 

2. Attracting new talent 

3. Encouraging young people into the industry 

4. Losing existing talent 

5. Retention of graduates 

The main barriers identified by our members to address the skills needs in Wales are a lack of: 

• A singular, solid delivery plan/pathway with coordination from a central point in Wales which interfaces with 

the wider UK requirement. There isn’t enough cohesion and clear messaging on skills. There is currently 

fragmentation of the skills system i.e. piece-meal activity taking place, but a strategic approach is needed rather 

than on a project-by-project basis.  

• Lacking an industrial strategy for Wales in terms of key competitive advantage areas. 

• An associated lack of clarity over leasing and consenting timelines/timescales leads to uncertainty for projects. 

This affects supply chain and thus economic growth and skills as without an understanding of volume and 

pipeline it’s difficult for businesses to understand the need to scale-up and invest. 

• Knowledge, awareness and understanding of the sector and the opportunities it presents (including industry 

roles and what they entail). Lack of local knowledge and career guidance amongst both school-age students 

and those of working age. 

• Funding and not enough resource in the public sector to 'own' this challenge. 

• Local Infrastructure including housing, schools, provisions which will be vital to support a growing workforce in 

specific regions associated with these projects. 

• Conflicting public policy objectives and Government priorities, inflexible existing skills structure. 

• Buy in by some educators and providers. 

• Urgency to move forward the skills agenda strategically. There is a significant risk that Wales will lose out on the 

opportunity if the workforce isn’t ready. 

 
16 (ReEnergise-Summer2022-WV.pdf (catapult.org.uk)) 

Tudalen y pecyn 46



 
 

• Sufficient number of courses in further and higher education across the country to train and provide the 

necessary qualifications. 

• Experienced older workers. With the loss of these workers in the coming years, there is limited opportunities 

to pass on knowledge and skills to younger workers. 

• Centre of excellence hub and skills centres. As skills are largely being looked at regionally, associated with 

specific projects, opportunities for centralised, highly effective and valuable centres of excellence are being 

overlooked. 

• Approach which looks at onshore and offshore projects holistically to smooth pipeline. 

• Approach to better able people to transition between sectors to match demands. 

There is a risk of institutional ‘bottlenecks’ that could impact on the ability to deliver the energy transition, which 

includes a lack of relevant skills training and qualified workers to carry out the scale of work required. As the wider 

UK, Europe and the world turns increasingly towards clean energy development, it is essential for a just transition 

that the workforce in Wales is equipped with the skills to take up new employment opportunities. Without this, 

new career opportunities, helping to revitalise communities across Wales, will not be maximised. As it stands, there 

is no joined-up, strategic forward plan to tackle these issues, which could come to play an increasingly restrictive 

role in the rollout of new clean energy infrastructure and associated economic development opportunities. 

The industry’s overall focus is on supporting: priority occupations (outlined further in the response), cluster-based 

partnerships, a just transition and a diverse and inclusive sector. These cross-cutting themes should prioritise 

activities for attraction and recruitment, retention and upskilling, training provision and educational outreach.  

To deliver on these, the Welsh Government should develop a workforce strategy and action plan in collaboration 

with the renewable energy industry, training providers and education institutions to bring together and strategically 

coalesce the number of separate activities that are already taking place and identify gaps for future programmes. 

This should be delivered by cross-governmental working groups with dedicated skills resource for government, local 

authorities and statutory bodies. 

The action plan should include actions for government and industry to work collaboratively: 

• To clearly identify the range of skills needed and timeframe for the requirement for industry to deliver the 

2035 target. The timeline should indicate the number of jobs and roles required year on year to fulfil net 

zero ambitions which should then translate to a delivery plan for skills and training provision requirements 

from further and higher education and a corresponding personnel figure.  

 

• Developing a compelling offer for the workforce in collaboration with other stakeholders through 

attraction, recruitment, retention and upskilling. This offer should include: providing clear information on 

career pathways and job profiles, ensuring that the right apprenticeship frameworks exist in Wales aligned 

to priority occupations, with the supporting quality training provision to deliver these.  A step change in 

apprenticeship funding and attracting young people, local residents and people from other industries, 

through communications and career engagement tools. For example, national Net Zero opportunity 

campaigns and supporting skills passporting arrangements across the sector. We also need a clear financial 

offering to help people actively choose green training options over and above others, e.g. through payment 

of bursaries, grants and financial support17. According to the Local Government Association, 80% of the 

workforce needed for 2030 are currently in the labour market. It is not only industry and developers that 

require more skilled people. Parts of the public sector that are critical to help realise the renewable energy 

potential are vital i.e. well-resourced and skilled public bodies. 

 

• A focused effort to prioritise Critical Occupations ensuring the industry tackles the skills and recruitment 

to the roles the sector needs first and most and engaging with and provide capital funding for those training 

 
17 https://www.edge.co.uk/documents/472/Skills_Shortages_Bulletin_13.pdf 

Tudalen y pecyn 47

https://www.edge.co.uk/documents/472/Skills_Shortages_Bulletin_13.pdf


 
 

providers who will help us to do so. Focus of funding should be on priority sectors, critical occupations and 

industry bottlenecks. The first of these will be planning and consenting roles.  

 

• The industry will work collaboratively for place-based solutions through cluster-based and local 

partnerships where strategies and plans delivered at a national level work hand in glove with tailored, 

impactful local solutions. 

 

• Improve future sector data collection specific to Wales – aim to establish a clear baseline of the state of 

jobs and skills across net zero sectors in Wales, gather survey data from across small and medium-sized 

businesses and data with regards to diversity and under-represented groups. Assessing teachers and 

careers advisers’ understanding of industry opportunities and needs would also be beneficial18.A recent 

report by the University of Strathclyde ‘The Economic Impact of Scotland's Renewable Energy Sector’19 

demonstrates the importance for initial up-front investment to make the most of the opportunity and 

support presented by the renewable energy sector including significant GVA for other sectors and 

industries. 

 

• A communication campaign to promote green jobs, career pathways and routes into the sector. This 

should work cohesively across the UK and devolved governments to promote sector opportunities, the 

differentiation and categorisation of roles (e.g., planning, technical and sector-specific, construction etc.), 

to communicate jobs in a new and exciting way (e.g. the role of planning in place-making and delivering 

infrastructure that the world will need by 2035 and beyond), case studies to encourage diversity and 

inclusivity within the sector and provide clear information for young people and those of working age to 

access information about careers. A collaborative framework for national, regional and local educational 

outreach, support and engagement would strategically inform pupils, students and parents about the 

opportunity the sector represents.  

 

• Onshore projects (wind, solar, battery storage) will be crucial stepping stones to develop the workforce 

for hydrogen and offshore wind at scale. This represents a significant opportunity for sustained upskilling 

of personnel in Wales, with skills demand building steadily as a green runway to the needs of the offshore 

sector.  These skills will be both demanded and transferable throughout the sector – making the need for 

renewable energy focussed skills more acute, particularly in the wider UK context. It is also important to 

note that other energy sectors – nuclear, decarbonisation of heavy industry will require similar skillsets – 

driving an exponential need for focussed delivery of skills in a timely fashion to meet 2035 targets for Net 

Zero. 

 

Extensive detail on the actions needed to be taken and by who are outlined in our response to the Welsh 

Government’s consultation on Net Zero Sector Skills.  

 

5. What will workers and employers need for a just transition to a Net Zero economy to be achieved, and 

what actions should the Welsh Government take to deliver the elements of this that lie within its 

devolved powers? 

As highlighted in the Welsh Government’s Net Zero Sector Skills and Just Transition consultations. Also, according 

to the Green Jobs Taskforce report produced for the UK Government20, “the potential economic opportunities of 

the transition to a low carbon economy are becoming clearer, with domestic and global markets in low carbon 

 
18 SWIC, Port of Milford Haven (2022) Milford Haven Waterway Energy Sector Skills Study 
19 The_Economic_Impact_of_Scotland_s_Renewable_Energy_Sector_original.pdf (scottishrenewables.com) 
20 Green Jobs Taskforce report - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Tudalen y pecyn 48

https://www.scottishrenewables.com/assets/000/003/544/FINAL_The_Economic_Impact_of_Scotland_s_Renewable_Energy_Sector_original.pdf?1702890740
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/green-jobs-taskforce-report/green-jobs-taskforce-report


 
 

technologies estimated to be worth billions of pounds to the UK economy over the coming decades. All sectors of 

the UK will go through a transformation on the journey to net zero and this will impact the workers and communities 

they sustain”. Governments, industry and the education sector across all stages of the green jobs life cycle need to 

build pathways into green careers for people from all backgrounds; and to ensure that workers and communities 

dependent on the high carbon economy are supported with the transition. A clear pipeline of projects will provide 

confidence in the volume of work available locally 

There are a number of actions currently undertaken through the Scottish Onshore Sector Deal and the UK Offshore 

Wind Industry Council that the Welsh Government can learn from and work with industry to deliver. These include, 

for example, commitment from the sector to enhancing the current skills and training provision for apprenticeships, 

transition and vocational modules and passporting initiatives between heavy industry to the offshore renewables 

sector respectively. 

 

6. How will the Welsh Government need to work in partnership with others to realise the potential of the 

green economy and deliver a just transition? To what extent is the partnership working that is needed 

being undertaken? 

Collaboration is absolutely key for delivery. Developing a partnership between the public, private and community 

sectors with a mechanism for regular and sustained cooperation will not only improve delivery but also build social 

capital to garner trust between the government and the sector. 

To ensure a green economy is realized that bring multiple economic, social and environmental benefits to Wales 

there needs to be a recognition of the returns currently being delivered to Wales plc through employment, contracts 

and environmental management (as well as community benefits). There is a need for a concerted effort to recognize 

that all parties’ developments are needed to reach net zero – public, private and community projects - and this is 

not taking away from Wales in GDP or otherwise. By working together, there is an export market that is not extractive 

and that could bring multiple added benefits in economic terms but also in local opportunities for Welsh jobs and 

businesses sharing Welsh expertise and services globally. 

To realise the significant potential that the diverse mix of renewable energy projects can bring to Wales, there is a 

need for strong collaboration between the Welsh Government and key stakeholders including the UK Government, 

renewable energy developers, the supply chain, ports, Ofgem, National Grid and The Crown Estate to ensure there 

is a streamlined, facilitating environment for development, to create a certainty in pipeline of projects and increase 

investor confidence.  

Legislative reforms are being explored for The Crown Estate’s powers to borrow capital and invest to enable the 

delivery of leasing round projects. The Welsh Government should continue to work closely with The Crown Estate 

to identify strategic areas of investment that will maximise regeneration and economic growth for the region. 

While the role of government will be crucial, it will not be able to deliver net zero on its own. A societally inclusive, 

economy-wide effort will be needed, with coordination of activity at all levels. The four nations task force proposed, 

including representation from governments and industry, should therefore be established to maintain momentum 

and coherence on key strategic issues such as support for delivering large-scale infrastructure – grids and ports – 

and supply chain investment. 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 49



 
 

7. The Welsh Government says it will face considerable budgetary constraints in the short term. How 

should it prioritise investment to support development of the green economy over the shorter and 

longer-term? What innovative approaches to financing could be considered to maximise potential 

investment and benefits? 

• There is real need to recognise the potential represented by private investment. Creating a clear and 

unequivocable signal that makes Wales an attractive place to do renewable business will be vital to 

stimulate the green economy. Prioritising investment which leverages private sector funding will support 

the government’s objectives in a range of areas.  

• Increasing confidence and delivery by prioritising and re-allocating funding for consenting and planning 

resource and skills programmes will in turn maximise investment in areas such as biodiversity restoration 

and enhancement programmes and job creation.  

• Allowing the private sector to collaborate with the aim of some developments in long-term shared 

ownership.  

• Supporting Clean Growth Hubs, Growth Deals and Clusters as networks to share resources, develop 

infrastructure streamline resource and support local growth by coordinating and attracting investment. 

• Recognising that for Wales to capitalise and maximise this green economic opportunity, the consideration 

of export prospects of this industry should go beyond providing power to the rest of the UK - and should 

focus on the associated potential industrial growth.  

• The Contracts for Difference mechanism is a critical financial support framework available for 

renewable energy projects in the UK. A graph from the Low Carbon Contracts Company, who operate 

the CfD scheme, shows that historically very few Welsh projects have been awarded a CfD compared 

to England and Scotland. Given this backdrop and the latest AR5 result, it underscores the pressing 

need to facilitate the right investment environment in Wales to meet the step-change in deployment 

needed by 2035. This should be supported by the Welsh Government providing clear policy positions 

and strategic investment support decisions to attract significant inward investment to Wales.21 

 

 

 

 

 
21 Future-Energy-Wales-The-Critical-Role-of-Welsh-Wind-Power.pdf (renewableuk-cymru.com) 

Tudalen y pecyn 50

https://www.renewableuk-cymru.com/wp-content/uploads/Future-Energy-Wales-The-Critical-Role-of-Welsh-Wind-Power.pdf


  

 

 
“Rhoi’r pŵer i fusnesau greu dyfodol gwyrdd” 

“Empowering businesses to build greener futures” 
 
 

1 
 

Driving the COGS to start a green industrial revolution in Wales 
Author: Ben Burggraaf, Chief Executive Officer, Net Zero Industry Wales 

 

1. Introduction to Net Zero Industry Wales 
Net Zero Industry Wales (NZIW) is a not-for-profit body which provides independent 

guidance and support to Welsh industries in their transition to delivering net zero.  

Established in 2022, with support from Welsh Government & Welsh Industry, it aims to 

provide a neutral & trusted voice, whilst empowering industry to play an active role in the 

delivery of net zero through the uptake of low carbon technologies. 

Net Zero Industry Wales seeks to fosters collaboration (private & public sector) and helps to 

unlock investment, with the ultimate aim of making Wales the country of choice for 

sustainable goods and services. 

 

2. Background 

Welsh Energy Landscape 

Like the rest of the UK, macro factors have led to Wales facing rising energy costs and 

greater uncertainty of energy supply. 

Wales generates c.9% of total UK generated electricity, and there continues to be reliance 

on imported gas to generate electricity sufficient to meet demand. Wales, along with 

Scotland and Northern Ireland, are net exporters of electricity, with the majority going to 

England. Electricity generated from renewable sources accounts for c.30% total generation, 

largely from onshore and offshore wind. Despite Wales’ geography enabling an endowment 

of wind and wave power potential, its renewable generation share is the lowest of all UK 

countries and has been since 2012.  

On the demand-side, Wales’ energy consumption has fallen by 24% from 2005 to 2022, 

largely driven by a decline in industrial use, such as crude steel production. 

Wales has a limited window to accelerate its transition to renewables that can provide 

social value and secure long-term energy stability. This requires a green industrial strategy 

underpinned by strong industry collaboration. 

Tudalen y pecyn 51



  

 

 
“Rhoi’r pŵer i fusnesau greu dyfodol gwyrdd” 

“Empowering businesses to build greener futures” 
 
 

2 
 

Wales’ energy ambition 

Welsh manufacturing & power sectors contribute up to 50% of the nation’s carbon 

footprint1. Since the closure of the coal mines, these sectors have struggled to gain access to 

competitively priced energy in the region and wider UK. 

There are multiple targets set by the Welsh Government and other stakeholders that will 

require the Welsh energy sector to unlock its full potential with renewable technologies and 

reduce dependence on fossil fuels. 

Wales must generate electricity equal to 70% of its consumption from renewable sources by 

2030, and the Welsh Government is consulting on whether to introduce a 100% target by 

2035. As of 2021, c.55% of electricity consumption in Wales was generated from renewable 

sources. Additionally, at least 1 GW of renewable energy capacity to be locally owned by 

2030 and 1.5 GW by 2035. In 2021, 897 MW of renewable electricity capacity was locally 

owned.  

Meeting the 2030 and 2035 targets will require an urgent step-change to accelerate Wales’ 

renewable energy project deployment. Our analysis, below, outlines the need for renewable 

generation to increase by c.280% to meet the 2035 target. 

 

Practical implications of targets 

  2021 2030F 2035F 

Electricity Generation (TWh) 27 33 48 

Electricity Consumption (TWh) 14 19 29 

Renewable generation as a % of consumption 55% 
(Actual) 

70% 
(Target) 

100% 
(Target) 

Implied absolute renewable generation required to meet targets 
(TWh) 7.7 13.3 29.0 

Increase in renewable generation from 2021 required to meet 
targets  – 73% 277% 

Note: F = forecast 

  

 

Achieving Wales’ energy ambition not straightforward 

Welsh Coal drove the original industrial revolution and played a substantial role in shaping 

Wales’s proud industrial & cultural heritage. Wales could be at the heart of the next 

Industrial Revolution.  

But the path toward this, is not an easy one. Welsh reliance on imported gas in the context 

of rising energy costs and energy supply uncertainty means Wales needs to accelerate 

 
1 Source: Climate Change Committee – Progress report Reducing emissions in Wales – 2020 emission level 
(industry & power sectors combined value) – published June 2023 

Tudalen y pecyn 52



  

 

 
“Rhoi’r pŵer i fusnesau greu dyfodol gwyrdd” 

“Empowering businesses to build greener futures” 
 
 

3 
 

actions for long term energy security. Solutions need to increase domestic control and 

provide greater cost certainty. So far, Wales has relied on predictable and centralised 

energy supply from the grid, coupled with market mechanisms to balance supply and 

demand. Balancing mechanisms have been costly and heavily reliant on gas and large 

players in the market. 

In addition, the recent announcement by Tata Steel regarding the Port Talbot Steelworks 

will have a significant impact on not just their workforce, but their families and the 

surrounding communities.  

But contrary to these recent events, the historical trend of industrial decline and the wider 

belief that decarbonisation of industry leads to job losses, there is actually a bright future 

for industry in Wales, if only the opportunity is unlocked now. 

 

3. The South Wales Industrial Cluster (SWIC) Plan  

Affordable, sustainable & secure 

Wales must now deliver a just energy transition that results in affordable, sustainable and 

secure energy. Reliable and predictable renewable energy generation will enable Wales to 

use energy and gain a competitive advantage for industries with intensive energy use.  

Furthermore, increased export requirements from renewable generation centres to satisfy 

wider UK demand as forecast by the National Grid’s - “Future Energy Scenarios'' (FES) 

require investments in generation, transmission and flexibility solutions. 

Over the last 5 years, the manufacturing & power sectors in the South Wales region, which 

contributes to the overall majority of Wales’s industrial emission and is one of the largest 

industrial clusters in the UK, has worked together to create the South Wales Industrial 

Cluster plan. This plan was published in March 20232.  

The SWIC cluster plan outlines an ambitious pathway, to reduce 16 million tons of CO2 by 

2040, requiring £30 billion of mainly private investment, to make this a reality. This pathway 

not only ensures that industry in Wales continues to produce high value goods & services, 

but also provides a quicker route to decarbonise, compared to the counter factual, i.e. the 

continued de-industrialisation of the energy intensive industry in Wales. 

A significant proportion of the emissions reduction achieved since 1990 (54% since 1990) 

was achieved by de-industrialisation, as manufacturing & associated emissions were 

offshored over this period. This isn’t only globally irresponsible, but also makes the nation’s 

supply chain less resilient and removes well paid jobs from our economy, demonstrated by 

the 47% reduction in manufacturing jobs over the same period3. 

 
2 SWIC: A plan for green growth – March 2023 
3 Aldersgate Group Report: Economic benefits of  

Tudalen y pecyn 53



  

 

 
“Rhoi’r pŵer i fusnesau greu dyfodol gwyrdd” 

“Empowering businesses to build greener futures” 
 
 

4 
 

Wales has significant renewable energy generation potential, which is an important source 

of new energy and it’s expected to become globally cost competitive in the long term. This 

will drive a new “green” industrial revolution and enable Welsh industries to prosper, be 

more resilient & sustainable and contribute to a more equal & globally responsible Wales. 

Details of the SWIC plan, which is a blue print for the wider industrial decarbonisation across 

Wales and the associated 5 step decarbonisation pathway, were shared with the committee 

in February and incorporated as an appendix to this paper (see appendix 1). 

 

The importance of industry and government collaboration 

Collaboration between government and industry is crucial to develop and implement 

roadmaps on a cluster-by-cluster basis to develop the right culture, policy & regulation 

framework and infrastructure, to achieve the Welsh net-zero targets. 

Government 

Government (both UK government, Welsh government where devolved powers exist, and 

Welsh local authorities) must provide support through policy, investment, and 

infrastructure. Government needs to take decisive action to address the binding constraints 

and market confidence that can make investment in renewables a challenge.  

Examples of actions by government can include: 

• Establish timelines in close collaboration with Industry for clusters to achieve 

renewable energy and net-zero targets. The Innovate UK Industrial Decarbonisation 

Challenge program, led by Innovate UK has been very effective to do so for the large 

industrial clusters, however now has come to an end.  

• Establish & continue the deployment of innovation competitions to facilitate early 

phase projects and development of new clusters (regions) and Clean Growth Hubs 

(places), in particular the ones that are “dispersed”.  

• Develop economic models to support low-carbon infrastructure, which include ways 

to support anticipatory investment in electricity, hydrogen, port and other enabling 

infrastructure. 

• Support (applied) research and development investment into renewable energy and 

or deep decarbonisation initiatives, to support industrial and wider societal “deep” 

decarbonisation beyond 2040.  

• Encourage investment into emissions reduction through financial incentives such as 

tax credits, loans, grants, revenue support mechanisms (eg. Contracts for Difference) 

or even government backed guarantees.  

 
industrial decarbonisation – September 2023 

Tudalen y pecyn 54



  

 

 
“Rhoi’r pŵer i fusnesau greu dyfodol gwyrdd” 

“Empowering businesses to build greener futures” 
 
 

5 
 

• Leverage existing infrastructure and brown land to facilitate the formation of Clean 

Growth Hubs, building on the existing industrial activity, combined with anticipatory 

investment in infrastructure.  

• Reduce regulatory barriers, in particular areas where government has devolved 

powers, such as lengthy planning & environmental permitting processes, and reduce 

uncertainty by appropriately resourcing the statutory bodies. 

 

Industry 

Industry must closer collaborate with government, the regulators and its surrounding 

communities (aligned with the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act) and lead the way to 

establish financial support. Examples of actions from industry can include: 

• Build trust between partners within clusters within the regions and the clean growth 

hubs more locally, by forming working groups with representatives from all 

stakeholders, with the aim to create strong public-private sector partnerships. 

• Assess the range of industries within each of the geographic regions to understand 

the needs within the clean growth hub, to develop a place based decarbonisation 

pathway (using the 5 “Cogs” outlines in the SWIC cluster plan, see appendix 1). 

• Develop commercially viable models and risk sharing initiatives such as power 

purchase agreements (PPAs), which are underwritten by Government, to reduce the 

financing risks for the developers.  

• Create sustainable funding model for energy and decarbonisation investments, 

which not only looks at the historical costs of energy but also forward, i.e. take into 

account the potential “shocks” and increased volatility of the energy markets, to 

increase resilience, as well build in the societal cost of carbon emissions. 

• Financially support the creation of strong public & private sector partnerships, which 

unlucks anticipatory investment in skilled resources, as well as co-fund the resources 

needed to appropriately resource the statutory bodies, beyond “business as usual”, 

to ensure they aren’t on the critical path of the delivery of net zero. 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 55



  

 

 
“Rhoi’r pŵer i fusnesau greu dyfodol gwyrdd” 

“Empowering businesses to build greener futures” 
 
 

6 
 

4. Making the South Wales Industrial Cluster plan a reality 
The SWIC plan outlined in the previous paragraphs, requires £30 billion of private 

investment4, over a period between 2025 – 2040. This equating to an average investment 

rate of £2 billion per annum. 

Alongside this, there is the deployment of the Floating Offshore Wind (FLOW) technology in 

the Celtic Sea, with each GW requiring ca. £3 billion of investment. With 16.5GW in the 

pipeline, this would need at least a further £50 billion of investment to deliver.    

This level of investment in industrial decarbonisation, alongside the deployment of FLOW is 

unprecedented and requires a high level of coordination & planning, delivered through 

private-public sector partnerships, to ensure that: 

• The private investment can be attracted with the appropriate level of UK 

Government revenue support (CO2, hydrogen, electricity business models, Contracts 

for Difference, etc.); 

• Planning and environmental consents can be secured in a timely fashion, to reach 

financial investment decisions; 

• Wales has the capability to manufacture materials & sub-components and people to 

construct, build & maintain the assets, which ensures that the social value is retained 

in Wales. 

In recognition of this need to coordinate and plan, Net Zero Industry Wales (NZIW) has been 

tasked, to lead & support the delivery of the decarbonisation plans of the Welsh Industrial 

Clusters (SWIC & NEWID) and its partners.  

Each of its NZIW’s members have signed up to the following pledge:  

“The Net Zero Industry Wales members are committed to transition towards producing 

more sustainable goods & services in Wales, as set out in the cluster plan(s), at a pace 

needed to meet the legally binding targets.  

However, in a globally competitive environment, Welsh Industry needs the active support 

of UK, as well as Welsh Government, to create the Supportive Culture, Policy & Regulatory 

frameworks and Attractive Infrastructure that creates a level playing field, encourages 

the significant investment needed to make the transition to Net Zero and prevents carbon 

leakage. 

This investment will build on Wales's Industrial Heritage and power the Green Industrial 

Revolution needed, to create a trusted, sustainable, prosperous & resilient industry that 

the citizens of Wales can continue to be proud off.” 

 

 
4 SWIC: A plan for green growth – March 2023 

Tudalen y pecyn 56



  

 

 
“Rhoi’r pŵer i fusnesau greu dyfodol gwyrdd” 

“Empowering businesses to build greener futures” 
 
 

7 
 

4.1 Barrier 1: UK Government revenue support for Welsh Industry 

From its inception, NZIW has been working in collaboration with UK & Welsh Government 

and its members, supported by Innovate UK grant support, to develop a credible solution to 

liquify & ship CO2 from South Wales to one of the industrial clusters that are either part of 

Track 1 or 2 of the cluster sequencing program led by the Department of Energy Security & 

Net Zero (DESNZ).  

This is a priority because without local geological carbon storage opportunities, the shipping 

of CO2 is the only way that emitters in SWIC can access storage for captured CO2.   

To date Innovate UK has committed roughly £20 million of investment to develop these 

solutions. This grant funding has been matched by private sector investment as part of the 

Industrial Decarbonisation Cluster program.   

As outlined in the South Wales Industrial Cluster plan, deployment of Carbon Capture & 

Storage technology is the first main step in the delivery of this plan.  Therefore, developing a 

credible solution & demonstrating that UK Government revenue support through the CO2 

business models, represents “Value for Money” for the UK tax payer, will enable one of the 

largest industrial clusters in the UK, to access the £20 billion of financial support to deploy 

Carbon Capture & Storage technology and hence enable a just transition.  

In the summer of 2023, NZIW commissioned an economic study to investigate whether 

liquifying & shipping CO2 represents value for money for the UK tax payer and therefore 

justifies UK treasury support. 

The report published in December 2023 concluded that there is a strong economic case for 

CO2 shipping, as the deployment of a shipping solution, is forecasted to deliver £18.9 billion 

of GVA contribution over 20 years compared to the counter narrative, i.e. continued de-

industrialisation of South Wales.  

To unlock this social value and £8.6 billion of private investment, £2.4 billion of revenue 

support is forecasted to be needed over 20 years. This equates to 12% of the £20 billion of 

support that he UK treasury has already committed to support the deployment of carbon 

capture & storage technology in the UK and equivalent to Wales’s proportional contribution 

to the total UK emissions covered by the UK Emissions Trading Scheme.  

To date, non-pipeline-transport (NPT) solutions, i.e. the shipping of CO2 hasn’t secured firm 

support from the UK Government. However DESNZ has announced in its CCUS vision that 

subject to certain conditions, it’s planning to support NPT solutions from 2025 onwards 

following a consultation in 2024, with the aim to deploy the at scale beyond 2030.  

Given the significance of the South Wales Industrial Cluster and that it has no geological 

storage for CO2 within pipeline range, the cluster needs access to storage via ship, in order 

to support the delivery of Welsh and UK Governments legally binding decarbonisation 

targets for 2030 and beyond. 

Tudalen y pecyn 57



  

 

 
“Rhoi’r pŵer i fusnesau greu dyfodol gwyrdd” 

“Empowering businesses to build greener futures” 
 
 

8 
 

To unlock the opportunity of shipping CO2, the UK Government needs to allow emitters that 

can only access geological storage by ship, like those in South Wales, to access business 

model support.  More specifically the ask is to allow existing Track 2 clusters like the Scottish 

(Acorn) and/or Humber (Viking) clusters, to include NPT solutions in their Anchor Plans, 

which DESNZ requests the Track 2 clusters to produce, in December 2023, alongside the 

CCUS vision announcement.  

Furthermore, UK Government should support the development of a CO2 liquefaction port 

infrastructure in South Wales and select SWIC as the pioneer pilot project in the UK, both as 

part of the Celtic Freeport development and demonstrate CO2 shipping at scale, ahead of 

full deployment from 2030 onwards. 

Delivering this will help unlock the shipping of CO2 as a national opportunity and support the 

hydrogen economy in Wales (Step 2). Both of which are key enablers of a future 

decarbonised electricity system. 

To enable the development of a hydrogen pipeline between Milford Haven and Port Talbot, 

(connecting the two Celtic Freeport ports) and attract the necessary investment, Wales & 

West Utilities need approval from the energy market regulator OFGEM. This to allow them 

to recover the significant investment in this pipeline, through their customer’s bills, over its 

asset life (45 years).  

The study “Future Energy Grids for Wales”5 commissioned and published by the Welsh 

Government, clearly outlines a need for a hydrogen transmission & distribution network to 

transport the hydrogen generated in Wales. To that end, NZIW would like to see OFGEM  

making the necessarily changes in gas licencing regulations, in order to allow companies like 

Wales & West Utilities to recover the investment, in the same way as investments into 

natural gas infrastructure for the next Price Control period (2026-2031).   

Further delays in providing clarity on whether the South Wales Industrial Cluster can access 

the CO2 business model support and whether investment’s in hydrogen infrastructure can 

be recovered through customer’s bills,  will risk the economic impact to be delayed at best, 

at worst to be unrealised, as allocated investment is committed to other parts of the UK, 

Europe and or the world. 

 

 
5 Future Energy Grids for Wales – Q2 2023 

Tudalen y pecyn 58



  

 

 
“Rhoi’r pŵer i fusnesau greu dyfodol gwyrdd” 

“Empowering businesses to build greener futures” 
 
 

9 
 

 

 

 

4.2 Barrier 2: Timely completion planning and environmental consent process 

Once private investment is committed and, enabled by estimated £2.4 billion of UK 

Government revenue support over 20 years, it’s important that the planning and 

environmental consenting process is delivered in a timely fashion to meet the DESNZ 

milestones to govern the cluster sequencing program and reach financial investment 

decision by the private sector.   

The investment programme could reach a size of approximately £6 billion per annum and 

includes the deployment of Floating Offshore Wind at a rate of 1GW per annum. This 

requires an appropriate level of resource to be available for public bodies to undertake their 

statutory duties. Currently, it is likely that the planning & environmental consenting process 

is on the critical path for delivering decarbonisation & renewable projects. 

Net Zero Industry Wales welcomes open, transparent and collaborative engagement with 

public bodies (e.g. Natural Resources Wales, Planning & Environment Decisions Wales and 

local authorities), to support delivery of the planning & consenting process in a timely way. 

The latter would in many cases require additional resources to be brought in, which could 

potentially be privately funded, if the respective governments can provide policy certainty 

for such a transformative and unprecedented investment program.   

 

5.3 Barrier 3: Availability of skilled individuals and capability to deliver the large investment 

program 

Wales may struggle to deliver the scale of investment, outlined in the previous paragraphs, 

once the financial commitment are made by the companies, without further forward 

planning and anticipatory investment, to maximise the potential social value it can create 

within Wales’s communities.   

On the backdrop of decades of industrial decline, the unprecedented scale of investment 

needed to turn this around, Wales’s capability to construct, operate & maintain the assets 

and associated infrastructure, is likely to be severely challenged, without intervention.  

It’s not easy and straight forward, to deliver investment programs of £300-£400million per 

year. This is of comparable size to Tata Steel’s investment plan, which aims to deliver a £1.2 

billion investment in 36 months. If the scale is increased to multiple billions of pounds per 

year, as outlined in the previous paragraphs, the challenge is greater still. 

To deliver this unprecedented level of transformation, Wales will need skilled workers. So, 

there are huge opportunities for up-skilling people ahead of these investments over the 

Tudalen y pecyn 59



  

 

 
“Rhoi’r pŵer i fusnesau greu dyfodol gwyrdd” 

“Empowering businesses to build greener futures” 
 
 

10 
 

next couple of years in anticipation of this demand, while creating well-paid, quality jobs for 

our future generations.  

Net Zero Industry Wales would advocate to train and support the individuals, families and 

wider communities affected by Tata Steel’s announcement and get them ready & trained to 

construct, operate and maintain the new low carbon facilities and infrastructure that are 

planned to be built over the next five years. 

A starting point for this would be to create an individual skills “passport”, which is externally 

accredited & verified and recognises the knowledge & skills acquired by learning on the job 

or internal courses, which aren’t necessarily covered by accredited qualifications. This would 

allow these skills to be more easily transferred between employers across Wales & beyond. 

 

5. Final comments 
As Net Zero Industry Wales’s Chief Executive Officer, one of my main priorities is ensuring 

that this unprecedented level of investment becomes a reality, whilst ensuring that Wales 

has the right investment environment and skilled people to deliver these projects.  

On the 11th March 2023, Net Zero Industry Wales is organising its first EmpowerCymru 

event in Cardiff, at which the industry and investment community will come together. I 

hope to bring some clear feedback from this event into the committee meeting on the 21st 

March. 

It’s my firm belief that maintaining the current momentum or even accelerating the 

implementation of the South Wales Industrial Cluster plan, will enable the economic impact 

of Tata Steel’s announcement to be mitigated in the medium to long term, as well as, 

shorten the period that the impact has in the short term.  

Wales has the potential to become the country of choice for sustainable goods and services.  

We can do this, if the resources available & urgency, matches the scale of the ambition! 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 60



  

 

 
“Rhoi’r pŵer i fusnesau greu dyfodol gwyrdd” 

“Empowering businesses to build greener futures” 
 
 

11 
 

Appendix 1: Industrial decarbonisation pathway for South Wales 
The South Wales Industrial Cluster plan outlines a decarbonisation framework that provides 

a pathway for the manufacturing & power sector cross Wales, to decarbonise.  

This pathway revolves around “Five Cogs” of decarbonisation that drive the Green Industrial 

Revolution (see figure 1).  

 

Figure 1 The five cogs of decarbonisation (source SWIC: A plan for green growth) 

The detailed analysis undertaken within the SWIC cluster plan project, to develop this 

framework also provides a breakdown on how each of the “Five Cogs” contributes towards 

reducing the 16 million tonnes of CO2 emissions (see figure 2). 

 

Figure 2 the contribution of each of the Five Cogs towards reducing the 16 million tonnes of CO2 (source SWIC: A plan for 
green growth) 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 61



  

 

 
“Rhoi’r pŵer i fusnesau greu dyfodol gwyrdd” 

“Empowering businesses to build greener futures” 
 
 

12 
 

Figure 2 shows that there is a key role for the deployment of Carbon Capture & Storage 

(CCS) technology and Fuel Switching (enabled by hydrogen and/or electrification), which 

combined contribute toward meeting 80% of the targeted emission reduction.  

In the case of the Port Talbot steelworks, this includes incorporating an Electric Arc Furnace 

and continuing the production of iron through a Direct Reduction Iron or similar technology 

route, as an alternative to the “traditional” Blast Furnace – Basic Oxygen Steelmaking route, 

currently deployed at Port Talbot.  

The remaining 20% will be delivered through the other three “Cogs”, i.e. Energy & Resource 

Efficiency, Clean Growth Hubs and Carbon Capture & Utilisation (CCU). In the case of the 

Port Talbot steelworks, this includes the increase of steel scrap enabled by the Electric Arc 

Furnace, as well as the use of CO2 to produce Sustainable Aviation Fuel, like implemented at 

a commercial scale in Ghent, Belgium and China. 

The sequencing & pace of the deployment of the required port, CO2, hydrogen and 

electricity infrastructure which support the realisation of the emission reduction for each of 

the cogs, determines the way the manufacturing & power sector in South Wales, is likely to 

decarbonise.  

The high level sequencing between now and 2040, i.e. “the transition period”, is as follows: 

Step 1. Carbon Capture & Storage combined with CO2 shipping 

Deployment of carbon capture & storage technology, which captures the CO2 from large 

emitters. In the absence of an adjacent CO2 store, these emissions need to be liquified 

and shipped to a store in the East coast of England (Viking cluster) or Scotland (Acorn 

cluster). The current projects developed in the Milford Haven Clean Growth Hub, show a 

potential to deploy this technology at scale, from 2030 onwards (subject to CO2 business 

model support).  

 

Step 2. Hydrogen distribution pipeline 

Construction of a hydrogen pipeline (Project HyLine Cymru) between Milford Haven and 

Port Talbot Clean Growth Hubs, of which the Steelworks is an integral part. This pipeline 

is enabled by step 1, i.e. the CO2 shipping infrastructure and allows the development of 

a “blue” hydrogen production facility, which needs carbon capture & storage 

infrastructure (step 3). The work that has been undertaken within the SWIC Deployment 

project shows that a pipeline could be in place from 2032 onwards (subject to regulatory 

approvals). The ultimate aim of this dedicated pipeline, is to link with the proposed 

hydrogen “back bone” for the UK, also known as Project Union (developed by National 

Gas Transmission). 

 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 62



  

 

 
“Rhoi’r pŵer i fusnesau greu dyfodol gwyrdd” 

“Empowering businesses to build greener futures” 
 
 

13 
 

Step 3. Blue hydrogen production 

Construction of blue hydrogen plants enabled by the proposed hydrogen pipeline and 

UK Government’s hydrogen business model support. These blue hydrogen plants 

produce low carbon hydrogen at a scale & consistency, needed to allow industry to “fuel 

switch” in the Milford Haven and Port Talbot Clean Growth Hubs (if appropriate), which 

sit within the Celtic Freeport area. The pre-feasibility studies of the blue hydrogen 

project have been completed as part of the SWIC deployment project and further work 

on this is on hold, until the CO2 and hydrogen infrastructure projects have acquired 

more certainty (step 1&2).   

 

Step 4. Industrial emitters switch to hydrogen, where electrification isn’t an option 

Fuel switch industrial emitters to hydrogen, to minimise the use of unabated fossil fuels 

and associated CO2 emissions. The large-scale low carbon hydrogen generation in the 

Milford Haven Clean Growth Hub, will allow industry in this hub to further decarbonise 

using hydrogen, as well as hydrogen to be blended into the natural gas transmission 

system (up to 20%). The proposed pipeline between Milford Haven and Port Talbot, will 

also enable the further decarbonisation of the Port Talbot steelworks, port and the 

production of sustainable aviation fuel from captured CO2. The hydrogen business model 

support, ensures that the cost of hydrogen for the end user, will be the same as the cost 

of natural gas.  

 

Step 5. Industrial emitters switch to electricity 

Electrify industrial processes where hydrogen isn’t the best solution for businesses in the 

medium & long term or is not appropriate. The electrification and the associated 

emission reduction is enabled by the required electricity grid re-enforcement work, the 

proposed electrification business models, and full decarbonisation of the electricity grid 

by 2035. It is anticipated that any significant electrification of industrial processes will 

not take place before 2035, based on the current timescales for grid investments (10 

years+). The proposed construction of an Electric Arc Furnace at Port Talbot steelworks 

would be an exception to this. The aforementioned business model support is needed, 

to ensure that businesses that don’t get financially penalised, as the cost of electricity 

per unit of energy is still significantly larger than the equivalent fossil fuel energy source.  

 

In parallel to the 5 steps outlined above, the deployment of the Floating Offshore Wind 

projects will commence, of which the first seabed lease round has been launched by the 

Crown Estate (in total 4.5GW), with at least, a further 12GW in the pipeline beyond that. 

The 16.5 GW of wind energy is enough to displace at least 50% of the fossil fuels used in 

industry (2020 levels) and reduce Wales’s dependence on fossil fuels, in line with the 

Climate Change Committee’s balanced pathway.  

Tudalen y pecyn 63



  

 

 
“Rhoi’r pŵer i fusnesau greu dyfodol gwyrdd” 

“Empowering businesses to build greener futures” 
 
 

14 
 

It's important to note that fossil fuels still play an important role during the transition period 

and beyond 2040, given the fact that the UK is dependent on fossil fuels for 78% of its 

energy needs6 and in the ambitious, Balanced Pathway to net zero, oil and fossil gas are 

forecasted to still play a significant role in the UK’s energy mix in 2050, to ensure it’s 

affordable, resilient as well as sustainable (also known as the Energy trilemma).  

The floating offshore wind developers and their partners are not only planning to supply the 

wind energy into the electricity grid, but also looking to produce green hydrogen. The 

production of green hydrogen at GW scale is unlocked by the proposed hydrogen pipeline 

between Milford Haven & Port Talbot, the connection into the national hydrogen backbone 

(project Union) and is complementary to the blue hydrogen production.  

This two “energy vector” (electricity & hydrogen) approach, will ensure that curtailing of 

wind energy is minimised (i.e. stopping wind farms from generating when there isn’t enough 

electricity demand to match the generation), as well as the deployment rate of Floating 

Offshore Wind technology isn’t determined and/or limited by the development of the 

electricity grid.    

It’s well documented that there is also a significant potential for Welsh industry to play a 

key role in the supply chain of the construction of the Floating Offshore Wind (FLOW) farms, 

deployed in the Celtic Sea.  

This could not only ensure that a lot of the social value associated with the development of 

these wind farms, is retained in Wales, but if Welsh industry is decarbonising in parallel with 

the deployment of FLOW in the Celtic Sea and increasingly is using this energy source to 

power Welsh Industry, it would also decrease the “embedded carbon” associated with the 

construction of these wind farms. This will accelerate the impact these wind farms will have 

on Welsh, UK and global emissions. 

 
6 House of commons Environmental Audit committee, Accelerating the transition from fossil fuels and securing  
energy supplies, December 2022 

Tudalen y pecyn 64



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 65



Economy, Trade and Rural Affairs Commitee  

Green Economy Inquiry  

Cwmpas is a development agency working for posi�ve change in Wales. We are a co-opera�ve, and 
our focus is on building a fairer, greener economy and a more equal society, where people and planet 
come first. 

As part of the Social Enterprise Stakeholder Group, we are the lead partner in delivering Social 
Business Wales, the Welsh Government’s specialist support service for social enterprises, co-
opera�ves, and employee-owned businesses.  

Our consultancy team works with the Welsh Government, local authori�es, housing associa�ons, 
universi�es, chari�es, social enterprises, and businesses in the private sector, helping them to think 
crea�vely and act smartly so they can embed the kind of posi�ve values within their opera�ons that 
bring sound and las�ng social and economic benefits to the communi�es they serve. 

 

Within its devolved powers, what should be the Welsh Government’s key priori�es to maximise 
the poten�al economic opportuni�es from green economy sectors? To what extent does its 
current approach reflect these? 

It is key that we understand that every sector can be a part of the green economy. Social enterprises 
we have supported across many different sectors all make a significant contribu�on to the green 
transi�on by making sustainable choices and embedding them in their business model. This can 
clearly be the case when the social enterprise is opera�ng in a sector with a clear link to the green 
transi�on, like community energy produc�on, but also when opera�ng in other sectors. By 
suppor�ng the development of the social enterprise model in all sectors we can maximise economic, 
social and environmental impact through the triple-botom line business model. This model embeds 
and priori�ses the valua�on of social and environmental impact to the same extent as economic 
impact within businesses.  

The Welsh Government has strongly supported the development of the social enterprise sector 
through its funding of Social Business Wales, and the con�nued funding following the end of EU-
funding. It has supported the Social Enterprise Stakeholder Group’s ambi�on to make social 
enterprise the business model of choice by 2030. In 2020, the SESG published its Vision and Ac�on 
Plan: Transforming Wales through Social Enterprise, which seeks to make social enterprise the 
business model of choice in Wales by 2030. We will be upda�ng on progress against this ambi�on 
over the next few months.  

The sector is growing from strength to strength in Wales. There are now approximately 2,828 
businesses in the sector, an increase of 22% from 2020 (2309). We believe that the next stage in 
making Wales the best country in the world to start and grow a social enterprise will be pu�ng this 
model, and support for the sector, at the heart of Wales’ economic strategy. This will be key to 
maximising the economic, social and environmental value that the sector can provide. Embedding 

Tudalen y pecyn 83

Eitem 5



this model within the green economy will maximise the posi�ve impacts and suppor�ng a green 
transi�on.  

What are the key barriers to Wales making the most of opportuni�es in the green economy, and 
what steps should be taken to overcome these? 

Mapping data – barriers to growth within the social enterprise sector 

As discussed previously, we believe that the growth of the social enterprise model in Wales is 
essen�al to achieving a just transi�on and maximising the economic, social and environmental 
poten�al of the green economy.  

The Social Business Wales mapping exercise, published in 2023 with research conducted in 2022, 
highlighted some of the barriers to growth within the social enterprise sector. ‘Energy costs’ was 
cited by nearly a third of businesses (31 percent) as one of their main barriers to growth. Equally, 
economic climate and high infla�on were cited by nearly half of respondents (48 percent), compared 
with 19 percent in 2020 and 23 percent in 2018. Cash flow was also a barrier for a quarter of 
businesses (25 percent) which more than doubled from only 10 percent in 2020. 

The greatest barrier for businesses, however, was �me pressures/lack of staff capacity, which was 
noted by 52 percent of social businesses surveyed. It’s interes�ng to note that ‘obtaining grant 
funding’ has also risen to 51 percent, having fallen in 2020 to only 31 percent. This follows a patern 
seen elsewhere with the effect of the pandemic, where there were a number of resilience or 
recovery grants for businesses in 2020 which were no longer available in 2022. 

Businesses who suggested that accessing finance was a barrier for their business were asked a follow 
up ques�on to understand the nature of these challenges. The data suggests that a key driver of this 
concern was a lack of �me to be able to apply for finance (34 percent or 40/118 businesses), which 
reflects the broader barriers facing businesses around organisa�onal and staff capacity. A further 32 
percent didn’t have the exper�se to apply for finance, which suggests a skills need within the sector. 

Businesses were able to offer free text responses around the support they needed to address their 
barriers to growth. The most common response was around marke�ng (16 percent or 39/237 
businesses). Whilst 9 percent commented that they needed funding to address barriers, 15 percent 
said they wanted training or support to be able to access funding or finance themselves. A significant 
number of responses referenced support around staff or training, with 14 percent needing support 
with recruitment for staff or volunteers, 13 percent needing training for their exis�ng staff, and a 
further 2 businesses struggling to recruit appren�ces. 

Businesses were also asked about the blended finance model, which was used for funds such as the 
Third Sector Resilience Fund and the Social Business Growth Fund (i.e. a mix of grants and loans) and 
may become more prevalent in the future. Most businesses (55 percent) are aware of the funds and, 
where they are aware, most (55 percent) indicated that they are interested in the model. This is 
despite the fact that only four percent accessed blended finance in the past year (see Figure 5.15), 
sugges�ng that there is good scope to increase this type of offer as an alterna�ve for businesses who 
are eager to access grant funding. 

Barriers to social businesses achieving net zero 

Despite the fact that social businesses embed environmental sustainability through the triple-botom 
line model, achieving net-zero remains challenging. In the most recent social business mapping 
exercise conducted in 2022 addi�onal ques�ons were asked of businesses around commitments to 

Tudalen y pecyn 84



and ac�ons on becoming a business with net zero carbon emissions. Over half of businesses said that 
mi�ga�ng the climate crisis was a ‘high’ or ‘essen�al’ priority for them. Businesses were also asked if 
they have fully commited or considered becoming carbon neutral or net zero, with 15 percent of 
businesses commi�ng and 36 percent of business considering it. This demonstrates that whilst many 
feel that addressing the climate crisis is a priority, a limited number of these businesses have fully 
commited to becoming carbon neutral or net zero.  

Businesses were most likely to have introduced energy efficiency measures (63 percent or 129/205 
businesses), whilst 39 percent (72/184) were considering switching to renewable energy. 
Comparably, the SEUK report suggests that 30 percent of social enterprises had installed energy 
efficiency devices in the last twelve months whilst according to the Business Insights and Condi�ons 
Survey in March 2022, approximately eight percent of businesses reported taking at least one 
strategic ac�on to protect the environment. This demonstrates that Wales, and the social enterprise 
sector, is leading the way.  

Businesses who hadn’t considered becoming carbon neutral or net zero atributed this to a variety of 
reasons. For 27 percent of businesses it wasn’t a priority, with many men�oning a lack of �me or 
staff resource and some saying their focus was on their core social mission. For 10 percent of 
businesses the cost of implemen�ng measures to become carbon neutral was the main reason why it 
was not something they had considered. For example, one business noted they were opera�ng from 
an old building where the cost of energy saving measures would be too high. Responses indicated 
that for many businesses, energy efficiency measures on buildings were believed to be the primary 
ac�on their business was able to take towards mi�ga�ng the climate crisis. Similarly, 18 percent 
commented that taking ac�on was not in their power, mostly because they rent space and do not 
have the power to make energy saving adjustments. A further 19 percent of businesses felt that 
becoming carbon neutral was not relevant to their work, with many not having fixed loca�ons, some 
being based outside, or being run by volunteers. 

This evidence suggests that the social enterprise sector is eager to contribute to the development of 
the green economy – both businesses opera�ng in sectors with the poten�al to grow during the 
green transi�on, and across all sectors through embedding sustainable prac�ces. However, there is a 
clear need for tailored support to social enterprises and businesses more widely to achieve a just 
transi�on to net-zero. 

Rebalancing local economies – lack of ownership  

In order to achieve the type of economy we need in Wales, we need to empower communi�es to 
find solu�ons to the challenges we face. Ensuring the skills, innova�on and entrepreneurialism we 
need to grow Wales’ green economy will mean everyone in our communi�es must be engaged and 
have access to the new businesses and jobs that will be created. Doing this as effec�vely and justly as 
possible requires a re-balancing of local economies, anchoring decision-making and wealth in the 
hands of communi�es themselves. This will ensure that the interests of Welsh communi�es are at 
the heart of new business models. The development of social enterprises and community-led 
business models must be at the heart of strategies to achieve this model of economic development.  

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 85



What ac�ons should the Welsh Government take to support development of Wales-based supply 
chains in green economy sectors? 

The Welsh Government has a key role in suppor�ng and nurturing local, Wales-based supply chains 
across economic sectors and within new industries within the green economy.  

Central to this is the need for specialist support for social enterprise. Social enterprises are rooted in 
their local communi�es and engage local people in measures to address the climate emergency, 
combining the innova�on and entrepreneurialism of the private sector with its focus on well-being 
and working to the benefit of local communi�es. This triple-botom line approach is the best model 
for developing the green economy in Wales. The impact of the Social Business Wales programme 
highlights the key role that specialist support plays for new and growing businesses within the sector 
and ensuring that this is available to new social enterprises in the green economy will be key in the 
short and long-term.  

In addi�on, the Welsh Government should pro-ac�vely nurture the market for social enterprises to 
start and grow in the green economy. This can be done in a variety of ways that build community 
wealth in local economies. In 2022 we published a Guide to Building Stronger Local Economies that 
brings together a variety of concepts that build community wealth - employee ownership, the 
founda�onal economy, social enterprise, social value, community shares and community-led 
schemes, and the circular/sharing economy. All of these have a key role to play in facilita�ng the 
growth of social enterprises within local economies.  

A posi�ve example is Crea�ng Enterprise, a social enterprise in Conwy. A subsidiary of Cartrefi 
Conwy, it started trading in 2015 and has quickly grown into the social contractor of choice for North 
Wales. It builds environmentally friendly homes using sustainable materials and is innova�ve in 
finding new ways to lower its carbon footprint, such as by sourcing eighty percent of its �mber from 
Wales and construc�ng its frames onsite. As well as having an environmental mission, it has a social 
mission to create well-paid, full-�me employment opportuni�es for the local community it serves. Its 
Crea�ng Futures Academy helps local people find and access training, volunteering, and employment 
opportuni�es. In November 2020, it was named as the Fastest Growing Company in Wales. This team 
is the perfect example of how social enterprise can deliver on its three ambi�ons: business success, 
environmental sustainability, and helping people. 

An important policy area is around procurement reform. The Welsh Government should con�nue to 
seek to embed a community wealth building, social value approach to procurement and ensure that 
well-being and impact on local economic development is at the heart of procurement strategy.  The 
Social Partnership and Public Procurement Bill is a posi�ve step in the right direc�on towards 
achieving this aim and we will support the social enterprise sector to understand the poten�al they 
have in achieving its ambi�ons.  

A key element that has been iden�fied by the social business mapping research is the value that 
social entrepreneurs give to peer-mentoring and opportuni�es to network. This is a core part of our 
strategy for delivering Social Business Wales and we would welcome opportuni�es to see how this 
can be funded and facilitated further.  

We would also welcome the opportunity to learn from previous examples of challenge funding 
within the founda�onal economy and how this model can be used to facilitate innova�on in green 
economy sectors in a way that is accessible for communi�es and social enterprises.  

Tudalen y pecyn 86



We are currently working on projects with partners across Wales that seek to support and facilitate 
high-quality collabora�ons between the third sector and academia. We believe that learnings from 
the Third Sector Research Partnership and Resourceful Communi�es Partnership are key to ensuring 
that communi�es can play a key role in sectors of the future, and the green economy is central to 
this.  

A key objec�ve in the Social Enterprise Stakeholder Group’s Vision and Ac�on Plan for social 
enterprise in Wales is for the sector to maximise the poten�al of digital technology. Support for 
digital transforma�on of community groups to form social enterprises and maximise produc�vity will 
be essen�al to ensuring that the poten�al economic, social and environmental impact of the sector 
is maximised.  

What will workers and employers need for a just transi�on to a Net Zero economy to be achieved, 
and what ac�ons should the Welsh Government take to deliver the elements of this that lie within 
its devolved powers? 

Fundamentally a just transi�on will mean re-balancing local economies, taking a well-being approach 
to economic development. Social enterprise should be at the core of this, because the business 
model means well-being and social impact is valued to at least the same extent as profit.  

Part of the social value that the sector produces lies in its role as fair employers, offering a fair wage 
and condi�ons. Other ques�ons related to social businesses as employers suggest that 66 percent 
pay the living wage to all staff (£9.50 in April 2022). The survey found that 22 percent of employers 
who had taken on new employees in the last 12 months reported that these included individuals 
who were unemployed immediately before taking up the post, accoun�ng for 65 full �me roles and 
141 part �me roles. This reinforces the sector’s role in providing employment opportuni�es for 
individuals who are further away from the labour market. Furthermore, the data suggests that social 
businesses are good local employers, with 78 percent of businesses’ workforce living within 10 miles 
of their workplace, up from 69 percent in 2020 and 57 percent in 2018.  

How will the Welsh Government need to work in partnership with others to realise the poten�al of 
the green economy and deliver a just transi�on? To what extent is the partnership working that is 
needed being undertaken? 

The Welsh Government says it will face considerable budgetary constraints in the short term. How 
should it priori�se investment to support development of the green economy over the shorter and 
longer-term? What innova�ve approaches to financing could be considered to maximise poten�al 
investment and benefits? 

Procurement is key to achieving this ambi�on. The Welsh Government has a crucial expenditure into 
the Welsh economy and it can use this spend in an innova�ve way, seeing it as an investment into 
building a stronger green economy rather than solely a cost. This can be through con�nuing to 
develop its understanding of social value and community wealth building within procurement, 
con�nuing and expanding its work to reform procurement processes to enable small-scale, 
community-based suppliers to start and grow, and enabling the public sector to take a pro-ac�ve 
approach in the market through establishing arms-length social enterprises.  

In addi�on, we have seen the vital role that innova�ve ethical financing can play for the sector. 
2023/24 was another record-breaking year for Social Investment Cymru loan applica�ons, 
demonstra�ng the demand and op�mism within the social enterprise sector. Suppor�ng the 
development of this model is the most effec�ve way for the Welsh Government to achieve its 

Tudalen y pecyn 87



ambi�on of a just transi�on, and for maximising the poten�al of the green economy for Welsh 
communi�es.  

Tudalen y pecyn 88



 

Ynni Cymunedol Cymru – Community Energy Wales’s 
submission to Senedd Cymru | Welsh Parliament’s 
Green economy consultation 

 
 

1. Within its devolved powers, what should be the Welsh Government’s key 
priorities to maximise the potential economic opportunities from green 
economy sectors? To what extent does its current approach reflect 
these? 

 
Ynni Cymunedol Cymru – Community Energy Wales (CEW), as a membership 
organisation providing a vitally important sectoral voice to community social 
enterprises working on energy projects in Wales, is responding to this question on 
behalf of the sector while recognising the wider context of the green economy 
consultation. We acknowledge the work already carried out by Welsh Government in 
this area, and its support for Community Energy Wales and Ynni Teg Community 
Benefit Society, the new Trydan Gwyrdd Cymru publicly owned renewable energy 
developer set to launch over the coming months and Ynni Cymru, the new, publicly 
owned energy company for Wales. With the creation of these last two companies, 
Welsh Government has demonstrated it believes in the critical potential of local 
and community-owned energy in Wales to help achieve our Net Zero targets and 
rapidly transform the existing energy system to one which is fairer to the people of 
Wales and offers them energy at a price they can afford. 

Welsh Government aims to reach more than 1 GW of locally owned and generated 
clean energy by 2030 (and a proposal to increase this to 1.5 GW1). This community 
energy has been described by our members as a catalyst, generating an income 
stream to support other green initiatives in their area and building community 
resilience across renewables, energy efficiency, housing, transport, biodiversity and 
culture. Integrated community energy has a genuine impact on local economic 
resilience. It supports a circular economy, and provides a positive, practical and values-
led way for people to participate in decarbonisation and support their community at 
the same time. However, the current funding streams supporting this activity are 
currently subject to contract rounds and changes in government, which is why CEW 
believes Welsh Government needs to prioritise the securing of continued, long-term 
financial support, including capital grants to enable groups to develop their own 
energy projects. This has the potential to unlock explosive growth of the 
aforementioned benefits to both the green economy across Wales as a whole and to 
our local communities.  

  

 
1 https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2023-07/summary-of-responses-review-of-renewable-
energy-targets.pdf 

Tudalen y pecyn 89

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2023-07/summary-of-responses-review-of-renewable-energy-targets.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2023-07/summary-of-responses-review-of-renewable-energy-targets.pdf


 

2. What are the key barriers to Wales making the most of opportunities in 
the green economy, and what steps should be taken to overcome these? 

 
Similar to the priorities, the key barriers in community energy in Wales involve changes 
of a policy nature. They include removing market and regulatory barriers in the 
renewable energy sector which prevent new schemes or projects and innovative 
shared forms of ownership and community involvement and benefit. Welsh 
Government should fully support the newly formed Ynni Cymru to build a coalition of 
support across the Welsh energy sector and to provide the structures and frameworks 
required for whole energy systems based on the provision of lower cost local energy 
markets.  

Time delays and the prohibitive cost of grid connections are significant barriers for 
communities wishing to be a part of actively decarbonising the energy system, and 
Welsh Government (through Ynni Cymru) are already looking into the benefits of local 
energy systems being rolled out. This type of local and community energy can reduce 
the pressure on the grid, while capitalising on the value of local willpower, facilitating 
distributed generation, supporting wider community regeneration and integrating 
with the development of the EV market and the electrification of heat in a smart way. 
Increased start-up finance – especially grant finance – would help more projects get 
off the ground and progress through the early, highest risk phases. Communities being 
able to access loans to participate in shared ownership would also help to progress 
Welsh Government’s green economy policy aims. 

Community energy has largely been limited to the more rural areas in Wales, which 
has had an influence on the demographics of those engaged – a higher proportion of 
older adults sustain the work, but we need to encourage younger generations to 
participate. An urban community energy strategy with financial and practical 
support available for groups to start new projects in Welsh towns and cities will be key 
to getting the support of young people and those in urban areas. Such a strategy could 
also develop and underpin the current work being done on Local Area Energy Plans. 

If community energy groups were able to trade directly with local consumers, this 
would reduce their energy costs and finance more new generation at the same 
time. Until now, the sector has been able to participate in supply agreements that help 
reduce costs for consumer, while maintaining revenues for the generator. These 
‘sleeved’ agreements need to be expanded, especially with the public sector – where 
carbon reporting barriers to procuring local renewables need to be removed. Welsh 
Government should push for change in the non-devolved regulation which affects 
the ability to trade locally (whereby community energy providers can sell the energy 
they produce at a reduced cost to local consumers). Ynni Cymru should focus on this 
as a ‘mission critical’ task, including working with visibility of billing data to secure the 
billing solutions for local energy clubs that Licensed Energy Suppliers are currently 
failing – or refusing – to develop or provide. 

Finally, as wholesale export to grid remains at too low a level to lever finance or support 
small to medium (community-scale) generation projects, planning legislation should 
be reformed so that community ownership is regarded as a material consideration 
in planning applications and Welsh Government should require all public sector 
bodies to prioritise the procurement of local, community-owned energy wherever 
possible. 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 90



 

3. What actions should the Welsh Government take to support 
development of Wales-based supply chains in green economy sectors? 

 
Wales currently suffers from a lack of solar PV installers willing to install or maintain 
and operate sub-1 MW ground-mounted solar PV projects. This is a huge barrier to 
some projects, which have already received consent but are unable to proceed due to 
the fact nobody can install them. Support for community-scale installers would be a 
huge area of opportunity to ensure Wales leads in green renewable electricity. Private 
correspondence with Wales-based installers has revealed they would be able to design 
such projects and should be able to deal with the DNO at this scale, but that they would 
struggle with the project management and staff resources, looking to pull in a project 
manager and then subcontract much of the work locally rather than recruit 5/10+ 
additional electricians. With an experienced commercial project/site manager who 
could look to procure local electrical and plant services, such local installers would 
be able to use local expertise and even be willing to train up additional staff to carry 
out any ground works and rail systems. 

As some existing renewable energy projects come to the end of their operational lives, 
repowering their assets dating from the 1990s-2000s would be a key opportunity for 
wind energy sites utilising refurbished wind turbines to pass into community 
ownership. This would both improve the life cycle of the materials, feed into the circular 
economy and provide turbines at reduced cost for projects trying to get off the ground. 
This is an opportunity for Welsh businesses to fill gaps in the second-hand turbine 
supply chain at appropriate scale and in the refurbished turbine market, which is 
under-developed in the UK compared to mainland Europe. 

One of Community Energy Wales’s local social enterprise members has highlighted it 
is vital we remember that supply chain does not fit within any one government 
department: supply chains work geographically at community and inter-community 
level, through agriculture, energy, food, trade, education, care and transport. A 
refreshing redesign will be needed, place by place, which takes into account all the 
sectors in combination and can be implemented across both a specific and wider 
geographical area.   

Tudalen y pecyn 91



 

4. What skills challenges exist in relation to transitioning to a green 
economy? What actions should be taken, and by whom, to ensure the 
skills are there to meet the growing demands of a green economy? 

 
One of the most important levers Welsh Government has at its disposal is the ability to 
coordinate and connect with a range of different sectors in an attempt to increase the 
attractiveness of employment in the field and encourage young people to consider a 
career in the green sector. Job fairs could take place regularly across each region in 
Wales, including everything from sole traders to local businesses and multi-nationals. 
The onus needs to be on inspiring the next generation, and the only way to do this is 
to provide their teachers with a better understanding of the sector and future potential. 
One of CEW’s members has raise the issue that the provision of ICT training to the level 
that jobs of the future need is almost invisible in Wales. 

Many green jobs of the future are going to be self-employed or small businesses, and 
with 94.6% of the total enterprises in Wales being 'micro-enterprises’2 (i.e. employing 
between 0-9 employees), both business skills and green skills will be essential for the 
future Welsh workforce. Nowhere in the field of education currently provides for this 
reality.  
In Prosiect Sero Net Gwynedd, for example, one of CEW’s members is also working to 
train local people up in ‘green skills’ – specifically energy advice, domestic and non-
domestic energy assessment – and is supporting work on projects around retrofit.  
North West Wales is facing a serious lack of people with sufficient expertise in these 
areas at present, and while there are many grants available that provide some of the 
funding necessary to upskill local people, there are many challenges: recruitment, as 
people need to understand what they are signing up for and the value of undertaking 
such training; funding, as people are unwilling to leave more secure jobs or trades to 
join a programme with one or two-year funding; plus there are also issues with 
retaining people once they have earned their qualifications. The existing funding 
schemes such as ECO4 often govern procurement in such a way that small, local 
installers are unable to meet the criteria (CEW has been made aware of skills shortages 
across Wales in the following schemes/accreditations: RECC - Renewable Energy 
Consumer Code, MCS - Micro-generation Certification Scheme, BSI - British Standards 
Institute - PAS - Publicly Accessible Standard 2030 and 2035 respectively, IAA - 
Installation Assurance Authority, BBA - Competent Persons Scheme, TrustMark / 
QualityMark, MasterBuilder, INSTA Group, HIES and Insurance Backed Guarantee - The 
Home Insulation & Energy Systems Quality Assured Contractors Scheme, National 
Insulation Association and CITB - Construction Industry Training Board). As an example 
of combatting this skills gap, our member YnNi Llŷn is seeking to create an umbrella to 
upskill local installers, which will bring better service to local people and ensure that 
more of the economic benefit from ECO4 measures actually lands in the local 
economy. Welsh Government could and should support scaling up and replication of 
such initiatives. It is also clear that education and information about ‘green’ skilled 
jobs needs to be made clear to young people (as young as 13 when choosing their 
GCSEs) when deciding on their career options and that they are seen as (and are) good, 
stable career options. 
  

 
2 https://www.gov.wales/size-analysis-businesses-2023  

Tudalen y pecyn 92

https://www.gov.wales/size-analysis-businesses-2023


 

 
Finally, there are clearly some other issues around the term ‘Net Zero’, with many people 
feeling it is unjust and will put the already struggling at even more of a disadvantage. 
To name one example, people in rural areas across Wales cannot easily get around 
without a car, and there is real fear they may be forced to. We suggest this lies with the 
current communication around the term from Welsh Government, but this is much 
deeper than just messaging: people need tangible evidence that they will not be left 
behind, and that their worries and fears will be listened to and taken seriously. 
 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 93



 

5. What will workers and employers need for a just transition to a Net Zero 
economy to be achieved, and what actions should the Welsh 
Government take to deliver the elements of this that lie within its 
devolved powers? 

 

CEW recognises the degree to which the narrative around a Just Transition in the 
energy sector has focused on the impacts on businesses and workforces needing to 
change their operations and skills from a high carbon to a net zero economy.  As our 
Just Transition statement3 illustrates, the focus of the community energy sector is 
somewhat different: we are not invested in carbon intensive activities, but instead 
focused on securing the local economic, circular and social benefits of the 
democratising power of community-owned renewable energy generation, storage 
and distribution assets. 
 
The community sector does suffer from a lack of skills (please also refer to our response 
to Question 4), with many jobs requiring an unusually diverse skillset spanning 
technical, communication, governance and engagement skills.  Long-term support 
and investment are needed to bring such people into our sector.  This is visible to some 
extent in the positive impacts of Ynni Cymru and the awarding of resource grants to a 
number of CEW member social enterprises, as well as in the expansion of Community 
Energy Wales and Ynni Teg, currently funded by Welsh Government.  However, these 
grants are due to run out in the next 12-24 months, and this does not fit the timeframe 
required to get enough new generation in place to secure jobs for the longer term.  It 
is critical that Welsh Government recognises that “community projects installed […] 
offer between 12-13 times as much community value re-invested back into local areas 
as would be achieved through 100% commercial models”4 and ensures that financial 
support is not discontinued, putting all the progress and work invested to date at risk. 
 
The main challenge for the future workforce itself (employer and employee alike) will 
be ensuring a smooth transition of careers for professionals and tradespeople in 
mid-life as the transition to Net Zero progresses. This will involve providing them with 
all the necessary support and benefits to undertake such a change in career that need 
to go above and beyond just the existing personal learning accounts (PLAs) in place 
designed to train people in new skills acquisition.  
 
  

 
3 http://www.communityenergywales.org.uk/ycc-login/resources/just-transition-position-statement-1.pdf 
4 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7c1b9640f0b645ba3c6bd6/20140108_Community_Energy_Mode
lling_FinalReportJan.pdf 

Tudalen y pecyn 94

http://www.communityenergywales.org.uk/ycc-login/resources/just-transition-position-statement-1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7c1b9640f0b645ba3c6bd6/20140108_Community_Energy_Modelling_FinalReportJan.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7c1b9640f0b645ba3c6bd6/20140108_Community_Energy_Modelling_FinalReportJan.pdf


 

6. How will the Welsh Government need to work in partnership with others 
to realise the potential of the green economy and deliver a just 
transition? To what extent is the partnership working that is needed 
being undertaken? 

 
According to the UN Environment Programme, a green economy is defined as low-
carbon, resource-efficient and socially inclusive5. To make full use of the potential of 
the green economy and deliver a just transition holistically and across all levels of 
society and within organisations and to ensure better outcomes for all, Welsh 
Government needs to work in closer partnership with local areas to develop the 
workforce and projects, and to change behaviour: civil servants and ministers still invest 
too much time and place too much emphasis and investment on trying to attract large 
international companies, whereas the focus should be on ensuring lasting 
employment is created locally using community cohesion as a key to success.  
The relationship between Welsh Government, councils and the third/community 
energy sector needs to be strengthened, moving from a mere supply-based 
arrangement to partnership – community energy can be the vehicle to release 
benefits to the community and money from the profits to reinvest directly into the 
communities, becoming key in regenerating our villages and towns. Community 
Energy Wales’s Just Transition policy position paper clearly explains how energy groups 
would be able to install generation at scale if public bodies committed to buying their 
energy from them. Local councils, Welsh Government and other public bodies should 
prioritise community energy procurement in recognition of the added value from our 
sector. This can be achieved through a flex power purchase agreement, sleeving 
contract and/or a larger-scale Energy Local agreement.  
 
Welsh Government will need to work closely together with Ynni Cymru to focus 
resources on unlocking these critical market barriers, rather than diluting efforts 
into services that might duplicate the work of existing community organisations, 
Community Energy Wales and the Welsh Government Energy Service. 
  

 
5 https://www.unep.org/regions/asia-and-pacific/regional-initiatives/supporting-resource-efficiency/green-
economy 

Tudalen y pecyn 95

https://www.unep.org/regions/asia-and-pacific/regional-initiatives/supporting-resource-efficiency/green-economy
https://www.unep.org/regions/asia-and-pacific/regional-initiatives/supporting-resource-efficiency/green-economy


 

7. The Welsh Government says it will face considerable budgetary 
constraints in the short term. How should it prioritise investment to 
support development of the green economy over the shorter and 
longer-term? What innovative approaches to financing could be 
considered to maximise potential investment and benefits? 

 
In the current landscape, large-scale decarbonisation projects (such as established 
renewable energy technology, onshore wind and solar and battery/storage systems) 
face few or no barriers. Shared ownership models based on a community share raise 
for an equity stake, however, are not capable of securing sufficient shared ownership 
stake, meaning additional and innovative finance models will need to be found. 
Evidence around this topic has recently been secured by the Welsh Government 
Energy Service in a report commissioned to independent corporate finance adviser 
QMPF. In this report, finance innovations such a ‘patient’ underwriting of equity 
stakes is mentioned as a potential way of ensuring long-term success for all 
stakeholders: developers, funders and community projects alike. 

At this point Community Energy Wales would like to reiterate the findings of a former 
Department of Energy and Climate Change report stating that community projects 
can “offer between 12-13 times as much community value re-invested back into local 
areas as would be achieved through 100% commercial models,”6 clearly maximising 
both investment and returns in a way which pure profit-driven commercial models 
cannot. CEW’s core mission is to support and accelerate the transition to a fair, net zero 
and community-led energy system. This is based on an overarching vision that 
communities should not only participate in, and shape the energy system, but also 
that Welsh communities retain benefit from the energy transition. Supporting 
innovative finance to implement and promote local energy trading and whole 
energy systems will address the multi-vectoral wicked problems by maximising and 
democratising power, while maximising both local and national benefit. This model of 
just transition facilitates distributive and procedural justice. As well as being able to 
benefit from community owned energy generation and distribution, we want to 
maximise citizens’ involvement and shared participation in energy decision-
making and governance. People’s active involvement in their local community energy 
groups helps to do this and we are working for more people to get involved. 
Furthermore, the community energy sector addresses both energy and social justice 
through community benefit funds in response to identified local need. The community 
projects funded are often catalysts in providing a wider range of local sustainability 
initiatives in communities.  

 

 
6 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7c1b9640f0b645ba3c6bd6/20140108_Community_Energy_Mode
lling_FinalReportJan.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 96

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7c1b9640f0b645ba3c6bd6/20140108_Community_Energy_Modelling_FinalReportJan.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a7c1b9640f0b645ba3c6bd6/20140108_Community_Energy_Modelling_FinalReportJan.pdf


 
 

 
Comisinydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru  Future Generations Commissioner for Wales 
Tramshed Tech, Heol Pendyris  Tramshed Tech, Pendyris Street 
Caerdydd, CF11 6BH  Cardiff, CF11 6BH 
cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru  contactus@futuregenerations.wales 
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru  futuregenerations.wales 

 
 

Dros ebost 
12fed Mawrth 2023 

 
Paul Davies MS 

Cadeirydd Pwyllgor yr Economi, Masnach a Materion Gwledig 

Annwyl Paul 

Diolch am y cyfle i roi tystiolaeth i ymchwiliad pwyllgor yr Economi, Masnach a Materion Gwledig ar 

yr economi werdd cyn fy sesiwn panel tystiolaeth. Bydd y Pwyllgor yn ymwybodol i mi gyhoeddi 

Cymru Can ym mis Tachwedd, fy strategaeth newydd ar gyfer saith mlynedd fy nhymor fel 

comisiynydd. Fel rhan o’r strategaeth hon, rwyf wedi ei gwneud yn un o’m cenadaethau i helpu i 

drosglwyddo Cymru i economi sy’n rhoi pobl a’r blaned yn gyntaf. Hoffwn weld llywodraeth ar bob 

lefel yn cydweithio â chymunedau a busnes i wneud i hyn ddigwydd. 

Yr hyn a wyddom am y modelau economaidd cyffredinol yw: eu bod yn defnyddio adnoddau naturiol 

yn gyflymach nag y gellir eu hailgyflenwi; y gall gostwng pris nwyddau arwain at arferion 

anghynaliadwy ac anfoesegol; a bod y gagendor rhwng y cyfoethocaf a'r tlotaf mewn cymdeithas yn 

parhau i ledu. 

Mae twf economaidd parhaus yn aml yn cael ei weld fel y nod, ond mae Deddf Llesiant 

Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol yn darparu mesur ehangach o lwyddiant. Mae ein Nodau Llesiant yn disgrifio 

Cymru Lewyrchus fel “cymdeithas arloesol, gynhyrchiol a charbon isel sy’n cydnabod terfynau’r 

amgylchedd byd-eang ac yn defnyddio adnoddau’n effeithlon ac yn gymesur”. Mae hefyd yn 

pwysleisio sgiliau, addysg a gwaith teg wrth gynhyrchu cyfoeth. 

Mae dwy brif elfen i fwrw ymlaen â hyn: 

1. Mae angen i bob polisi a chynllun economaidd yng Nghymru ystyried sut y maent yn 

sicrhau’r budd mwyaf posibl ar draws yr holl Nodau Llesiant er mwyn i’n heconomi gyfan 

ddod yn ‘wyrddach’ – er mwyn bodloni’r diffiniad o Gymru lewyrchus. 

2. Rhaid inni ganolbwyntio ar feysydd twf yn y sectorau lle mae potensial i greu swyddi 

gwyrdd tra ar yr un pryd, gwella gwydnwch amgylcheddol a gwella llesiant mewn 

cymunedau. 

Mae hyn yn codi cwestiynau ynghylch sut rydym yn creu: 

• Model economaidd sy'n bodoli o fewn ffiniau planedol ac sy'n rhoi safon byw weddus ac 

iach i bawb; 

Tudalen y pecyn 97

Eitem 7



 
 

 
Comisinydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru  Future Generations Commissioner for Wales 
Tramshed Tech, Heol Pendyris  Tramshed Tech, Pendyris Street 
Caerdydd, CF11 6BH  Cardiff, CF11 6BH 
cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru  contactus@futuregenerations.wales 
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru  futuregenerations.wales 

 
 

• Mwy o swyddi ym myd natur i flaenoriaethu atebion hirdymor i'r argyfwng natur a cholli 

rhywogaethau ochr yn ochr â sero net; 

• Gweithlu mwy cyfartal, hygyrch ac amrywiol lle mae mwy o bobl Ddu, Asiaidd a lleiafrifoedd 

ethnig, pobl ag anableddau, a menywod yn ymuno â'r gweithlu gwyrdd, medrus hwn; 

• Economi gylchol, gynaliadwy, lle mae gwastraff yn creu cadwyn gwerth sgil-gynhyrchion ac yn 

disodli ein dibyniaeth ar ein hadnoddau naturiol a phrosesau carbon-ddwys; 

• Cynhyrchu a chyflenwi bwyd sy'n gweithio'n adfywiol ei natur ac sy'n cynnig dyfodol 

cynaliadwy i gynhyrchwyr a phroseswyr, boed yng Nghymru neu'r economi fyd-eang; 

• Adeiladu cyfoeth cymunedol lle mae buddion dal a storio carbon, ariannu adfer natur ac ynni 

adnewyddadwy yn cael eu cadw o fewn yr economi leol a gwledig. 

Er mwyn i economi werdd, lesiant ddod yn realiti yma yng Nghymru, rhaid inni ystyried yr hyn y mae 

angen inni ei ddarparu (tuag at lesiant cymdeithasol, diwylliannol, amgylcheddol ac economaidd) a 

chydnabod lle nad yw arferion presennol yn mynd â ni yno. Rhaid inni flaenoriaethu buddsoddiad ar 

bethau sy’n ein galluogi i weithredu ar frys i fynd i’r afael â thueddiadau ac anghenion mwy hirdymor, 

megis disbyddiad natur a diogelwch bwyd, er enghraifft, a rhoi’r gorau i fuddsoddi mewn mesurau 

sy’n ein symud ymhellach oddi wrth ein nodau llesiant a’n dangosyddion cenedlaethol. Mae 

ymagwedd o'r fath yn gofyn am feddwl hirdymor a chydweithio ar y rhyngwyneb rhwng gwahanol 

feysydd polisi. 

Yn fy nhystiolaeth i Bwyllgor Cyllid y Senedd ym mis Ionawr eleni ar graffu ar gyllideb strategol 

Llywodraeth Cymru, amlinellais fy mhryderon ynghylch diffyg tystiolaeth o feddwl ataliol a gwneud 

penderfyniadau ar gyfer y tymor hir. Ar y cyfan, roeddwn yn teimlo bod diffyg dangos sut roedd 

Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol wedi’i chymhwyso a pha wahaniaeth yr oedd wedi’i wneud i 

benderfyniadau. Nid yw cyfyngiad cyllidebol yn gyfiawnhad dros beidio â chymhwyso Deddf Llesiant 

Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol. I'r gwrthwyneb, mae hyd yn oed yn fwy o reswm i feddwl a gweithredu'n 

wahanol. 

Rhaid i’r economi werdd gael ei gwreiddio ar draws pob haen o bolisi economaidd a chyflawni 

Bydd symud i economi lesiant, werdd yng Nghymru yn gofyn am drawsnewid mawr ar bob lefel o 

bolisi economaidd a chyflawni. Ar lefel genedlaethol, rwyf wedi fy nghalonogi gan gyfeiriad 

cenhadaeth economaidd Llywodraeth Cymru, a’i hymrwymiad i adolygu cynnydd y genhadaeth yn 

erbyn Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol. 

Mae’n ofynnol i Gyd-bwyllgorau Corfforaethol (CJC) ddatblygu amcanion llesiant – ac edrychaf 

ymlaen at weithio gyda nhw, yn enwedig wrth iddynt gydweithio â’r Bargeinion Twf, ynghylch 

cyfraniad eu strategaethau economaidd rhanbarthol at nodau llesiant Cymru. 

Ar hyn o bryd rwy’n adolygu amcanion llesiant Awdurdodau Lleol a Byrddau Gwasanaethau 

Cyhoeddus (BGCau) a gallaf weld amcanion sy’n ymwneud ag economi sylfaenol ac amcanion 

Tudalen y pecyn 98



 
 

 
Comisinydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru  Future Generations Commissioner for Wales 
Tramshed Tech, Heol Pendyris  Tramshed Tech, Pendyris Street 
Caerdydd, CF11 6BH  Cardiff, CF11 6BH 
cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru  contactus@futuregenerations.wales 
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru  futuregenerations.wales 

 
 

economi gylchol ac economi werdd yn dod i’r amlwg. Mae’n hanfodol bod yr holl haenau hyn o 

lywodraethu economaidd yn cyd-dynnu i’r un cyfeiriad i gyflawni’r nodau llesiant. 

Rwyf wedi cael fy nghalonogi gan waith sy’n digwydd yn ne-ddwyrain Cymru drwy dîm Prifddinas-

Ranbarth Caerdydd (CCR) i annog busnesau i weithredu ar yr hinsawdd. Mae’r tîm wedi bod yn 

gwneud rhywfaint o gyfranogiad rhagorol trwy ei Glymblaid Hinsawdd Busnes yn cynnal 

digwyddiadau i fusnesau yn y rhanbarth ymgysylltu ar yr hyn sydd angen iddynt ei wneud a pham ei 

fod yn bwysig. Mae busnesau, gan gynnwys busnesau bach a chanolig ac unig fasnachwyr, yn dysgu 

am ddamcaniaeth newid ymddygiad, egwyddorion economi gylchol a'r angen i weithredu ar frys ar 

newid yn yr hinsawdd. 

Ysgogi busnes y tu ôl i nodau llesiant Cymru 

Ni allwn gyflawni nodau llesiant Cymru heb i fusnesau chwarae eu rhan. Rwyf wedi fy nghalonogi gan 

y diddordeb yr wyf wedi’i weld yn Neddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol gan y sector preifat. Mae 

cwmnïau mawr o Gymru yn cysoni eu strategaethau corfforaethol â nodau llesiant Cymru – ac mae fy 

nhîm hefyd wedi bod yn gweithio gyda Llywodraeth Cymru ar becyn cymorth Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r 

Dyfodol ar gyfer Busnesau Bach a Chanolig. Rwy’n credu bod mwy o gyfleoedd ar gyfer gweithredu, 

cydweithredu a buddsoddi gan y sector preifat y gall Llywodraeth Cymru a’r sector cyhoeddus 

ehangach eu datgloi. Byddai hyn yn golygu datblygu dull cenedlaethol o gynnwys busnes yn y nodau 

llesiant a byddai’n golygu datblygu cyfathrebu clir a chyson o’r nodau llesiant, sef ‘edau aur’, ar draws 

yr holl bwyntiau lle mae’r sector cyhoeddus yn rhyngweithio â’r sector preifat, er enghraifft o’r 

Contract Economaidd hyd at y cymorth technegol, y grantiau a’r cyllid sydd ar gael i fusnesau gan y 

sector cyhoeddus, ynghyd â pholisïau caffael cyrff cyhoeddus. 

 

Mae caffael yn dal i fod yn gyfle enfawr nad ydynt yn manteisio'n llawn 

Mae fy nhîm hefyd wedi bod yn gweithio ar sut y gall prosesau caffael hyrwyddo cymhwyso Deddf 

Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol. Drwy ofyn i gyflenwyr ystyried eu Heffeithiau ar Lesiant a disgrifio’r 

cyfraniad cadarnhaol y gallai eu gweithgarwch masnachol ei gael ar lesiant economaidd, 

cymdeithasol, amgylcheddol a diwylliannol Cymru, gallai’r dull hwn gefnogi datblygiad cadwyni 

cyflenwi yng Nghymru yn sectorau’r economi werdd. 

Dylai'r economi werdd hybu adeiladu cyfoeth cymunedol 

Cenedl gymharol fach yw Cymru, ond mae hyn yn golygu y gallwn fod yn ddigon ystwyth i wneud 

pethau’n wahanol iawn. Rydym yn wlad o adnoddau naturiol, adnewyddadwy toreithiog y gellir eu 

defnyddio i ddiwallu ein hanghenion ynni ac adfer bioamrywiaeth mewn sero net a Chymru sy’n 

gadarnhaol o ran natur. Fodd bynnag, rhaid inni ddysgu o’r gorffennol a gwneud popeth o fewn ein 

gallu i sicrhau bod budd hyn yn aros o fewn Cymru ac o fewn cymunedau lleol. 

Tudalen y pecyn 99



 
 

 
Comisinydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru  Future Generations Commissioner for Wales 
Tramshed Tech, Heol Pendyris  Tramshed Tech, Pendyris Street 
Caerdydd, CF11 6BH  Cardiff, CF11 6BH 
cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru  contactus@futuregenerations.wales 
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru  futuregenerations.wales 

 
 

Mae Gweinidog yr Economi wedi datgan ei fwriad i ddatblygu lens economi sylfaenol i ynni 

adnewyddadwy a thrafnidiaeth carbon isel – a datblygu cadwyni cyflenwi ar gyfer yr economi werdd 

yng Nghymru, mae hwn yn ddull y dylai CJCs ac Awdurdodau Lleol ei fabwysiadu ar draws eu 

cynlluniau economaidd. Mae fy nghefndir fy hun yn y sector menter gymdeithasol a chydweithredol 

wedi dangos i mi sut mae’r modelau busnes hyn, sy’n amlwg o fewn dulliau adeiladu cyfoeth 

cymunedol, yn addas iawn ar gyfer adeiladu economi llesiant. 

Mae potensial i greu swyddi gwyrdd tra ar yr un pryd, gwella gwydnwch amgylcheddol a gwella 

llesiant mewn cymunedau: 

Rhaid blaenoriaethu cynhyrchu, cyflenwi a chaffael bwyd fel sector economi werdd. Mae gennym 

weithlu medrus iawn eisoes yn ein heconomi wledig, ond fel cynifer o ddiwydiannau eraill, yn yr 

hinsawdd bresennol o newid, mae’n rhaid i’n cymuned ffermio a’r holl sectorau ategol gael eu 

cefnogi i drawsnewid mewn ffordd gyfiawn. Dylid manteisio i’r eithaf ar gyfleoedd hefyd drwy 

ehangu cwmpas y Gwasanaeth Natur Cenedlaethol, er enghraifft, to bring together a skilled 

workforce of new entrants in agroecology and nature-based solutions with our farming sector.   

Rhaid inni fynd i’r afael â rhwystrau i newid 

Bydd fy nhîm a minnau’n canolbwyntio ar fynd i’r afael â rhwystrau i newid, herio cysyniadau hen 

ffasiwn o dwf economaidd, ar unrhyw gost. Rhaid inni alinio sut yr ydym yn meddwl am ein 

heconomi â’r pethau eraill sy’n bwysig i ni yng Nghymru a ddangosir gan y 50 o Ddangosyddion 

Llesiant Cenedlaethol. Mae sut rydym yn mesur llwyddiant yn allweddol ac yn gofyn am newid 

system y tu hwnt i werth ariannol yn unig. Mae cyfle i greu diwylliant ar draws pob sector sy’n 

gynhwysol, yn cael ei yrru gan werthoedd ac yn hygyrch. 

Un ffordd rydw i'n gwneud hyn yw trwy ein Hacademi Arwain Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol. Mae’r 

Academi yn rhoi’r cyfle i fusnesau yng Nghymru gofrestru eu harweinwyr eu hunain yn y dyfodol bob 

blwyddyn. Mae’r hyn y maent yn ei ddysgu yn rhoi’r sgiliau iddynt fynd yn ôl i’r sefydliad a llunio 

cynlluniau corfforaethol ynghylch datblygu cynaliadwy a’r Nodau Llesiant. Mae’r un busnesau hyn 

hefyd yn cefnogi’r Academi i wneud lleoedd ar gael i garfan ehangach o unigolion heb gynrychiolaeth 

ddigonol i gymryd rhan, gyda’r nod o leihau anghydraddoldeb ac anfantais ledled Cymru. 

Edrychaf ymlaen at drafod y pwyntiau hyn ymhellach gyda chi a’r Pwyllgor yn fy sesiwn dystiolaeth yr 

wythnos nesaf. 

Yr eiddoch yn gywir 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 100



 
 

 
Comisinydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol Cymru  Future Generations Commissioner for Wales 
Tramshed Tech, Heol Pendyris  Tramshed Tech, Pendyris Street 
Caerdydd, CF11 6BH  Cardiff, CF11 6BH 
cystylltwchani@cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru  contactus@futuregenerations.wales 
cenedlaethaurdyfodol.cymru  futuregenerations.wales 

 
 

Derek Walker 

Comisiynydd Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol 

Tudalen y pecyn 101



June 2018 

 
info@wcpp.org.uk www.wcpp.org.uk 

+44 (0)29 2087 5345 Cardiff University, Sbarc/Spark, Maindy Road, Cardiff, CF24 4HQ 

@WCfPP Prifysgol Caerdydd, Sbarc/Spark, Heol Maendy, Caerdydd, 

CF24 4HQ 

 

March 2024 

Submission to the Economy, Trade and 

Rural Affairs Committee’s Enquiry into the 

Green Economy  

The Wales Centre for Public Policy 

1. The Wales Centre for Public Policy (WCPP) seeks to improve policy making and 

outcomes by enabling public bodies, the Welsh Government and other decision 

makers to access authoritative independent evidence to help them address the 

key economic, social and environmental challenges facing Wales. 

2. WCPP is funded by the Welsh Government, the Economic and Social Research 

Council, and Cardiff University. It is a member of the What Works Network and is 

the Welsh partner for the International Public Policy Observatory.  

3. This submission summarises research we have undertaken that bears on the 

topic of the Committee’s enquiry. This research includes evidence reviews based 

on academic and ‘grey’ literature, as well as data collected through interviews 

with experts and workers in key industries. 

Evidence 

Within its devolved powers, what should be the Welsh Government’s key 

priorities to maximise the potential economic opportunities from green 

economy sectors? To what extent does its current approach reflect these? 

4. The Welsh Government has held responsibility for economic development in 

Wales since devolution. Under the reserved powers model introduced by the 

Wales Act (2017), it has general competence in this area. Certain functions 

including those relating to economic, fiscal and monetary policy; currency; and 

financial regulation, are reserved to the UK government. Maximising potential 

economic opportunities from the need to decarbonise both within and outwith the 

green economy sectors overlaps in a number of ways with efforts needed to 

maximise productivity and reduce inequality (Newman, et al. 2021).  

5. Despite some key policy levers being reserved to the UK government, the Welsh 

Government has considerable powers in the policy areas of education and skills; 

important drivers of productivity which will play a critical role in growing the green 

economy. The Welsh Government has the leverage to coordinate investment in 

skills, transport, R&D, working places, and developing clusters with supportive 

supply chains; all essential components of a successful transition to net zero. 

These should be underpinned by a vision of economic development for Wales to 

build investor confidence. This should consider how different sectors can 

Tudalen y pecyn 102

mailto:info@wcpp.org.uk
http://www.wcpp.org.uk/


June 2018 

 
info@wcpp.org.uk www.wcpp.org.uk 

+44 (0)29 2087 5345 Cardiff University, Sbarc/Spark, Maindy Road, Cardiff, CF24 4HQ 

@WCfPP Prifysgol Caerdydd, Sbarc/Spark, Heol Maendy, Caerdydd, 

CF24 4HQ 

 

March 2024 

mutually support one another, areas of comparative advantage and opportunities 

for regional collaboration and innovation (Tilley, 2022).  

6. There are important pieces of legislation and supporting policies that have been 

established with devolved powers which have the potential to support the green 

economic transition. For instance, the Well-being of Future Generations Act 

provides the overarching framework; Corporate Joint Committees should enable 

regional collaboration; and the establishment of the Commission for Tertiary 

Education and Research (CTER) offers opportunities to embed partnership 

working, and to facilitate the tertiary education sector’s response to the 

substantial demand for reskilling (Pember et al., 2021). The ongoing challenge is 

building the capacity for implementation.  

7. Against the context of past economic performance, economic geography and 

local political economy; the creativity and strategy of leaders operating within the 

local governance structure is critical (Tilley et al., 2022). The interplay of 

economic institutions, leadership and networks is an important enabler of private 

sector capital, which in turn is required for the investment and innovation needed 

to develop the green economy. In Wales the availability of capital has been an 

historical constraint, although the establishment of the Development Bank of 

Wales has more recently facilitated SME access to finance (Henley, 2021).    

What are the key barriers to Wales making the most of opportunities in the 

green economy, and what steps should be taken to overcome these? 

8. Barriers partially include the limited capacity of the Welsh Government to borrow 

for investment and limitations in its capital budget. Under current rules and in the 

current financial context, councils are under pressure to prioritise their spending, 

including that on climate change policies. Decarbonising buildings and fleet, 

which are the second and third largest sources of local authority emissions, will 

involve large amounts of capital funding if local authorities are to meet the Welsh 

Government’s aim of a net zero public sector by 2030. By fully understanding the 

emissions profiles of their area (beyond simply the direct emissions from their 

activities), local authorities could potentially better target their limited funds 

towards the opportunities for green investment which offer the best value for 

money emissions reductions (Notman et al., forthcoming-a).  

9. Heat decarbonisation and electric vehicle chargers are two examples of projects 

which could be supported using pension funds, as they are likely to be long term 

and low risk. However, it has been suggested in evidence to the Scottish 

Parliament that there is a reluctance to invest given a lack of data and 

inconsistencies between smaller local level projects. Therefore, taking a 

collaborative approach and packaging several similar projects together in 

different areas could help encourage pipelines of guaranteed work which are 

needed to attract investors (Scottish Parliament Net Zero Energy and Transport 

Tudalen y pecyn 103

mailto:info@wcpp.org.uk
http://www.wcpp.org.uk/


June 2018 

 
info@wcpp.org.uk www.wcpp.org.uk 

+44 (0)29 2087 5345 Cardiff University, Sbarc/Spark, Maindy Road, Cardiff, CF24 4HQ 

@WCfPP Prifysgol Caerdydd, Sbarc/Spark, Heol Maendy, Caerdydd, 

CF24 4HQ 

 

March 2024 

Committee, 2023; Notman et al., forthcoming-a). Collaborative procurement for 

electric vehicles has already been used to achieve cost savings in a Welsh 

context (Welsh Government, 2023).   

10. In the development of energy infrastructure, Wales is limited by its lack of direct 

control over aspects of the energy system. For instance, while it has consenting 

powers for onshore developments under 350MW and all wind power projects, 

larger-scale projects and offshore generation are not within its devolved 

competences. This means that Wales is dependent on actions at a UK 

government level to deliver things like new nuclear power, and on the Crown 

Estate for offshore developments. This is particularly important for the transition 

to a green economy given the need to rapidly scale-up construction of low- and 

zero-carbon electricity generation capacity (Price, 2023). 

11. Energy infrastructure is also limited by the fact that control over the grid is 

reserved. The Welsh Government are already working with the ESO and Ofgem 

to upgrade grid capacity in Wales, which is a critical limiting factor for new 

infrastructure particularly in rural areas. However, while the Welsh Government 

lacks direct levers to act, devolving the energy transmission system is unlikely to 

be an easy or desirable solution to this barrier (Regan, 2023). Co-ordination 

between governments; and between governments, the ESO and the regulator, 

will be important to ensure that infrastructure can be developed and delivered in 

appropriate haste. 

12. A barrier to development is the current planning system. While the Infrastructure 

(Wales) Bill aims to speed up the process of consenting for major projects, we 

believe there are further lessons which can be learned from other countries to 

streamline and simplify the planning process (Notman and Price, 2023). For 

instance, the Netherlands has simplified its offshore planning process so that 

sites are pre-selected, grid connections and projects are authorised before they 

are put out to tender for construction. This has increased the build rate of energy 

infrastructure while reducing risk for investors. However, changes made at a 

Wales level would need to be carefully monitored to ensure that they do not 

reduce opportunities for public engagement and that they do not inadvertently 

create new administrative hurdles across other levels of the planning system in 

Wales and the UK. 

13. The retrofit of residential buildings is one area where the green economy can 

deliver ancillary benefits as well as reducing emissions, with opportunities to 

lower household bills, reduce fuel poverty, improve health outcomes and create a 

significant number of jobs. However, slow uptake of heat pumps and energy 

efficiency measures to date means that these will need to be deployed at an 

unprecedented scale (Notman et al., forthcoming-b). Our review of international 

retrofit schemes suggests that innovation in policy delivery appears to be 

Tudalen y pecyn 104

mailto:info@wcpp.org.uk
http://www.wcpp.org.uk/


June 2018 

 
info@wcpp.org.uk www.wcpp.org.uk 

+44 (0)29 2087 5345 Cardiff University, Sbarc/Spark, Maindy Road, Cardiff, CF24 4HQ 

@WCfPP Prifysgol Caerdydd, Sbarc/Spark, Heol Maendy, Caerdydd, 

CF24 4HQ 

 

March 2024 

outpacing evaluation evidence. Therefore, there is limited insights into the 

advantages and disadvantages of different policy approaches. This is a concern 

in the face of the huge scale of change that is required and means that to meet 

net zero targets, policymakers may have to make decisions on retrofit policies 

with limited evidence on what works (Coles-Riley et al., forthcoming).  

What actions should the Welsh Government take to support development of 

Wales-based supply chains in green economy sectors? 

14. The ability to develop Wales-based supply chains will differ by sector and by the 

nature of the skills and capacity needed. In some sectors, developing supply 

chains will be a matter of reskilling and upskilling existing workers, for example,  

in heat pump installation (Notman et al., 2023). In some sectors, however, 

bringing the supply chain to Wales will require more extensive intervention. This 

will be the case where domestic capacity does not currently exist or where new 

skills or jobs are required. Interventions in the skills system as well as incentives 

for businesses to establish themselves in Wales will be needed. In other sectors 

it may not be economically efficient to develop Wales-based supply chains as the 

scale of investment, capacity and skills needed may be prohibitive and the end 

result not competitive without extensive and ongoing public support. In such 

cases, UK or even international collaboration may be beneficial.  

15. Of concern is the future of existing supply chains and whether they will be able to 

adapt to changes in their industry. For instance, the automotive industry currently 

has a large supply chain within Wales (Johnson et al., 2020). This includes small- 

and larger-scale manufacturers. However, with changes to car production 

resulting from the shift to electric vehicles, there is a risk that actors within the 

current supply chain may not have the skills or ability to retool production.  

16. This is particularly relevant for roles such as car mechanics as electric vehicle 

engines operate differently from petrol engines and require different skills 

(including the use of computer-based diagnostics). If barriers to entry are raised, 

for instance through requiring new qualifications, this could limit a prominent 

source of employment for young men from working-class backgrounds (Silva et 

al., 2021). It would also have the potential to disrupt or replace an existing small 

business ecosystem within Wales. Therefore any changes should be 

accompanied by direct support for reskilling, as well as indirect support to 

encourage participation including providing affordable, accessible and flexible 

transport and childcare and ensuring that other factors such as access to social 

security benefits continue (Skeels, 2022).  

17. Another risk is if demand for younger skilled workers comes at the expense of a 

large proportion of the existing workforce, which may increase unsustainable 

short-term and precarious jobs. For example, skilled workers may be recruited at 

scale for the installation of infrastructure, but then become unemployed when it is 

Tudalen y pecyn 105

mailto:info@wcpp.org.uk
http://www.wcpp.org.uk/


June 2018 

 
info@wcpp.org.uk www.wcpp.org.uk 

+44 (0)29 2087 5345 Cardiff University, Sbarc/Spark, Maindy Road, Cardiff, CF24 4HQ 

@WCfPP Prifysgol Caerdydd, Sbarc/Spark, Heol Maendy, Caerdydd, 

CF24 4HQ 

 

March 2024 

installed, with only a small proportion of that workforce being required for 

maintenance (Notman et al., 2023). 

18. Procurement legislation, ensuring there is sufficient capacity to effectively 

implement the legislation and supporting local businesses to tender are all 

critically important aspects of developing and maintaining local supply chains. 

Our work has highlighted capacity challenges within the procurement profession; 

and the importance of stewardship to maximise the public value of procurement 

(Tizard and Mathias, 2019; Johnson, 2019).  

What skills challenges exist in relation to transitioning to a green economy? 

What actions should be taken, and by whom, to ensure the skills are there to 

meet the growing demands of a green economy?  

19. While many job roles will change as a result of the green transition, in Wales this 

will mostly include changing skill sets within existing jobs rather than the creation 

of new job types (Silva et al. 2022; Valero et al., 2021). Skills challenges are 

therefore likely to include reskilling and retraining workers rather than adapting to 

wholly new job types, and changes to the education and skills system for new 

entrants to the labour market. 

20. Skills needs are difficult to outline in detail in sectors where the technology is not 

yet proven at scale, or the future mix of different technologies is still unknown. 

There are some skills which can be transferred from high-carbon industries to 

green industries with support and adaptation, for example from the petrochemical 

industry to marine energy, however there will need to be coordination and 

dialogue to determine whether government, industry, or workers themselves will 

be responsible for financing this reskilling (Notman et al., 2023).  

21. The education and skills system also currently lacks the capacity to reskill 

existing workers. Providers only deliver courses if there is likely to be sufficient 

uptake, meaning that provision is limited if there is a lack of demand. Funding 

also occurs in short-term cycles based on predicted uptake, meaning that 

providers are reluctant to invest in areas with emerging technologies which may 

be critical for net zero but are financially unviable. This creates a vicious cycle 

where courses are not provided due to a perceived lack of demand, but the lack 

of demand is somewhat rooted in the belief that there are no courses available. 

(Notman et al., 2023). 

22. Responding to training needs requires long-term support, local access to courses 

and support at work. Partnerships between industry and education providers are 

developing in some sectors and regions, but better coordination could help 

industry and education providers plan their next steps (Notman et al., 2023). The 

establishment of the CTER offers opportunities to develop this, in particular by  

building on current practices such as regional skills partnerships (Pember et al., 

2021).  

Tudalen y pecyn 106

mailto:info@wcpp.org.uk
http://www.wcpp.org.uk/


June 2018 

 
info@wcpp.org.uk www.wcpp.org.uk 

+44 (0)29 2087 5345 Cardiff University, Sbarc/Spark, Maindy Road, Cardiff, CF24 4HQ 

@WCfPP Prifysgol Caerdydd, Sbarc/Spark, Heol Maendy, Caerdydd, 

CF24 4HQ 

 

March 2024 

23. Several of our interviewees highlighted the need for increased coordination within 

Welsh Government, as the transition is often thought about in policy silos, with 

skills needs and sector-related issues discussed, planned for, and funded 

separately. Sector experts stated that they often had held similar conversations 

around net zero and skills with several teams of officials in the Welsh 

Government (for example, between skills, climate change, and the relevant policy 

team) and that joined-up messaging from across the Welsh Government would 

likely provide a valuable signal to industry about Welsh Government’s plans for 

the transition and how they can help develop skills in their own workforce.  

24. Funding was also highlighted as a particular challenge, as European Union funds 

have previously been wholly or partially responsible for several key skills 

initiatives and training programmes, with worries about where new external 

funding may emerge from (Notman et al., 2023).  

What will workers and employers need for a just transition to a Net Zero 

economy to be achieved, and what actions should the Welsh Government take 

to deliver the elements of this that lie within its devolved powers? 

25. WCPP research has consistently called for the application of the Well-being of 

Future Generations Act to facilitate a just transition in Wales (Lesch, 2020; Price, 

2020; Price et al., 2021; Morgan et al., 2022). The Well-being of Future 

Generations Act offers a framework through which the requirements of a just 

transition can be embedded in the governance of Wales, in particular by focusing 

on long-term impacts; sustainable development; and the well-being of citizens in 

Wales. 

26. However, developing a governance framework for a just transition does not by 

itself guarantee that a just transition will take place. Concrete action will be 

required to promote a just transition in response to specific events as well as as 

part of the policymaking process. In practical terms, this will mean planning for 

shifts in employment over the whole economy and working with partners to 

support those at risk of redundancy or industry closure. 

27. Without any intervention, the market will dictate the changes within industry and 

in education and skills provision that are needed to reach net zero. This would be 

an undesirable outcome: not only is it unlikely to lead to a just transition, but it 

may result in certain industries leaving Wales and to the offshoring of future 

emissions. Intervention to support a just transition should therefore focus on 

supporting industry to decarbonise within Wales and on directly and indirectly 

supporting workers where they need to retrain or learn new skills, see paragraph 

15. 

28. It will be important to assess the current workforce’s skills and future skills needs 

prior to the closure of carbon-intensive industries to ensure that retraining and 

reskilling opportunities are relevant and meet industry demand. The Welsh 

Tudalen y pecyn 107

mailto:info@wcpp.org.uk
http://www.wcpp.org.uk/


June 2018 

 
info@wcpp.org.uk www.wcpp.org.uk 

+44 (0)29 2087 5345 Cardiff University, Sbarc/Spark, Maindy Road, Cardiff, CF24 4HQ 

@WCfPP Prifysgol Caerdydd, Sbarc/Spark, Heol Maendy, Caerdydd, 

CF24 4HQ 

 

March 2024 

Government and Business Wales already have resources in place that may be 

used to assess current skills, future skill needs, and provide effective training or 

upskilling opportunities. There are also opportunities for the Social Partnership 

Council, formed through the Social Partnership and Public Procurement Act, to 

incorporate lessons from previous transitions and facilitate collaboration between 

the Welsh Government, employers and trades unions to develop, fund and 

implement effective policies for the transition (Silva et al., 2022).  

29. The economic geography of the transition will be a key consideration in this area. 

Green industries will not necessarily be situated in similar locations to the 

industries they replace: for instance, renewable energy generation is not likely to 

occupy the same footprint as existing gas-fired power stations. 

30. This offers opportunities for rural Wales where new industry and ancillary 

industries and services could develop through the transition. This could be 

encouraged, particularly through social value procurement and/or encouraging 

community-owned energy generating assets. 

31. For existing workers and areas currently dependent on industry however, there is 

a less optimistic picture. With the closure of blast furnaces in Port Talbot, for 

instance, programmes retraining and reskilling workers are necessary but not 

sufficient to mitigate the employment and well-being effects this will have. To 

allow workers to move to skilled, well-paying jobs with as much esteem as steel 

working, businesses could be incentivised to site themselves close to closing or 

transitioning industries. This could include preferential access to workers as part 

of the transition arrangement alongside other incentives. 

32. This will require bold, strategic thinking and a commitment to connect businesses 

sited in traditional industrial sites with ‘new’ industries, in partnership with bodies 

like Ofgem, the ESO and UK government. 

How will the Welsh Government need to work in partnership with others to 

realise the potential of the green economy and deliver a just transition? To 

what extent is the partnership working that is needed being undertaken? 

33. Previous industrial transitions demonstrate the importance of collaborative 

approaches: evidence shows that they can help to develop a shared vision for 

planning and policy approaches (Silva et al., 2022). The ability to form 

partnerships between national governments, local governments, citizens, and the 

business sector is key to ensuring that policies are successful, and will likely also 

be the case in Wales (Morgan et al., 2023).  

34. At an institutional level, the Welsh Government will need to work with private 

sector employers; local authorities; trades unions; public services and the UK 

government, particularly as the UK government’s ability to mobilise resources is 

orders of magnitude higher than the Welsh Government’s. 

Tudalen y pecyn 108

mailto:info@wcpp.org.uk
http://www.wcpp.org.uk/


June 2018 

 
info@wcpp.org.uk www.wcpp.org.uk 

+44 (0)29 2087 5345 Cardiff University, Sbarc/Spark, Maindy Road, Cardiff, CF24 4HQ 

@WCfPP Prifysgol Caerdydd, Sbarc/Spark, Heol Maendy, Caerdydd, 

CF24 4HQ 

 

March 2024 

35. However, no just transition measures will feel just if they are not accompanied by 

meaningful dialogue and input from affected workers. The politics of recognition 

are important alongside efforts to distribute opportunity more fairly, particularly 

where job losses are possible (Price, 2020). The need for active, collaborative 

dialogue has been highlighted by recent political controversies in Wales. 

36. Policy responses in other transitions were more effective in supporting workers 

and communities where local and regional impacts were considered. Identifying 

areas at high risk from the transition and anticipating associated skills and 

investment needs will involve effective data collection and engagement with 

public and private actors at a local and regional level. Policy responses need to 

be inclusive and involve coordination across industry, unions, skills institutions 

and local communities, providing tailored and localised support (Silva et al., 

2022).  

37. Regional Skills Partnerships are established to address skills shortages by 

influencing skills provision in their regions based on employer-led insight and 

labour market intelligence. However, their remit is limited to full-time further 

education provision and apprenticeships, restricting their ability to develop and 

deliver green skills training across the education system (Silva et al., 2022).  

The Welsh Government says it will face considerable budgetary constraints in 

the short term. How should it prioritise investment to support development of 

the green economy over the shorter and longer-term? What innovative 

approaches to financing could be considered to maximise potential 

investment and benefits? 

38. There is substantial opportunity for the Welsh Government to work with local 

authorities to support innovative forms of finance for local decarbonisation 

projects. There are examples of public-private partnership at a significant scale in 

a number of UK local authorities, including Bristol City Leap, Greater London 

Authority’s Retrofit Accelerator - Workplaces (formerly RE:FIT), Greater 

Manchester Combined Authority’s (GMCA) partnership with the Green Finance 

Institute, and Glasgow’s Greenprint for Investment (Notman et al., forthcoming-a). 

While some options proposed by the Green Finance Institute, such as GMCA’s 

examination of Property Linked Finance (PLF), have not yet been implemented in 

a UK context, others, like Local Climate Bonds (LCBs), have been trialled by a 

number of local authorities, with Blaenau Gwent committing in October 2021 to 

exploring a Green Bond launch (Notman et al. forthcoming-a; Green Finance 

Institute 2024). In most cases, however, public funding remains crucial to 

leveraging private investment at local authority level (see EY and GMCA 2023). 

39. Analysis of local authority finance during the pandemic (National Audit Office, 

2021) suggested that short term, ring-fenced funding opportunities provided by 

the government do not support good long-term financial planning. Evidence 

Tudalen y pecyn 109

mailto:info@wcpp.org.uk
http://www.wcpp.org.uk/


June 2018 

 
info@wcpp.org.uk www.wcpp.org.uk 

+44 (0)29 2087 5345 Cardiff University, Sbarc/Spark, Maindy Road, Cardiff, CF24 4HQ 

@WCfPP Prifysgol Caerdydd, Sbarc/Spark, Heol Maendy, Caerdydd, 

CF24 4HQ 

 

March 2024 

produced by WCPP (Jones et al, 2015; Downe and Taylor-Collins, 2019) points 

to a need for a more strategic approach focusing on three broad categories of 

response to fiscal pressure: increasing efficiency; targeted investment; 

and renegotiating the boundaries of Welsh Government and council 

responsibilities. 

40. There are several examples of exploration into the boundaries of council 

responsibility.  Stoke City Council is developing its goal to become an energy 

sufficient 'Great Working City', pushing the boundaries of energy regulation and 

localism by moving towards local ownership of energy supply and reimagining the 

role of the council as a strategic broker of resources (Nesta and the Local 

Government Association, 2018). In Wales, Dr Edward Thomas Jones, of Bangor 

University has actively been exploring the growth of community enterprises and 

local ownership as examples of communities’ own bottom-up solutions in the face 

of local challenges (Thomas Jones, 2023). Menter Felinheli is an example of a 

community-led social enterprise is attempting to take ownership of the 260-year-

old harbour in the village of Felinheli (Gwynedd).  Menter Felinheli have 

developed a funding strategy and will shortly launch a community share offer as 

part of a blended finance package to purchase the harbour.  

41. Social Finance has created a framework for financing Nature Based Solutions 

(NBS) to societal, economic and environmental challenges (Wilk et al., 2020). 

Their governance, business and finance framework explores how to build a 

funding structure which takes advantage of the diverse benefits of NBS and the 

possible stakeholders involved. It contains aggregated examples and 

recommendations from across the globe to highlight innovations in paying for 

NBS. 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 110

mailto:info@wcpp.org.uk
http://www.wcpp.org.uk/


June 2018 

 
info@wcpp.org.uk www.wcpp.org.uk 

+44 (0)29 2087 5345 Cardiff University, Sbarc/Spark, Maindy Road, Cardiff, CF24 4HQ 

@WCfPP Prifysgol Caerdydd, Sbarc/Spark, Heol Maendy, Caerdydd, 

CF24 4HQ 

 

March 2024 

References 

Coles-Riley, J., Notman, G., and Tilley, H. (forthcoming) Decarbonising Wales’ buildings: 

An international review of retrofit schemes. Wales Centre for Public Policy.  

Downe, J., and Taylor-Collins, E. (2019). At the tipping point? Welsh local government 

and austerity. Wales Centre for Public Policy. Retrieved 

from:  https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/190418-Austerity-Report-

FINAL-1.pdf 

EY and GMCA (2023) Greater Manchester Combined Authority Net Zero 2038 - 

Strategic Outline Business case: Executive Summary. Retrieved from: 

https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=28072  

Green Finance Institute (2024) Local Climate Bonds. Retrieved from: 

https://www.greenfinanceinstitute.com/programmes/ceeb/lcbs/  

Henley, A. (2021) Evidence submission to UK Productivity Commission 

Johnson, C., Price, J., and Tilley, H. (2020). The implications of the European transition 

for key Welsh economic sectors. Wales Centre for Public Policy. Retrieved from : 

https://www.wcpp.org.uk/publication/the-implications-of-the-european-transition-for-

key-welsh-economic-sectors/  

Johnson, C. (2019). 5 things we learned about procurement. Wales Centre for Public 

Policy. Retrieved from: https://www.wcpp.org.uk/commentary/5-things-we-learned-about-

procurement/  

Jones, I., Martin, S., and Whittington, L. (2015). Coping with the Cuts: Lessons from 

English Councils’ Responses to Budget Reductions. Wales Centre for Public Policy. 

Retrieved from: https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Coping-with-the-

Cuts-Final-Report-PDF.pdf  

Lesch, M. (2020). Governing the Just Transition. Wals Centre for Public Policy. Retrieved 

from: https://www.wcpp.org.uk/commentary/governing-the-just-transition/ 

Morgan, C., Carter, I., Tilley, H., Haines-Doran, T., and Taylor-Collins, E. (2022). 

International approaches to a just transition. Wales Centre for Public Policy. Retrieved 

from: https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/International-approaches-

to-a-just-transition.pdf  

National Audit Office (2021). Local government finance in the pandemic. Retrieved from:  

https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Local-government-finance-in-the-

pandemic.pdf  

Nesta and the Local Government Association (2018) Creative councils. Retrieved from:   

https://www.nesta.org.uk/project/creative-councils/  

Newman J, Seaford C, Glover B, Collinson S, Hoole C, Kitsos A, Gutierrez Posada D, Tilley 

H, Mukherjee A, Gilbert N, and Driffield N. (2021). Delivering Levelling Up: Don’t turn on 

the taps without fixing the pipes. LIPSIT Report. Retrieved from: https://lipsit.ac.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2021/09/FINAL-Levelling-up-Report-digital.pdf   

Tudalen y pecyn 111

mailto:info@wcpp.org.uk
http://www.wcpp.org.uk/
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/190418-Austerity-Report-FINAL-1.pdf
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/190418-Austerity-Report-FINAL-1.pdf
https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=28072
https://www.greenfinanceinstitute.com/programmes/ceeb/lcbs/
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/publication/the-implications-of-the-european-transition-for-key-welsh-economic-sectors/
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/publication/the-implications-of-the-european-transition-for-key-welsh-economic-sectors/
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Coping-with-the-Cuts-Final-Report-PDF.pdf
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Coping-with-the-Cuts-Final-Report-PDF.pdf
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/commentary/governing-the-just-transition/
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/International-approaches-to-a-just-transition.pdf
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/International-approaches-to-a-just-transition.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Local-government-finance-in-the-pandemic.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Local-government-finance-in-the-pandemic.pdf
https://lipsit.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/FINAL-Levelling-up-Report-digital.pdf
https://lipsit.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/FINAL-Levelling-up-Report-digital.pdf


June 2018 

 
info@wcpp.org.uk www.wcpp.org.uk 

+44 (0)29 2087 5345 Cardiff University, Sbarc/Spark, Maindy Road, Cardiff, CF24 4HQ 

@WCfPP Prifysgol Caerdydd, Sbarc/Spark, Heol Maendy, Caerdydd, 

CF24 4HQ 

 

March 2024 

Notman, G., and Price, J. (2023). Accelerating deployment of energy infrastructure. 

Wales Centre for Public Policy. Retrieved from: https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2023/12/Accelerating-deployment.pdf  

Notman, G., Coles-Riley, J., and Tilley, H. (forthcoming-b). Decarbonising buildings in 

Wales. Wales Centre for Public Policy.  

Notman, G., Coles-Riley, J., Tilley, H., and Price, J. (2023). Net zero skills: Insights and 

evidence from emissions sectors in Wales. Wales Centre for Public Policy. Retrieved 

from: https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Net-zero-skills-Insights-

and-evidence-from-emissions-sectors-in-Wales.pdf  

Notman, G., Johnson, E., Price, J., and Tilley, H. (forthcoming-a). A local authority-led 

transition to net zero: Lessons for Wales from other countries and regions. Wales 

Centre for Public Policy. 

Price, J. (2020). Delivering a Just Transition: What would it look like? Wales Centre for 

Public Policy. Retrieved from: https://www.wcpp.org.uk/commentary/delivering-a-just-

transition-what-would-it-look-like// 

Price, J. (2023). Challenges and opportunities of decarbonising Wales’ energy system 

by 2035. Wales Centre for Public Policy. Retrieved from: https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2023/12/WCPPPO1.pdf  

Regan, A. (2023). Pathways for meeting Wales’ energy needs into the future. Wales 

Centre for Public Policy. Retrieved from: https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2023/12/Pathways-for-Wales-future-energy.pdf  

Scottish Parliament Net Zero Energy and Transport Committee (2023). The role of local 

government and its cross-sectoral partners in financing and delivering a net-zero 

Scotland. Retrieved from: 

https://digitalpublications.parliament.scot/Committees/Report/NZET/2023/1/23/2c9752f

f-eb3f-4273-8f78-e726676a3b6e#Introduction   

Silva, L., Price, J., and Tilley, H. (2022). Developing skills for a just transition. Wales 

Centre for Public Policy. Retrieved from: https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2022/08/Developing-skills-for-a-just-transition.pdf  

Skeels, A. (2022). ‘Levelling Up’: continuing the conversation. Wales Centre for Public 

Policy. Retrieved from: https://www.wcpp.org.uk/commentary/levelling-up-continuing-

the-conversation/  

Thomas Jones, E., (2023) An economic model that supports communities. Bangor 

University. Retrieved from: https://www.bangor.ac.uk/news/2023-09-15-an-economic-

model-that-supports-communities  

Tilley, H. (2022). ‘Levelling Up’: a critical conversation for Wales. Wales Centre for 

Public Policy. Retrieved from: https://www.wcpp.org.uk/commentary/levelling-up-a-

critical-conversation-for-wales/  

Tilley, H. Newman, J., Connell, A., Hoole, C., and Mukherjee, A. (2023). A place-based 

system? Regional policy levers and the UK’s productivity challenge. Regional 

Tudalen y pecyn 112

mailto:info@wcpp.org.uk
http://www.wcpp.org.uk/
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/Accelerating-deployment.pdf
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/Accelerating-deployment.pdf
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Net-zero-skills-Insights-and-evidence-from-emissions-sectors-in-Wales.pdf
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Net-zero-skills-Insights-and-evidence-from-emissions-sectors-in-Wales.pdf
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/commentary/delivering-a-just-transition-what-would-it-look-like/
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/commentary/delivering-a-just-transition-what-would-it-look-like/
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/WCPPPO1.pdf
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/WCPPPO1.pdf
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/Pathways-for-Wales-future-energy.pdf
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/Pathways-for-Wales-future-energy.pdf
https://digitalpublications.parliament.scot/Committees/Report/NZET/2023/1/23/2c9752ff-eb3f-4273-8f78-e726676a3b6e#Introduction
https://digitalpublications.parliament.scot/Committees/Report/NZET/2023/1/23/2c9752ff-eb3f-4273-8f78-e726676a3b6e#Introduction
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/Developing-skills-for-a-just-transition.pdf
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/Developing-skills-for-a-just-transition.pdf
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/commentary/levelling-up-continuing-the-conversation/
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/commentary/levelling-up-continuing-the-conversation/
https://www.bangor.ac.uk/news/2023-09-15-an-economic-model-that-supports-communities
https://www.bangor.ac.uk/news/2023-09-15-an-economic-model-that-supports-communities
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/commentary/levelling-up-a-critical-conversation-for-wales/
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/commentary/levelling-up-a-critical-conversation-for-wales/


June 2018 

 
info@wcpp.org.uk www.wcpp.org.uk 

+44 (0)29 2087 5345 Cardiff University, Sbarc/Spark, Maindy Road, Cardiff, CF24 4HQ 

@WCfPP Prifysgol Caerdydd, Sbarc/Spark, Heol Maendy, Caerdydd, 

CF24 4HQ 

 

March 2024 

Studies, 57:10, 2102-2114. Retrieved from: 

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00343404.2022.2152436  

Tizard, J. and Mathias, M. (2019). Beyond Contracting: Public Service Stewardship to 

Maximise Public Value. Wales Centre for Public Policy. Retrieved 

from: https://www.wcpp.org.uk/publication/beyond-contracting-public-service-

stewardship-to-maximise-public-value/ 

Valero, A., Li, J., Muller, S., Riom, C., Nguyen-Tien, V. and Draco, M. (2021) Are ‘green’ 

jobs good jobs? How lessons from the experience to-date can inform labour market 

transitions of the future. Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the 

Environment. Retrieved from: https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/wp-

content/uploads/2021/10/Are-Green-Jobs-Good-Jobs_Full-report-2.pdf.  

Welsh Government (2023). Electric Vehicle Purchase. Retrieved from: 

https://www.sell2wales.gov.wales/search/show/search_view.aspx?ID=AUG448276  

Wilk, B., Lappin, S., Seiler, B., Sora, F., Davies, A., Olesko, E., Perrin, M., Utkarsh, S., 

Weiss, O. (2020). D5.3 Governance, business, and finance models. CLEVER Cities. 

Retrieved from: 

https://clevercities.eu/fileadmin/user_upload/D5.3_Governance_business_and_financ

e_models.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 113

mailto:info@wcpp.org.uk
http://www.wcpp.org.uk/
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00343404.2022.2152436
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/publication/beyond-contracting-public-service-stewardship-to-maximise-public-value/
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/publication/beyond-contracting-public-service-stewardship-to-maximise-public-value/
https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/Are-Green-Jobs-Good-Jobs_Full-report-2.pdf
https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/Are-Green-Jobs-Good-Jobs_Full-report-2.pdf
https://www.sell2wales.gov.wales/search/show/search_view.aspx?ID=AUG448276
https://clevercities.eu/fileadmin/user_upload/D5.3_Governance_business_and_finance_models.pdf
https://clevercities.eu/fileadmin/user_upload/D5.3_Governance_business_and_finance_models.pdf


The Economy, Trade, and Rural Affairs 

Committee: Green Economy Inquiry – Onward 

written evidence 
 

Within its devolved powers, what should be the Welsh Government’s key priorities to 

maximise the potential economic opportunities from green economy sectors? To 

what extent does its current approach reflect these? 

Sustainable Farming Scheme 

As over 90% of Wales’ land is used for agriculture, farming has a key role to play in meeting decarbonisation 

and biodiversity targets.1 Most farmland in Wales is used for rearing sheep and cattle, which are some of the 

least profitable types of farming. Adopting the principle of public money for public goods through the 

Sustainable Farming Scheme (SFS) could support a green transition in farming, while providing opportunities 

for new income streams. 

SFS has come under considerable scrutiny, but the Welsh Government should hold its nerve and introduce the 

scheme in a form close to that currently envisaged. Onward’s Greener Pastures report recommended various 

changes to England’s Environmental Land Management schemes (ELMs), designed to increase participation and 

raise ambition.2  

Wales’ SFS is ambitious, but some elements of the scheme may not be straightforward enough to encourage 

participation. In particular, the Welsh Government should consider giving farmers longer to meet the 10% tree 

cover rule or broadening the rule’s scope to include other features that sequester carbon and enhance 

biodiversity. It also needs to accelerate the introduction of ‘optional actions’ and ‘collaborative actions’ to 

incentivise the most environmentally ambitious farmers. 

Business rates 

Heavy industry plays a significant role in the Welsh economy. Fixed costs place a considerable burden on 

energy intensive businesses, which typically operate on low margins. To relieve some of this pressure, Onward’s 

Green Jobs, Red Wall report recommended offering long-term business rates exemptions of up to 100% in 

return for investment in green technologies.3 As the Welsh Government has responsibility for business rates, it 

could implement this policy to support industrial decarbonisation.  

 

What are the key barriers to Wales making the most of opportunities in the green 

economy, and what steps should be taken to overcome these? 

Planning capacity and capabilities 

Onward’s research for an upcoming report has identified five elements that need to be in place for the green 

transition – public investment, regulation, skills, planning, and international relations. Some of these elements 

are more relevant for the UK Government but the Welsh Government has some control over others.  

One issue that is regularly cited as holding back the green economy is lengthy planning processes, in part 

caused by a lack of capacity and capabilities in local authorities’ planning departments. For example, a survey 

by the UK Government found that only 5% of local authorities feel their ecological resource is adequate to 

Tudalen y pecyn 114



scrutinise applications that might affect biodiversity and less than 10% have sufficient expertise to deliver 

biodiversity net gain rules.4 The Welsh Government should ensure that planning departments have the 

capacity and capabilities needed to accelerate planning processes without compromising environmental 

protections.  

 

What actions should the Welsh Government take to support development of Wales-

based supply chains in green economy sectors? 

Local content requirements 

Onward’s Greening the Giants and Green Jobs, Red Wall reports both recommended introducing domestic 

content requirements for the supply chain of key net zero technologies, such as battery technology and steel in 

the automotive industry.5 6 The Welsh Government could explore local content requirements or work with the 

UK Government to expand domestic content requirements to industries that would support the Welsh 

economy, such as floating offshore wind. 

 

What skills challenges exist in relation to transitioning to a green economy? What 

actions should be taken, and by whom, to ensure the skills are there to meet the 

growing demands of a green economy? 

Skills passport 

Skills shortages are frequently highlighted as a problem for the green transition in almost every sector. 

Onward’s Green Jobs, Red Wall report noted that one problem is workers having retrain or gain new 

qualifications to do similar jobs in adjacent sectors, such as oil and gas and offshore wind. The paper 

recommended the UK Government work with industry to develop a “skills passport” for the energy sector.7  

The Scottish Government has funded a programme to develop an energy skills passport specifically for offshore 

industries. The Welsh Government should work with the UK Government to accelerate development of a 

nationwide “skills passport” for the entire energy sector and heavy industry. 

Reskilling and upskilling support 

There are several skills gaps in sectors that are key to supporting the broader green economy. Less than one in 

five boiler engineers are currently installing heat pumps and nearly half do not know where to receive 

training.8 Only 16% of car mechanics are qualified to work on hybrids and electric vehicles (EVs).9 Part of the 

responsibility for reskilling and upskilling these workers lies with their employers. But the benefits of their new 

skills would be felt beyond those companies as it will enable greater uptake of heat pumps and EVs, which 

would reduce emissions, enhance energy security and boost the green economy. 

The Welsh Government provides some financial support for this reskilling and upskilling, for example through 

the Flexible Skills Programme. But it should consider whether this is sufficient to encourage companies to 

invest in their workforce’s net zero related training. 

 

What will workers and employers need for a just transition to a Net Zero economy to 

be achieved, and what actions should the Welsh Government take to deliver the 

elements of this that lie within its devolved powers? 

Advice for farmers to restore nature and transition to regenerative practices 

Tudalen y pecyn 115



Onward’s Greener Pastures report highlighted that farmland used for grazing sheep and cattle is well suited to 

entering environmental land management schemes that entail significant nature restoration, such as the 

‘higher tier countryside stewardship’ in England or ‘optional actions’ in Wales. Farmers will need advice to 

enter these schemes and adapt their farming practices. 

Greener Pastures recommended the UK Government accredit third party organisations to advise more farmers 

on higher tier stewardship agreements, a policy the Welsh Government could adopt to help farmers undertake 

optional actions.10 The Welsh Government currently plans to introduce optional actions between 2025 and 

2029. It should accelerate the introduction of these actions to support environmentally ambitious farmers. 

Accrediting third party organisations to advise farmers on these actions could help to bring them in more 

quickly. 

Supporting workers to move into adjacent industries 

Onward’s Green Jobs, Red Wall report recommended that the skills passport should include the ability to add 

additional “bolt-on” training for more specific skills requirements to prevent them having to repeat training 

they have already completed.11 This would support workers that need to move into adjacent industries to 

begin new jobs more quickly.  

 

How will the Welsh Government need to work in partnership with others to realise 

the potential of the green economy and deliver a just transition? To what extent is 

the partnership working that is needed being undertaken? 

Private markets for nature based carbon and biodiversity credits 

Onward’s analysis of Climate Change Committee data in the Greener Pastures report showed that UK 

companies could have demand for over £3 billion of carbon credits by 2030. Farmers that undertake nature 

restoration projects or transition to regenerative practices could capitalise on this demand as well as emerging 

demand for biodiversity credits.  

But they will need to have confidence that they will profit from creating credits to make the necessary 

investment. And when they do make the investment, they will need to demonstrate that they have produced 

high quality credits to attract buyers. Greener Pastures recommended the UK Government develop mandatory 

standards for private biodiversity and soil carbon credits. And it called for the creation of a “nature credits 

bank” to purchase nature based carbon and biodiversity credits that cannot receive a pre-determined base 

price in the private market.12  

The Welsh Government should work with the UK Government to progress the development of policies that are 

needed to establish a robust, well-functioning private nature based credits market. It should also engage with 

large corporates and private investors to drive demand for Welsh nature based carbon and biodiversity credits. 

 

The Welsh Government says it will face considerable budgetary constraints in the 

short term. How should it prioritise investment to support development of the green 

economy over the shorter and longer-term? What innovative approaches to financing 

could be considered to maximise potential investment and benefits? 

Rural affairs budget 

The rural affairs budget has been cut by 13% for 2024/25 and stands at just over £400m.13 14 Analysis 

conducted for the RSPB, the National Trust and The Wildlife Trusts suggests that Wales needs around £500m 

per year to meets its environmental land management priorities.15 And Welsh Government modelling shows 

farm business incomes could drop by £81 million following the introduction of SFS.16 The Government should 

Tudalen y pecyn 116



not reduce the rural affairs budget any further and should aim to increase it when possible to deliver a green 

transition in the agriculture industry. 

UK Infrastructure Bank 

The UK Infrastructure Bank (UKIB) has £22 billion of financial capacity to provide debt, equity and guarantees 

to businesses and local government to deliver a green industrial revolution. The bank’s capacity includes £4 

billion specifically for local authorities.17 Given budgetary constraints, local government could look to UKIB for 

capital to support environmental projects. And the Welsh Government should engage with the bank to provide 

financing to companies where it does not have the capacity to offer direct support. 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 117



 

 
1 Welsh Government, ‘Survey of agriculture and horticulture: June 2023’, 23 November 2023 
2 Onward, ‘Greener Pastures’, 16 December 2023 
3 Onward, ‘Green Jobs, Red Wall’, 16 December 2022 
4 The British Property Federation, ‘BPF calls for a better resourced planning system to ensure the success of new biodiversity net gain 
regulations’, 7 February 2024 
5 Onward, ‘Greening the Giants’, 26 March 2021 
6 Onward, ‘Green Jobs, Red Wall’, 16 December 2022 
7 Ibid 
8 Installer Online, ‘Only 18% of installers install heat pumps and 44% don’t know where to go for training’, 17 March 2023 
9 Auto Repair Focus, ‘EV qualified technicians – numbers grow but skills gap predicted by 2029’, 16 January 2023 
10 Onward, ‘Greener Pastures’, 16 December 2023 
11 Onward, ‘Green Jobs, Red Wall’, 16 December 2022 
12 Onward, ‘Greener Pastures’, 16 December 2023 
13 The Farmers’ Union of Wales, ‘Cuts to rural affairs budget major blow to industry, FUW says’, 19 December 2023 
14 Welsh Government, ‘Wales Budget 2024–2025’, December 2023 
15 Rayment Consulting Services, ‘An assessment of the financial resources needed for environmental land 
management in the UK’, 6 June 2023 
16 Welsh Government, ‘Potential economic effects of the Sustainable Farming Scheme’, December 2023 
17 UK Infrastructure Bank, ‘Strategic Plan’, June 2022 

Tudalen y pecyn 118


	Agenda
	2.1 Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol y DU a’r UE
	1. Materion sy'n bwysig i'r Senedd a Chymru
	‘Ailadeiladu ymddiriedaeth’: cyfnod mwy cadarnhaol yn y berthynas
	Symudedd yn creu cyfleoedd gwerthfawr
	Cynnydd ar hawliau dinasyddion i’w groesawu ond mae mwy i'w wneud
	Ystafell ar gyfer cydweithrediad adeiladol ar bysgodfeydd
	Methiant i gydweithredu ar fasnachu allyriadau, ynni a hinsawdd yn creu risgiau
	Mae diogelu data a thwf digidol yn feysydd allweddol o ddiddordeb cyffredin

	2. Ymgysylltiad y Senedd â gwaith y Cynulliad Partneriaeth Seneddol
	Ymgysylltu â rhanddeiliaid
	Ymgysylltu â dirprwyaethau'r DU a'r UE a phwyllgorau eraill y Senedd


	2.2 Ymgysylltiad a deialog rhyngweinidogol
	2.3 Banc Datblygu Cymru
	3 Ymchwiliad i Fanc Datblygu Cymru: Panel 3 - Safbwynt byd-eang
	4 Ymchwiliad: Yr Economi Werdd - Panel 1 - Busnes ac ynni adnewyddadwy
	Papur tystiolaeth - RenewableUK Cymru [Saesneg yn unig]
	Papur tystiolaeth- Sero Net Diwydiant [Saesneg yn unig]
	Briff Ymchwil

	5 Ymchwiliad: Yr Economi Werdd - Panel 2 - Modelau perchnogaeth amgen
	Papur tysiolaeth - Ynni Cymunedol Cymru [Saesneg un ynig]

	7 Ymchwiliad: Yr Economi Werdd - Panel 3 - Arbenigwyr annibynnol
	Papur tystiolaeth - Canolfan Polisi Choeddus Cymru [Saesneg yn unig]
	Papur tystiolaeth - Onward [Saesneg yn unig]




